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Corporate Information (Continued)

INCIN=Vo3C)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
NAIE R (@)
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Financial Summary

BT F5 1 2

(In RMB'000 unless otherwise stated) (=B #5750 AN EBETF L HR)

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=1+—-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E--fF —E--F ZZE-FFE —E-hE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT AREBTT ARETR ARET:
Continuing operations BEGEER
Revenue WA 297,530 465,037 608,074 492,589 694,023
Cost of sales HEKA (277,352) (411,164) (486,390) (485,241) (685,401)
Gross profit £ 20,178 53,873 121,684 7,348 8,622
Other revenue EA 24,775 15,826 15,783 17,626 19,855
Other net gain/(loss) Hiplas/ (BB F 2,168 1,980 8,435 (39,416) (4,692)
Selling and distribution expenses BERDHEEAY (14,650) (35,533) (46,860) 21,721) (25,556)
Administrative expenses THRY (31,836) (48,028) (62,155) (57,269) (47,614)
(Provision of)/Reversal of expected £ BVEEMEHREE
credit loss on financial assets Bz (BE),/mE (1,174) 5,752 2,529 (3933) (12,774)
Finance costs BEKAK (1,359) (1,013) (1,245) (162) 401
Share of profits and losses of AEEE AR 28Kk
associates BB - - - (287) (1,815)
(Loss)/Profit before tax from RERBELEEB
continuing operations BB (BR), R F (1,898) (7,143) 38,171 (97,814) (63,573)
Income tax (expenses)/credit M (%) /E% (466) 359 10,153 4,119 (168)
(Loss)/Profit for the year from REBELCLERN
continuing operations FN(BE) /5 (2,364) (6,784) 48,324 (93,695) (63,741)
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Financial Summary (continued)
B E ()

(In RMB'000 unless otherwise stated) (=& 750 AN R FLir)

For the year ended 31 December
H#E+-A=+-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—ECZ —F-- T CZEZTE ZT-NE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETxR

Discontinued operation BIERE
Loss for the year from a RELEBNFRER

discontinued operation - - 612) (587) (730)
Gain on de-registered of B A AR

a subsidiary, net Wz 388 - - - 1,183 -
(Loss)/Profit for the year from RELFEBHFR

a discontinued operation (B8B),/ &7 - - 612) 59 (730)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(EE) /5 (2,364) (6,784) 47,712 (93,099) (64,471)

RMB RMB RVB RMB RVB
AR® AR N4 AEH ARH

(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable A2 B & BRIER A A

to ordinary equity holders of B2k (E8)/
the Company (note) A (P EE)
Basic: B
(Loss)/Profit for the year (B8 5H (0.03) (0.08) 057 (1.28) (1.04)
(Loss)/Prafit from continuing SRS X
operations (B8),/ &H (0.03) (0.08) 057 (1.28) (1.04)
Diluted: B
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(EE)/GH (0.03) (0.08) 057 (1.28) (1.04)
(Loss)/Profit from continuing FRICEEBH
operations (B8) /&7 (0.03) (0.08) 0.57 (1.28) (1.04)

Note: On 2 January 2014, the Company has effected a share consolidation of every — ffit: R=T—H&— A8 ARRETROHEH BET

ten shares into one consolidated share. Earnings per share for the comparative WA 1) & Bf B —RR A OHIR 1) - LB M BB R ER
periods have been adjusted on a basis of ten shares into one consolidated share TRRRMDE A —REHIRNO M ELEREITIHERE -
accordingly.
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Financial Summary (continued)
B E ()

(In RMB'000 unless otherwise stated) (=& 750 AN R FLIR)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

AE AERES

As at 31 December

BR+ZRA=+—-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E-—F —E-—-% <—Z-F —ZE-NE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Total Assets BEBE 1,054,741 1,016,591 989,375 878,878 981,445
Total Liabilities BEBRE 182,369 136,214 113,983 66,276 95,812
Total Non-Controlling Interest R RAE - 884 5,520 - -
Total Equity ngwE 872,372 879,493 869,872 812,602 885,633
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE Rl DT

BUSINESS REVIEW E e
Segment review 73 EB Bl 8

The Group's core business segments are comprised of AEEZLEBAUTOH AEMHERE
manufacturing and sales of wooden products and manufacturing FA M AEREEBARRE R RASKEE
and sales of renewable energy products. The performance of our S E8Z&RIBUT :

business segments are as follows:

Segment revenue % to total segment

derived from external revenue derived from  Reportable segment

customers Change  external customers (loss)/profit

HFERIBERZ MERSB

FRIBERZABBA £ HEBRAESLL (E8) /&%
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
B —Z-—F B -—Z--F ZBIZE _—T__F
RMB'000 RMB'000 % % % RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARMTE BOH Bk BEAlk ARWTR AR%TL

Manufacturing and sales of HEREERER

wooden products 295,084 460,742 -36.0 99.2 99.1 (6,120) (11,548)
Manufacturing and sales of HEREEBLER

renewable energy products Em 2,446 4,295 -43.1 0.8 09 1,066 970

297,530 465,037 -36.0 100.0 100.0 (5,054) (10,578)
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l\/lanagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BB HEAD 8

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), the

RBEE-FT-_=F+t-_A=t—HALFE(X

distribution of revenue from our global markets are as follows: FE]) BMKREZETS WA BT
% to total
Revenue Change Revenue
A g8 HRBRAES L
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EZ-= T —EC= T
RMB’'000 RMB'000 % % %
ARBTRT AR®TT Bt B ERass
The PRC H 49,625 85,487 -42% 17% 18%
Australasia BAFFEE 213,193 328,919 -35% 72% 71%
North America JEEM 3,962 12,756 -69% 1% 3%
Europe BOM 20,908 34,037 -39% 7% 7%
Asia Pacific exclusive of the (PRC) A& (TEERE) 9,842 3,838 156% 3% 1%
297,530 465,037 -36% 100% 100%

Manufacturing and sales of wooden products remains to be the
Group's largest business segment, contributing 99.2% of the Group's
revenue. The revenue derived from such business decreased by
36.0%.

Manufacturing and sales of wooden products is the principal
segment of the Group. Market demand from the Australasian markets
for the Group's products has shown significant decline in 2023. As a
result, revenue from manufacturing and sales of wooden products
during the Year decrease 36.0% to RMB295.1 million (2022: RMB460.7
million), and recorded a reportable segment loss of RMB11.5 million
(2022: a reportable segment loss of RMB11.5 million).

The Group's renewable energy business focuses on the recycling of
leftover sawdust from the production of our wooden products into
biomass pellet fuel. Revenue from the renewable energy business
decreased 43.1% to RMB2.4 million during the Year, with a profit of
approximately RMB1.1 million (2022: revenue of RMB4.3 million and
profit of RMB1.0 million).

i?&%ﬁ%ﬂi%uufﬁmﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘i"* :
1B A= B #999.2% © 1t 48 3 7 P A5 W AR A
36.0% °

EERBERYURAAERAZEEER B
FATHSHAESEEROMERTKE-T
ZEZFBETE AL RNAFE LERHEE
RERBUA TR 2 36.0%E AREE295 15 &7 (=
T AR¥A0TAET) RFBAI2®RH
HEEARENBET(ZE__F 12
DEEEBARENNSEET) -

AEBEHERERERZ FREIBMARREER
BREANER ARGEEBLCAEMEREN
BB -RAFE BEEREBHSFSRATE
A31%EANRE248 87T MERMNRARE
TMEBL(ZE_F: WARBARKIIEE
TRENABAREI0BEET) -
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

ERENREIMT 0

FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% BB
Revenue by product category REmMBERE » A
Revenue
KA
2023 2022
ZE-=HF =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARET T
Wooden products R G 295,084 460,242
Renewable energy products BA g RE @ 2,446 4,295
Total Wt 297,530 465,037

Revenue from wooden products remained the largest income stream
of the Group during the Year. Revenue from such category decreased
by 36.0% to RMB295.1 million (2022: RMB460.7 million), representing
99.2% of total sales for the Year (2022: 99.1%), mainly attributable to
the decrease in sales to the Australasian markets.

During the Year, the Group's revenue from the renewable energy
business decreased by 43.1% to approximately RMB2.4 million (2022:
RMB4.3 million), due to the decrease in demand from the domestic
renewable energy market.

Gross profit and gross margin

Gross profit dropped to approximately RMB20.2 million (2022:
RMB53.9 million) as a result of the decrease of gross profit margin
in the Year to 6.8% (2022: 11.6%), mainly because of the unfavorable
pricing condition of construction materials.

Other income

During the Year, other income was RMB24.8 million (2022: RMB15.8
million) mainly represented by bank interest income and government
subsidies received during the Year.

Other gains, net

The Group recorded other gains, net of RMB2.2 million for the Year
(2022: RMB2.0 million), which was mainly derived from net foreign
exchange gain and fair value loss on derivative financial instruments
during the Year.

REE RERPUADAERNEERHZ AR
TR Z D BRI AT £36.0% 2= A R 29516 8
T(ZEZ=F: ARBA607TEEL) hAF
A ETEN92% (— T - —44:991%) =
ZHMNEAF A EE TR

AEE RNEFHKABLERBREFRHOWRABR
Bl A A BEIR T 5 R 7 SR A 1 T BR43.1%ZE 4
ARB248B T (ZFE -5  ARK4I3FE
JT)°

EM RER =
REEEFMNETKRE68% (ZT ==
11.6%) HEHEFMNTHEHARE2028E T
(ZZTZ=F: ARMB395E L) T ZHRNE
SR REE BRI FDAPTE

H A

KEE EMBRARARK2USEET(ZF
ToFARBIS8AET) TERAFEK
HRZ 8R1T M B A Ko BRI 46 B

H 4 Wz ) F 58

AEE AEESFSEMKSFEARE22EH
BT(ZE-_—_F: ARE2088L) " TEXK
BEAFEELFRELTESBRTAATES
e
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l\/lanagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BB HEAD 8

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses incurred during the Year were
RMB14.7 million (2022: RMB35.5 million) which was a result of the
decrease in turnover and number of shipments during the Year.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses incurred during the Year amounted to
RMB31.8 million (2022: RMB48.0 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the decrease in research and development costs during the
Year.

Finance costs

Our finance costs was approximately RMB1.4 million (2022: RMB1.0
million), which mainly represented by interest on bank borrowings
during the Year.

Income tax expense/(credit)

The Group recorded an income tax expense of RMBO0.5 million (2022:
income tax credit of RMBO0.3 million).

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group principally meets its working capital and other liquidity
requirements through operating cash flows and proceeds from
bank borrowings. The Group anticipates that it can sufficiently meet
funding needs for working capital and capital expenditure. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had current assets of RMB515.1 million
(31 December 2022: RMB562.6 million), of which cash and cash
equivalents were RMB32.5 million (31 December 2022: RMB113.8
million).

The Group's cash is generally deposited with banks and denominated
mostly in RMB, USD and AUD. As at 31 December 2023, total banking
facilities utilised amounted to RMB86.9 million (31 December 2022:
RMB54.0 million) and these were mainly denominated in RMB. All of
the Group's banking facilities were subject to the fulfilment of certain
covenants, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with
financial institutions.

As at 31 December 2023, the current ratio and quick ratio were
3.1:1 and 2.4:1 respectively (31 December 2022: 4.3:1 and 3.6:1
respectively).

HEMDHEAY
RAFEEENHERDHER I ABARK147
BELT(ZE_F: AR3IHETL) 2
AR AFEHEEE RE BB TR

TR

AEEHPNTERRAXRARENIEE T (=
E-_FARBBOAET) - THEIEAN
REEE R BRI SOR D B

REE AN
RPOBERADARKIIEBT (ZF ==
FARMIOEET) EEARFERITER
8-

FrStF< (E%)

AEENMEHAX/SARKISAESE T (=
—CE HENERRARBOIBET)

mENE & M ERHIR
REBEIEFBEBRSRREBITHEROMAE
HEMTEEESREMESE R -AEEE
ATEAASRREBEESREARSZESR
Fe-RZTEZ=ZF+-_F=+—RH AEEHH
MBEEARBSSIAEL(ZE-_F+=
H +—H: ARB5626BET) HPRe R
BeEBYWAARERAET(ZE -4
+TZA=+—B:AR®1138E8T) °

AEENREE - RBREFERBEITE RIS UA
RE ZETRATHE-R-_TE-_=F+=_A
=T—H AEECHARTREBEESGHR
AR IAET (ZE—F+-_A=+—H:
ARBUMOBE TN FEAARBFE-AE
ERBERITHEAENHLASREEMIIBESR
PR RZETRE-

NZE=F+_A=+—H RBHLERR
LR DR A3NIN24N (ZEZZF+=A
=+—H: 25 /43:1Kk3.6:1) ¢
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEER R E DT (@)

Pledge of assets

As detailed in note 27 to this announcement, the Group pledged its
land use rights, buildings and pledged deposits to secure for certain
banking facilities.

Capital expenditure

During the Year, the Group's total expenditure in respect of property,
plant and equipment and non-current deposit for acquisitions of
property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB4.1 million (2022:
RMB7.2 million).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS

The Group's sales are mainly denominated in AUD, USD and
RMB while our cost of sales and operating expenses are mainly
denominated in RMB. Therefore, the Group's profit margin would be
affected if RMB appreciates against AUD and USD as the Group may
not be able to reflect the appreciation in selling prices to overseas
customers that were determined in AUD and USD. In response to this,
the Group manages fluctuations in the exchange rate of RMB against
AUD and USD by entering into foreign currency forward contracts
mainly denominated in AUD, USD and RMB with banks when sales
contracts were entered with overseas customers.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had foreign currency forward
contracts with their fair values recognised as derivative financial
instruments (assets) of RMB771,000 (2022: RMB42,000) and derivative
financial instruments (liabilities) of RMB22,000 (2022: RMB18,000). The
changes in fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts were
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. All of the
foreign currency forward contracts are to be settled within one year.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, we employed a total of 144 (2022: 149) full-
time employees, mainly in the PRC and Hong Kong which included
management staff, product designers, technicians, salespersons and
workers. The Group has been consistently increasing production
process automation, strengthening the training of staff with an
emphasis on high-technique processing with a mission on the
continuous development and enhancing of competitiveness.
The Group offered highly competitive salary packages, as well as
discretionary bonuses and contribution to social insurance to its
employees.

AERH

MM A7 A EEE R i
AR RFREERFRUREE TROR
B -

BEARFAE

RAFE AEEEBEME  BEMEENERH
T REBKREYE - REREHEAIENHERES
BARBITHEBET(ZZE-_—_F: ARKI2H
g e

B ER
AEBMEETENRT T RAREE
MFERARKERAXTMNERAARBE
HRAREAEELZERBIEPHER K
AR MBI R R TTHTHE R BR DAR IT R 3
TEENEET WMAREE EHEEZ
FE BRI NREBEEBIEPITLHEERLN
BRI B BERITIIZEZRIT - ETTRA
REFENERIESHOATRARELRT
ETH iR

R-E =+ _fA=+—8 KAEEIIEE
HENHATFERTESRTIA (EE)ARE
771,0007C (ZZF = — 4 : AR #¥42,0007T) & 17
EERITAE(BE)ARKE22,000L (=T ==
F: ARWE18,00070) HER - SNERHIE QT
BEHIRGEEERTER - TEIINERE
AERHE—FRNEE -

ABEIR

RZE-_=%F+_A=+—RB AX&EEMNH
EEBLERIUMMELZ(ZE - —F:1498) 28
BT ZPREEEAE ERRITAE Kl
AE HEABRIA-AEE—EHBABREST
FrEEME - ok B T RB Fm B mI -
HREBINBEZRMRESEIRE N A&
EAEERHEARFNNFHAEAS LERE
AR E AR B AN SRBEK -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE R E DT (8

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance of individual employee which will be reviewed
periodically. Apart from the provident fund scheme (operation in
accordance with the provisions of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for Hong Kong employees) or social insurance
(including retirement pension insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, injury insurance and maternity insurance
for the PRC employees), discretionary bonuses are also awarded to
employees and directors according to the assessment of individual
performance. Since the adoption of the share option scheme on
15 June 2012 and up to 31 December 2023, no options have been
granted.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 44 to this annual report, the Group has no
material events after the reporting year.

OUTLOOK

Although the world has emerged from the haze of the epidemic,
the global economy continues to be affected by other uncertainties
such as war, the rise of unilateralism and other factors after the
epidemic, and the global economic situation is not yet clear. The
International Monetary Fund has warned that high inflation coupled
with financial sector turmoil may result in a weak global economic
outlook and that the global economy is entering a dangerous phase.
In the “World Economic Outlook” report released by the International
Monetary Fund, it warned that geopolitical shocks and global supply
disruptions, such as attacks by Yemen's Houthi rebels in the Red Sea,
or the expansion of conflicts in the Middle East, may lead to another
surge in commodity prices. Stubborn inflation will force central banks
to keep interest rates high for a longer period of time. The report also
believes that global trade fragmentation may occur, and predicts that
global trade will grow by only 3.3% in 2024 and 3.6% next year, both
lower than the historical average of 4.9%. The Group will continue
to adopt a prudent approach and will try to expand its business
footprint to stabilize shareholder returns.

RNEBEOFHBECE IR E SR B R RB IR -
WS TE B AT - BR A TE R 5T &l (RIRs HI AT
SETEHGAIMIEX RE AR BT I ERB
(BEFEREMNERAKEEZRE BERKR X
E¥RE IEREBREFRR)IIN REBITE
RIEEAE S L AR B RESERBIBIEA -
BBEEAEN - —FRATHAEE®
NWRE-_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HI1 xEE
ABE A 5% L A ] B AR A o

BERBREE

A RMT AT IR B B N BREFE R A
EEBEEAE L

R

BEZERCKELRBNEE RELHEHLE
REBRANBEIDNEM T ABRNET B8
IEMEZERFE  DIREHBRKR AR
BRESESABES SBRNILERED
BRRSENEHEENSKE 2EHEE
EEA-RBERNER EREEEES M
It REEREIREPES  WEBOAER
FMEHMARTE PINEPRAEREELEE
PHORE NPREREN SBEAUEERAR
BmERBRET BB BRSEESER
THERNERERSMNE - RETR/EBIK
ARBEESHAL YR T - MERIR
B 5B RRB33%  BFRKKI.6%  EERE
SEFHELI% - AKERBEERNEEREELE A
GAERAEEBRE AREBR R -
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ate Governance Report
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. The Board believes that a high standard of corporate
governance will provide a framework for the Company to formulate
its business strategies and policies, and manage and lower the
associated risks through effective internal control procedures. It will
also enhance the transparency of the Company and strengthen the
accountability to its shareholders and creditors.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and certain
recommended best practices. The Company has complied with all
the applicable code provisions in the Code throughout the Year
except for the deviations disclosed under the sections headed “The
Board” and “Accountability and Audit” in this report.

THE BOARD

The Board oversees the management of the business and affairs of
the Company. The Directors are accountable for making decisions
objectively in the best interest of the shareholders as a whole.

The Board is responsible for making decisions on all major aspects of
the Company's affairs, including the approval and monitoring of key
policy matters, overall strategies, business plans and annual budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material transactions,
major capital expenditure, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

The Board may delegate aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management. In particular, the
day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to the chief
executive officer of the Group, Mr. Wu Zheyan, and his management
team.

The Company has throughout the Year met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management expertise.
At all times during the Year, the independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board.

EFEEARERRKRKINEEER-EFEM
B BKFHNEEERBRARBRHER U
i E H ZE TSR A S BUR A B M A AR B i AR
FEEREEMBRRE RSARANERE
WL HRR RERANREE -
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AN (TFAID BTG EE TERRER
BR-MAFE ARE—BETTRRNMEE
BTG ERAHRE [EF2 RIAER
Bz —HRENREERIN

o

EEEAAAEHREEHER -EFA
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EREABRAATFAEAEHIEL RS
EENERERIEREFE BEER £
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The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a
year. The Directors have full access to the information of the Group
and independent professional advice at all times whenever deemed
necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance and
an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than three days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, the Directors are given as
much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.

Details of directors’ attendance at Board meetings, Committee
meetings and 2022 Annual General Meeting held during the year are
set out in the following table:

EXgATHETER USFELHTHR-
EENERSERRVENBR TR 2EES
AEBMEMMBIEEER -

HREZENTEHMERAMNS EFHRERANZE
SUBRRIEZENEREN XREHA TR
CHESERREAEFTE N -REMER
ME EFEBZEBERTEBEERYEAT
HE AN -

TRITEEENAFELFEZTEEH &
EXZEEERN S _FRERBEFAEN

15

Meeting attendance/number of meetings

ERHRRY SHRXY
2022 Risk
Annual Audit Remuneration Nomination Management
General Board Committee Committee = Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors EFan - k= #HERE FHZERE REZRE RREEZRY
BREEAXE EEgeH -} | ] -4 ] -}
Executive Directors RITEE
Ms. Xie Qingmei (Chairlacy) SEELL(LE) n 22 NATER N/A i N/A i N/A i@
Mr. Wu Zheyan (Chief Executive Officer) — REE %4 (7TH#E#) 0/1 22 NATER N/A i N/A i N/A i@
Independent non-executive BIUEBRTES
Directors
Prof. Jin Zhongwei SERUR 0/1 212 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2
Prof. SuWengiang €L 65 0/1 212 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry SEELE 0/1 212 212 212 212 212
Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the Code, the Board meetings #RIEsFHI Z FAIEXFEC5MME EF e e HME
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly FRARZELIUR RAGE—R-AFE &
intervals. The Board only held two regular meetings duringthe Yearto Z=e€EEHMATEHEHZUE T - =FF
approve the interim results of 2023 and annual results of 2022 whilst HIXER T -—F2F XL MESSH M

other matters of the Board were dealt with by written resolutions or
ad hoc Board meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has carried out its duties and responsibilities as set out in
code provision C.1 in the Code, including the development of policies
and practices on corporate governance, monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, reviewing the compliance with the Code, disclosure in
this report and legal and regulatory requirements of the Group.

THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Ms. Xie Qingmei, an executive Director of the Company, is the
chairlady of the Board.

Mr. Wu Zheyan is the chief executive officer of the Company.

Further details are disclosed in the section headed “The Board” of
this report.

DIRECTORS AND COMPOSITION OF THE
BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two executive
Directors and three non-executive Directors. Further details of the
composition of the Board are disclosed in the section headed “The
Board"” of this report.

ate Governance Report (continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience in
the fields of accounting, finance and business. Their skills, expertise
and number in the Board ensure that strong independent views and
judgement are brought in the Board's deliberations and that such
views and judgement carry weight in the Board's decision-making
process. Their presence and participation also enable the Board
to maintain high standards of compliance in financial and other
mandatory reporting requirements, and provide adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
and the Company.

Each independent non-executive Director gives the Company an
annual confirmation of his independence. The Company considers
such Directors to be independent under the guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Each Director, upon reasonable request, is given access to
independent professional advice in circumstances he may deem
appropriate and necessary for the discharge of his duties to the
Company, at the expense of the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND ROTATION
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from
15 June 2023, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. Each
of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors have been appointed for a term of three years commencing
from 15 June 2023. None of the Directors has entered into a service
contract with any member of the Group (excluding contracts expiring
or determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

Pursuant to the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third
of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy for the Nomination
Committee to consider and make recommendations to Shareholders
for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors
to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

reputation for integrity;,

accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), educational background,
professional experience, skills and length of service,

qualifications which include professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing
Rules,

Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need
for an additional Director or a member of senior management, the
following procedure will be followed:

)

The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential
candidates based on the criteria as set out in the selection
criteria, possibly with assistance from external agencies and/or
advisors,

The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary of
the Company will then provide the Board with the biographical
details and details of the relationship between the candidate
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills
and experience, other positions which involve significant time
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing
Rules, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and other
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to
the Board;

The Nomination Committee would then make recommendation
to the Board on the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and
conditions of the appointment;

The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board, being
particularly mindful of gender balance;

In the case of the appointment of an Independent
Non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess
the independence of the Director in accordance with the
factors set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from
time to time; and

The Board will then deliberate and decide on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
committee.
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According to the Articles and in the opinion of the Board, Mr. Wu
Zheyan, Ms. Xie Qingmei and Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry shall retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of the above retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
same meeting.

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed and
put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee (as defined
below) as set out below under the section headed “Nomination
Committee” of this report.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Remuneration for executive Directors and senior management
is determined in accordance with performance, professional
experiences and the prevailing market practices. The remuneration
of non-executive Directors is subject to regular assessment by the
Remuneration Committee (as defined below).

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of
his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company should be responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of the Directors.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the relevant code
provision. The Company had received from each of the Directors the
record of training the Directors received.

ate Governance Report (continued)
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. After making
specific enquiry to all the Directors, the Company confirms that all
the Directors have complied with the standards as stipulated in the
Model Code throughout the Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up four Board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee
and the risk management committee (collectively the “Board
Committees”), for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Prof. Jin Zhongwei and
Prof. Su Wengiang. Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee shall assist
the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and overseeing
responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems and internal and external audit
functions. The Audit Committee is further authorised by the Board to
investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and is tasked
with recommending to the Board appropriate actions emanating from
such investigations. The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to
personnel, records, internal and external auditors, risk assessment
and assurance and senior management, as may be appropriate in
the discharge of its functions.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities

by:

making recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of the external auditor and approval of the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor,

monitoring the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standard, and discussing with the external auditor
the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations;

implementing the Company’s policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services;

reviewing, and monitoring the integrity of, the financial
statements of the Company and the Company’s interim report
to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced
assessment of the Company’s financial position;

reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems to ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have effective systems;

reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditor's management letter, material
queries raised by the external auditor to the management, if
any, in respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or
systems of control and the management’s response to such
queries; and

reporting to the Board on the matters set out in the Code on
the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to obtain external

legal

or other independent professional advice and to secure the

attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it
considers necessary in the performance of its functions. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources by the Company
to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee’s specific terms
of reference are available on request to any shareholder of the
Company and are posted on the Stock Exchange's website and the
Company’s website, www.merrygardenholdings.com.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee together with management has
reviewed the Code, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the Group's internal control and financial
reporting matters, including a review of the annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2023, with recommendation to the Board for
approval. The Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board
that CWK CPA Limited (“CWK") be appointed as the external auditors
of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises all independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Prof. Jin
Zhongwei and Prof. Su Wengiang. Prof. Jin Zzhongwei is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors” and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(c)  to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

(d) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

(e) to review and approve management’s remuneration proposals
by reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;
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(f)  to review and approve compensation payable to the executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(g to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to

dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

(h)  to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee’s specific terms of reference are
available on request to any shareholder of the Company and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website,
www.merrygardenholdings.com.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure of the executive Directors and
senior management of the Company, and offered advice on the
same to the Board. The Remuneration Committee also resolved to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Prof. Jin Zhongwei
and Prof. Su Wengiang. Prof. Jin Zzhongwei is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;,

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
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to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

P
=

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Group.

Where vacancy on the Board exists, the Nomination Committee
will carry out a selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates
for directorship.

The Nomination Committee’'s specific terms of reference are
available on request to any shareholder of the Company and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company'’s website,
www.merrygardenholdings.com.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board, conducted performance evaluations to
assess whether the non-executive Directors have spent enough
time in fulfilling their duties, assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and had been keeping under
review the leadership needs of the organisation, both executive and
non-executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
organisation to compete effectively in the marketplace.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and to enhance the quality of
performance of the Company. The Policy aims at achieving diversity
on the Board.

Measurable Objectives and Selection

In designing the Board's composition, a number of perspectives
which include race, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, industry experience, technical and professional
experience, knowledge, skills, length of service, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates will be taken
into consideration. The Company will also take into account factors
relating to its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that
the candidates will bring to the Board. Candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Board currently consists of one female member. The Board will
take opportunity to increase the proportion of female members
over time when selecting and making recommendation on suitable
candidates for Board appointments. The Board would ensure that
appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to
stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender
parity. The Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of
Directors who have direct experience in the Group's core markets,
with different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group's strategy.

Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
board diversity policy and report to the Board annually.
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Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises all independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Prof. Jin
Zhongwei and Prof. Su Wengiang. Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry is the
chairman of the Risk Management Committee.

The major duties of the Risk Management Committee are as follows:

(@ to review the Group risk, capital and liquidity management
framework, the Group's risk appetite, its risk policies and
standards, and supporting risk limits, including the parameters
used and the methodology adopted, and the processes used
for identifying and assessing risks;

(b)  to review material risk exposures of the Group, including
market, credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic
and regulatory capital risks against the Group's risk
measurement methodologies and management actions to
monitor and control such exposures;

(c) to review the standard for accurate and timely monitoring of
large exposures and certain risk types of critical importance,
and the Group's capability to identify and manage new risk
types;

(d)  toreceive reports and recommendations from management on
the Group's attitude to and tolerance of risk, including financial
and non-financial risks;

(e) to oversee the Group's processes and policies for determining
risk tolerance and review management’'s measurement and
effectiveness of, and compliance with, approved Group risk
tolerance levels and policies and standards, and the resultant
action in respect of policy breaches;

(f)  to review the risks inherent in strategic transactions and
business plans and provide the Board with input on the risk/
reward trade offs implicit within those plans; and

(g) to review the Group's capability to identify and manage new
risk types, and the Group's stress tests to ensure they are
rigorous and the Group responds adequately to the results.
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The Risk Management Committee’s specific terms of reference are
available on request to any shareholder of the Company and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company'’s website,
www.merrygardenholdings.com.

During the Year, the Risk Management Committee has evaluated and
assessed the effectiveness and adequacy of the Terms of Reference
of the Risk Management Committee.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company to ensure that these
financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

The statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is
set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 52 to 59.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Pursuant to Code provision C.5.1, the Management should provide all
members of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the issuer’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has deviated from D.1.2 in that while the management
has updated most of the Directors on a monthly basis about the
business operation and performance of the Company, not all the
Directors received such updates as the monthly updates were
conducted on-site at the Group’s factory in China. Members of the
Board who did not attend such on-site meetings did not receive the
updates. However, the management would provide detailed updates
to all the Directors on a half-yearly and yearly basis. In the event
there are any significant updates to be provided, the management
will update all the Directors as early as practicable for discussion
and resolution. The Company also has in place a system for every
Director to make enquiries with the senior management about the
business operation of the Group and to give suggestions or feedback
in the event such Director is not able attend the monthly on-site
updates session.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives a letter from CWK the independent auditor,
confirming their independence and objectivity and holds meetings
with representatives of CWK to consider the scope of its audit,
approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of
CWK.

The remuneration paid or payable to CWK of the Company for audit
services for the Year was approximately HKD840,000.

The remuneration paid or payable to Ascenda Cachet of the
Company for non-audit services for the Year was nil.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged Modern Assurance And Business
Services Limited, an external service provider, and Mr. Wong Wai
Lun has been appointed as the Company’s company secretary.
Its primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Wu Zheyan, an
executive director of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There are no significant changes in the Articles and the memorandum
of association of the Company during the Year.

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, members holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Board complied with the Code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the Code. The
Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or l0ss.

The management of the Company has established a set of
comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of
operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper accounting
records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial information to
achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the likelihood of the
occurrence of fraud and errors.

The Board has overseen the Company's risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review
of the effectiveness of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted
annually and the systems are considered to be effective and
adequate. The Company also has an internal audit function to carry
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems, and has procedures in place to keep
information confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of
interest. Stringent internal structures have been designed to prevent
the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of interest.
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The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing
in the securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Other employees of the Group who
are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company
are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any inside information and
any information which may potentially constitute inside information
is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for
the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information
and other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules will be announced on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.

SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD AND
PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders or investors can contact the Company in the following
ways to make enquiry or to provide suggestions:

Tel: (852) 3904 1867
Postal Address: Unit B, 14/F, Eton Building
288 Des Voeux Road Central
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting, the shareholders
should submit a written notice of those proposals with detailed
contact information to the Company's principal place of business
stated above.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business and its outlook are set out in
the sections of Chairlady’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis. Certain financial key performance indicators are
provided in the section of Financial Summary. The Group has no
material event affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the Year.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ") for the disclosure of information and corporate
governance. The Group also complies with the requirements of
Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating to occupational
safety for the interest of employees of the Group.

The Group respects the environment and is committed to minimising
its carbon footprint as a socially responsible enterprise. Carbon
footprint is defined as the total amount of direct and indirect
emissions of Green House Gases (GHGS) expressed in terms
of the equivalent amount of Carbon Dioxide of (CO,) emission.
Non-hazardous wastes produced from the Group mainly consist
of used paper such as office papers and marketing materials. To
minimise the impact on carbon footprint and the environment, the
Group implements the following practices to use paper efficiently:

Duplex printing is set as the default mode for most network
printers,

o Employees are reminded to practice photocopying wisely;
o Employees are encouraged to use both sides of paper;
o Paper is separated from other waste for easier recycling; and

o Boxes and trays are placed beside photocopiers as containers
to collect single-sided paper for reuse purpose.
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Electricity consumption is identified as having an adverse impact on
the environment and natural resources. A typical commercial building
uses more energy for lighting than for other electric equipment. The
Group is determined to reduce energy consumption and implement
conservation practices to reduce the effect of carbon footprint.
Air conditioning and light zone arrangements reduce unnecessary
electricity usage; employees enforce good practices in maintenance
of lighting and electric equipment to ensure they are kept in good
and proper condition to maximise efficiency.

Key Risk Factors

The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group.

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is also subject to government
policy, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely monitors
changes in government policies, regulations and markets as well as
conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes. As far as
the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied with
all related laws and regulations in all material aspects which may
have significant impact on the Group during the Year.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in parts
of business to improve performance and efficiency of the Group.
While gaining the benefits from external service providers, the
management realises that such operational dependency may pose
a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service
including reputation damage, business disruption and monetary
losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages only
reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their performance.
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit packages career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents occurred
during the Year.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
The departments work closely to make sure the tendering and
procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just manner.
The Group's requirements and standards are also well-communicated
to suppliers before the commencement of a project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, including usage of market research
to understand customer trends and needs and regular analyse on
customer feedback. The Group also conducts comprehensive tests
and checks to ensure that only quality products and services are
offered to the customers.

RESULTS & DIVIDENDS

Results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 60 to 61. Other movements in reserves are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 64.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2022: Nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
to allow Shareholders to share the Company’'s profits and for the
Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend
will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter
alia, the Group’s financial results, the general financial condition of
the Group, the Group's current and future operations, the level of
the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant
financial covenants, liquidity position and capital requirement of the
Group, surplus received from the Company’s subsidiaries and any
other factors that the Board deem appropriate. The Company’s ability
to pay dividends is also subject to the requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and all relevant applicable laws, rules and regulations in
the Cayman Islands, Hong Kong and the Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company. The Company does not have any pre-
determined distribution ratio. The Group’s dividend distribution record
in the past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the
amount of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company
in the future.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 5 to 7 of
this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 32(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's aggregate amounts
of reserves available for distribution were approximately
RMB225,380,000 (2022: RMB213,842,000), of which nil (2022: Nil) has
been proposed as a final dividend for the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company was
incorporated.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment are set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 56.8% (2022: 49.6%) of the Group's total revenue
and the Group's largest customer for the year accounted for
approximately 16.5% (2022: 15.0%) of the Group's total revenue.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
79.2% (2022: 68.6%) of the Group's total purchases, while the largest
supplier for the year accounted for approximately 28.6% (2022:
23.9%) of the Group's total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates or any of the shareholders of the
Company who owns more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share
capital has any interest in any of the Group's five largest customers
or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
Throughout the Year, the composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Xie Qingmei
Mr. Wu Zheyan

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Prof. Jin Zhongwei
Prof. Su Wengiang
Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry

A description of the Directors is set out in the section headed “Board
of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

Indemnity of Directors

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he is taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein or
which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, will be as follows:

EERSRITHRABRKD HER
BREFHEZRKE

R-ZE-=F+_-A=+—H EEHALT
BRTBABEARAREMAEEZE (EER
FEHREIEGEAIEXVED) B, - AR D RE
HHREAREESRPEKRIIBEXVIBETRES
DHBENGRABARBIMNESRAR (B
ERBEFEF RS GRAOABIEXHEEHEE
FERBEENERIRAR) KB BEBLERHE
{51 235216 /B 52 ARG FT it & R M sk iR & £ 70
BB SRI0F B EMBITAEZHTIERS
B2 SF B B A& AN A B R I 32 P 0 AR A RO
BT

Interest in shares IRt =
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares interest (%)
SRR EH
EENs S BaEH"E Ein 8 E B2 LE(%)
Mr. Wu Zheyan Interest in controlled corporation/ 89,929,482 9.76%
Long position (Note)
REBELE RESEENER TR (M)
Beneficial owner/Long position 17,024,596 1.85%
E=EBAN TR
Ms. Xie Qingmei Beneficial owner/Long position 16,750,684 1.82%
AEFER L EnBEAN TR

Note:  Mr. Wu Zheyan is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Green Seas
Capital Limited, his wholly-owned company.

Hat -

REEFREHER RN E T EWE R A EGreen Seas
Capital Limited# 4 #I % 15 P #E B #e s o
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had interests or in short positions in the shares,
underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation defined under the SFO
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which he is taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein or which will be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or the Controlling Shareholders (as defined below) of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective close associates has any
competing interests which need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than a director
or chief executive of the Company), who had interests or short
positions in the shares or the underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, were as follows:

Interest in shares

FERRRAQ ARG K AABERS
B R RIX R

RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8 TaHAL(IE3*k
EEUARASMITHAL) RAR R RG kA8
AR TPEBRIBEZLFRPAEKRAEXVBE2R
FEIN MK AETHRENRRIAR  HIREF
% I B &0 55336 16 78 70 A 72 16 P il & e 1 Y
HEmSARR

Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding

Name Capacity/Nature of interest shares interest (%)
SRR EH
£ HE L £33 BEin 8 E B2 L(%)
Green Seas Capital Limited Beneficial owner/Long position (Note 1) 89,929,482 9.76%
EnEBEAN TR (Ha1)
Hong Kong Cheng Kun Beneficial owner/Long position (Note 2) 84,720,000 9.19%
Holdings Limited
EREKBIERARA EnBAN TR (Mit2)
Ms. Wong Shun Yi Interest in controlled corporation/ 84,720,000 9.19%
Long position (Note 2)
Flash T REGEENER TR (Hid2)
Hong Kong Guoyuan Group Beneficial owner/Long position (Note 3) 140,350,000 15.23%

Capital Holdings Limited
BERTEESRIZERERA BEmEAAN TR (K:23)
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest shares interest (%)
¥ B 8t ¥
28 e B3 #aK™ B8 B B (%)
EEAE TERMEIERARAF  Interest in controlled corporation/ 140,350,000 15.23%
Long position (Note 3)
ZEHEEE R TR (Mi23)
Mr. Wang Xin Interest in controlled corporation/ 140,350,000 15.23%
Long position (Note 3)
D i Rt EEE R TR (Hi23)
Mr. Han Jin Beneficial owner/Long position 97,384,908 10.57%
BekE ExnBAN TR
Ms. Han Hong Beneficial owner/Long position 99,653,908 10.82%
PR+ E=BAN TR
Notes: Mst -
1. The entire issued share capital of Green Seas Capital Limited is legally and 1. Green Seas Capital Limited) & 52 #ITRAHRREZ

beneficially owned by Mr. Wu Zheyan, who is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Green Seas Capital Limited.

The entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Cheng Kun Holdings Limited is
legally and beneficially owned by Ms. Wong Shun Yi, who is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Hong Kong Run De Holdings Limited.

The entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Guoyuan Group Capital Holdings
Limited is legally and beneficially owned by S E) T ¥ X &EERAERA
7). The 98% issued share capital of F/8H13) T ¥R HEZERER AR is legally
and beneficially owned by Mr. Wang Xin, who is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Hong Kong Guoyuan Group Capital Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person,
other than the Directors whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, who had an
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares that

were

required to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and

3 of Part XV of the SFO, or recorded pursuant to Section 336 of Part
XV of the SFO as of 31 December 2023.

SEAEREBERHEAR REEKEHR BN Green Seas
Capital Limited#5 4 &)l R #E B i 25 o

2. BEKBERERAANEMERTRABEEBL

TRZERESHES TEBXIRE/NEEBEER
BRARFANBRMD P HEE LS

3. EEETEESRERERARNZICHTRAR
EERBTERBERARATRELESHER L8
FIE) T HERMFIERB R A RIH98%E TR B2 H 5
EEERERER I EERRANEREATEES
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders on 15 June
2012, the Company has conditionally adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of recognising
and acknowledging the contributions the eligible participants had
or may have made to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion,
grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to the Directors
(including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors), the directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries and employees of the Group and any other persons
(including consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers, in
its absolute discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group. The Directors were authorised to grant options to subscribe
for shares of the Company and to allot, issue and deal with the
ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and to take all such steps as may be
necessary and/or desirable to implement and give effect to the
Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and under any other share option schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue
immediately following completion of the Global Offering (as defined
in the Company’s prospectus dated 25 June 2012), being 100,000,000
shares, excluding any shares that may be issued under the options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (or any other share option schemes of the Company), unless
otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing
Rules from time to time.
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Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting, the number of shares that may be granted to an
eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of
the Company within any 12-month period. Any grant of options to a
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) is required to be approved by our
independent non-executive Directors. Unless otherwise approved by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules, the number
of shares that may be granted to a substantial shareholder or any
independent non-executive Director or their respective associates
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options)
shall not exceed 0.1% of the shares in issue, having an aggregate
value in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised, and the period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, however, no options shall be exercised 10 years after they
have been granted. The subscription price of a share in respect of a
particular option shall be not less than the highest of (a) the official
closing price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange; (b) the average official closing price of the shares on the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal
value of a share. The Share Option Scheme shall take effect from the
date it is adopted and shall remain effective within a period of 10
years from that date.

From the date that the Share Option Scheme became effective and
unconditional and up to the date of this annual report, no share
options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of ordinary shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 92,137,051,
representing 10% of the issued shares of the Company.
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Save as the Share Option Scheme and share award scheme as
disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year was the Company,
its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or and
other body corporate.

Other than the Share Option Scheme and share award scheme as
disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares, or that require the Company
to enter into any agreement that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares, have entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company, pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 December
2020, adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
for the purpose of (i) to align interests of eligible persons, being
the employees, directors, officers, consultants or advisors of any
member of the Group, with those of the Group through ownership
of ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”), dividends and
other distribution paid on Shares and/or increase in value of the
Shares; and (i) to encourage and retain eligible persons to make
contributions to the long-term growth and profits of the Group.

The aggregate number of shares to be made pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme (the "Award Shares”) will not exceed 20% of the
total number of issued shares capital as at the adoption date of the
Share Award Scheme (i.e. 20% of 741,200,400 Shares). The aggregate
number of Award Shares which may be awarded to a selected
person under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 2% of the
total number of issued Shares as at the adoption date of the Share
Award Scheme.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the board
of directors, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing from the adoption date.

The Award Shares, once issued, will rank equal to all other issued
Shares at that time and are not subject to any vesting condition. The
selected persons will therefore have the right to receive dividends,
dispose of and/or exercise the rights of the Award Shares as per his/
her own wishes once the Award Shares were issued.
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On 14 December 2020, a total of 42,550,000 Award Shares were
issued to 12 eligible persons (the “2020 Selected Persons”). The
Award Shares were settled by way of issue and allotment of new
Shares on 30 December 2020 pursuant to the general mandate. The
42,550,000 Award Shares represented approximately 5.74% of the
total number of issued Shares and approximately 5.43% of the total
number of Shares in issue as enlarged by the issue and allotment
of the Award Shares. The 2020 Selected Persons are (i) senior and
middle management of the Group and (i) staffs who served the
Group for a long period of time.

The 42,550,000 Award Shares had neither any vesting period nor
condition, accordingly, the fair value of 42,550,000 Award Shares
was determined by the closing market price of the Company on
30 December 2020, of which, expenses of HK$6,808,000 (equivalent
to RMB5,777,000) were recognised as expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

On 10 May 2021, a total of 36,970,000 Award Shares were issued to
11 eligible persons (the “2021 Selected Persons”). The Award Shares
were settled by way of issue and allotment of new Shares on 10 May
2021 pursuant to the general mandate. The 36,970,000 Award Shares
represented approximately 4.72% of the total number of issued
Shares and approximately 4.50% of the total number of Shares in
issue as enlarged by the issue and allotment of the Award Shares.
The 2021 Selected Persons are (i) senior and middle management of
the Group and (i) staffs who served the Group for a long period of
time.

The 36,970,000 Award Shares had neither any vesting period nor
condition, accordingly, the fair value of 36,970,000 Award Shares
was determined by the closing market price of the Company on
10 May 2021, of which, expenses of HK$4,990,950 (equivalent to
RMB4,108,000) were recognised as expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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On 4 June 2021, a total of 29,648,016 Award Shares were issued
to Mr. Wu Zheyan and Ms. Xie Qingmei (the “Connected Selected
Persons”). The Award Shares were settled by way of issue and
allotment of new Shares on 4 June 2021 pursuant to the general
mandate. The 29,648,016 Award Shares represented approximately
3.61% of the total number of issued Shares and approximately 3.49%
of the total number of Shares in issue as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Award Shares. The Connected Selected Persons are
the Directors of the Company.

The 29,648,016 Award Shares had neither any vesting period nor
condition, accordingly, the fair value of 29,648,016 Award Shares
were determined by the closing market price of the Company on
4 June 2021, of which, expenses of HK$4,328,610 (equivalent to
RMB3,598,000) were recognised as expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2023 and the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Company had 39,072,064 Award Shares available for
awarding to eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme, which
represented approximately 4.59% of the issued Shares as at the
respective dates.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchase, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules requires that at least 25% of an
issuer’s total issued share capital must at all times be held by the
public. Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficiency of public float at all times during the Year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there was no transaction of the Group constituted
non-exempt continuing connected transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules (2022: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in
the normal course of business are provided under note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes
a non-exempt connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed
of Non-Competition”) with Mr. Wu Zheyan and Green Seas Capital
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Controlling Shareholders”) on
15 June 2012 so as to better safeguard the Group from any potential
competition and to formalise the principles for the management
of potential conflicts between them and to enhance our corporate
governance in connection with the listing of the Company's shares
on the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
compliance by the Controlling Shareholders and confirm that
based on confirmations and information provided by each of the
Controlling Shareholders, they were in compliance with the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Year.

The independent non-executive Directors were not required to
review any matter in relation to compliance and enforcement of the
Deed of Non-Competition during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Group were entered into or existed during the Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETWE @

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group supported a wide variety of charitable
activities in Hong Kong and the PRC. Donations of approximately
RMB50,000 (2022: RMB60,000) were made by the Group to various
charitable organisations.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of
their holding of such securities.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as auditor of the Company on 5 November
2020 and Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited has been appointed as the
auditor of the Company on 5 November 2020. Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited resigned as auditor of the Company on 4 November 2022
and CWK CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the
Company on 4 November 2022. There have been no other changes
in auditor during the preceding three years.

CWK CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment of CWK
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Xie Qingmei
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Board of Directors and Senior Management
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Biographies of each member of the board of directors and senior
management team of the Company during the Year and/or as at the
date of this report are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wu Zheyan (Mr. Wu), aged 44, is an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Wu was appointed as
a Director on 17 October 2011. He joined Fujian Zhangping Kimura
Forestry Products Co. Ltd (“Zhangping Kimura”) as a workshop
director since 1997 and obtained knowledge and experiences in the
timber products industry including the production process, research
and development works and the invention process of new timber
products. Mr. Wu became the general manager in May 2000 and the
director and legal representative of Zhangping Kimura in January
2006.

Mr. Wu graduated from Sichuan University in June 2009 with a
Diploma in business administration (Distance education). Mr. Wu is
the visiting professor of Central South University of Forestry and
Technology and Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University.

Xie Qingmei (Ms. Xie), aged 56, was appointed as an executive
Director on 15 June 2012 and as the Chairlady on 23 May 2016.
Ms. Xie is primarily responsible for procurement matters in respect
of the Group. She has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management and procurement. Ms. Xie joined the Group in 1999,
and she has been a deputy general manager of Zhangping Kimura
since 2001 and a director of Zhangping Kimura since 2006. Ms. Xie
was in charge of the sales department of Zhangping Kimura as well
as supervising procurement from June 1999 to December 2000, and
has been running the procurement department of Zhangping Kimura
since 2003.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry ("Mr. Tse"), aged 38, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company since 1
September 2022. Mr. Tse has extensive experience in accounting,
auditing and finance fields. Mr. Tse was the chief financial officer and
company secretary of China Yuanbang Property Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (Stock Code: BCD.SI) from April 2016
to May 2018. Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor's degree of Business
Administration in Accounting and Finance from the University of
Hong Kong in 2007. He is currently the company secretary of Moody
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1400), a company listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, an
independent non-executive director of CROSSTEC Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3893), a company listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Professor Jin zhongwei (Professor Jin), aged 86, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company since 15 June 2012. He is an expert in wood preservation
with over 40 years of experience in wood preservation. Professor
Jin graduated from Nanjing Forestry College in 1961 and majored
in forestry products chemical processing. He studied wood
preservation and modification technologies in the United States as a
government-appointed scholar from 1981 to 1983, and was a visiting
scholar at Oregon State University and Mississippi State University
from 1994 to 1995 respectively.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Professor Su Wengqiang (Professor Su), aged 68, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
since 15 June 2012. Professor Su has more than 30 years of
experience in the research of forestry and timber products. Professor
Su was awarded as Model Member of the Communist Party (&5 ££
EE 8 ) from 2006 to 2007, and was appointed as various positions
in timber industry, e.g. council member of Standing Committee of
the Heilongjiang Province Chemistry Society (3T &I E2&
=€) (in December 2004), committee member of Wood Science
Institute of the Chinese Society of Forestry (R B E & KRl
72 ) (in April 2010), member of Board of Experts of Standardisation
Committee of China Timber and Wood Products Distribution
Association Wood Preservation Committee (F Bl /K 1 £ /K 8L &7
MBREAMTBEEZESEREBEEZESF) (in December
2009), member of Board of Experts Committee of Standardisation
Committee of China Wood Preservation Industry Association ( /Bl 7k
MRETEHSHERZEZE D) (in October 2011), committee member
of the Wood Preservation Research Committee of the Wood Science
Institute of the Chinese Society of Forestry (FRBIMRE @ AR L&
DERMIRENEEZEZES) (in April 2007) and editor of editorial
committee of Biomass Chemical Engineering published by Institute
of Chemical Industry of Forest Products (& Btk 2 Fl E2 A ST B AR E
fEETEME (EWE(EE T ) ) (in December 2010). Professor
Su graduated from Northeast Forestry University in July 1982, major
in professional chemical processing of forestry products (#RZE1L
BT THREE) »and obtained a Doctorate Degree in December
2008.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Wai Lun (E{&f& ), aged 40. He was appointed as the
Company Secretary on 1 July 2021. Mr. Wong Wai Lun obtained a
bachelor degree of commerce from the University of Queensland in
December 2004. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and has over 15 years of experience
in the field of accounting, auditing, corporate finance, financial
management and corporate governance. Mr. Wong Wai Lun is
currently the director of Modern Assurance And Business Services
Limited.
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Independent Auditor's Report
&N B AN

CWK"
D BB

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ENVIRONMENTAL
TECHNOLOGY AND BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 200, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on the matter.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
RARERER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEMNERNIEEZER

Allowance for expected credit loss of the trade receivables

WEEKZAZ ANEREARRE

We identified the recognition of expected credit losses
("ECL") on trade receivables as a key audit matter as they
are quantitatively significant to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is involvement of
management judgement and estimates in evaluating the
ECL allowance of the Group's trade receivables at the end
of the reporting period.
BMEEREIERFENTEANEEEE ([EHREE
BEHEDERBRSENZE WHARZEE SEKIA
HaMBmREEMEEHELER TENE &
SRR MERNE HEWHIBE 2 BREEEERER
W REERE 2 FIE R E e

The carrying amount of the Group's trade receivables was
approximately RMB48,821,000 (net of loss allowance of
approximately RMB13,360,000) as at 31 December 2023.
RZTZ=F+ZA=+—H EBEXENEBEZFEKX
TERREEL A AR E48,821,0007T (FIBREEEEHA
R #13,360,0007T ) °

During the year, the Group has provided allowance on ECL
of trade receivables at approximately RMB1,174,000.

FR BEXEREFEBFENEHREEEEGTRER
HBH A RE1,174,0007T ©

discussing the Group's policies and procedures
on credit periods given to customers with the
management;

HERERASEAEG TEPEEHMNBUER
PEEI

testing the aging of the trade receivables as at 31
December 2023 to the underlying financial records,
on a sample basis;
MEARBEE S _=F+_A=1+—HBHESE
Wk T8 B B B S S SR O BR AR

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer;
SHESNER BRI A B4 - BE DA B

inquiring management for the status of each of
the material trade receivables past due as at 31
December 2023 and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such
as understanding on-going business relationship
with the customers based on trading records,
checking historical settlement records;
MERERARMR _Z_=F+-_A=+—HBHB8IA
MAEANE HREBGRIENRE WA HEEREE
EREMNRE fINREBER SR8 T RERT PO
BEBBEGFR RERLEETH:

assessing the appropriateness of the ECL
calculation methodology, adopted by external valuer
by examining the key data inputs on a sample
basis to assess their accuracy and completeness,
and challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking Information, used to
determine the ECL allowance.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
RARERER

Allowance for expected credit loss of the trade receivables (Continued)

WEEKRAEZAEREAZME (&)

For the purpose of performing the assessment of the ECL,
the Directors of the Company engaged an independent
professional valuer to perform a valuation regarding ECL
on trade receivables. The determination of ECL required
significant management judgement to determine the key
assumptions including (i) expected credit loss rates for
each category of trade receivables; (i) aging and overdue
analysis of the trade receivables; (iii) information regarding
the ability and intent of the customers to pay and
historical data on default rates; and (iv) shared credit risk
characteristics of trade receivables groups and market
conditions. The Group calibrates the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information.

RAEEHEEEENS BEAREFZRBRBEVIEE
HEMBEESNRETEKE S RIBENEREEEIE
ETHE BECEHEERERTEELERNERE HE
NHEFEE2ERE BROSEESEKFIBERERES
B (V8 2 EUGRIBENRE @ B4 e 17 (i)E H
BEESNE N REBENERARELNENBEILE RV
B RWRIBANNEREERRFRE TR H&
EeRIEEELIRAEEENFARRTEEBRLER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

B AZ R RS (8)

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

BN AZ R RS (8)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chan Lok Hei.

CWK CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Lok Hei
Practising Certificate Number: P06654

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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FZEFE BIREAREARTAFHERXFFHEE
HAREE HEGRFENBERT EHAE
EHAEESRETBEBEFEMEKNAER
RESEBHELANARINR EEHTEE
HEBRTERERBBZER-

HEABYZBEMBE 2 BARBEERRESR -

FERBEMHTEBRARLT
e

[ E-F]
HEBEENE - P06654

&5
—E-MFE=ZA=-+/\H

hRAEMERERAE

“EC=FFR

59



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meaBmlEMEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ—_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2023 2022
—E-= —EoF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Wit AR®FR ARETT

Revenue A 5 297,530 465,037

Cost of sales & A (277,352) (411,164)
Gross profit EF 20,178 53,873

Other income Hab g A 6 24,775 15,826

Other gains, net H b s 558 7 2,168 1,980

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAEZ (14,650) (35,533)
Administrative expenses 1T X (31,836) (48,028)
(Provision for)/reversal of expected B SR IENTEREE

credit loss on trade receivables EiEz (B B# 22 (1,174) 5,752

Finance costs B & AR R 8 (1,359) (1,013)
Loss before tax BMAIER 9 (1,898) (7,143)
Income tax (expense)/credit TSR (AX) #H&e 10 (466) 359

Loss for the year FAGER (2,364) (6,784)

Other comprehensive income/ Ht12EKS (BX)

(expense), net of tax (MBME)
Item that may be reclassified AJBETE 4 EFT 77
subsequently to profit or l0ss: BamaEE -

Exchange differences on translation MEIGINETS W T Wk

of financial statements of EARERZ5E
foreign operations 1,843 12,148
Item that will not be reclassified FRETEEFSHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BamaEE -
Equity investment designated at BERBERAFET AR
fair value through other SHEBEBRAEE
comprehensive income:
— Changes in fair value —nFEE (6,817) (897)
- Income tax effect —FENEE 1,023 135
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

e MEMETmINER (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ—_T-_=F+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2023 2022
—E-= —E - —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt i IN:1 5o ARBFT
other comprehensive (expense)/ FAEMR2E (X)) Wa
income for the year, net of tax (HREMRIE) (3,951) 11,386
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FRZH (X)) Wa#E
income for the year (6,315) 4,602
Loss for the year attributable to: BRI T & ES ZFRERE:
Owners of the Company FIN/NECIESY SN (2,364) (6,558)
Non-controlling interest FEIE AR AE 2 - (226)
(2,364) (6,784)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AT & 75 B 2 ER
for the year attributable to : 2E(FAX) Mhasiess:
Owners of the Company PA/NEIES PN (6,315) 4,828
Non-controlling interest e AR - (226)
(6,315) 4,602
RMB RMB
AR%®TT AR
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss per share attributable to FTLAFEERESIF/EA
ordinary equity holders BihzEBERER
of the Company 13
Basic N
— Loss for the year —FREE (0.03) (0.08)
Diluted B
— Loss for the year —FAEIE (0.03) (0.08)
RREYERERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

NSRS

At 31 December 2023 R=—ZE-=F+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k23 AR®TT ARETIT
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR E 14 338,776 368,519
Investment properties "EYE 15 31,222 32,936
Non-current deposits for acquisitions WEEWME  BE REEN
of property, plant and equipment FERD ﬁﬂﬁz% 16 2,665 220
Other financial assets at fair value BAFEFAEMEEYE
through other comprehensive income ZEMEMEE 17 3,378 1,445
Non-current deposit for acquisition WEEMmSREE 2
of other financial assets JERNHRIR & 18 - 2,500
Time deposits TEHITF R 25 160,398 47,000
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 20 3,193 1,378
Total non-current assets IEREEELREE 539,632 453,998
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 21 115,940 89,874
Trade and other receivables TT%&E@FH& 22 113,143 122,955
Amount due from a related company JE U B B ) IE 317 69 69
Other financial assets at fair value BAFE ;Hr)\?iaﬁéz
through profit or loss HEih o aEE 17 15,055 20,122
Derivatives financial instruments PTHEEMTAE 23 771 42
Pledged deposits BEBTR 24 77,051 53,578
Time deposits TEHATF R 25 160,581 161,332
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEEY 25 32,499 113,765
515,109 561,737
Assets classified as held-for-sale NERAFERFEZEE 79 - 856
Total current assets MEEERT 515,109 562,593
Current liabilities mEAR
Trade and other payables ‘é’ 5 & E e FRIE 26 58,043 45,226
Contract liabilities AHBEE 28 7.675 13,586
Derivatives financial instruments 1)?&%%;*;15: 23 22 18
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, FTEIRITIEN B
secured 27 76,900 53,950
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 - 69
Amount due to a director B —REENIA 31 10,572 4,783
Tax payables PSR IE 11,987 11,619
165,199 129,251
Liabilities associated with assets HOBAREREZ
classified as held-for-sale EEMRENAE 79 - 269
Total current liabilities RBBEERTE 165,199 129,520
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
e AR R (8)

At 31 December 2023 R-—ZE_=F+_-_A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ks AE®TR AREFIT
Net current assets mEOEERE 349,910 433,073
Total assets less current HEERTHAR
liabilities 889,542 887,071
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Other payables H b e~ FUR 26 3,900 4,290
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, ETEIRITIE R BEA
secured 27 10,000 -
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE 20 3,270 2,404
Total non-current liabilities R B ERTE 17,170 6,694
NET ASSETS HERE 872,372 880,377
EQUITY #a
Share capital fig A 32(a) 38,462 38,462
Reserves (i) 833,910 841,031
872,372 879,493
Non-controlling interest e e - 884
TOTAL EQUITY HEWE 872,372 880,377

REOE200E 2 A M BRRAEFEN _-F
THE=ZA T NBAETREE N A A
TALTREREE:

These consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 200 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wu Zheyan Xie Qingmei
REE BiEx
Director Director
o BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

N}

—A- N\ 7/

LT

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

E_E-_=F+-_A=+—RIFE

Fair value Non-
Share Share  Exchange Statutory reserve (non- Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve recycling) profits Total interest equity
NTERR
Bx  ROERE ERGR EERE  (FUHE)  REAN B FREREE HaHRE
RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
(note 328) ~ (note 320b)f)) ~ (note 32b))  (note S2)(i)  (note 3B
(W) (Wiztzann) (Wasaom) (Batzann)  (Batsan)
At 1 January 2022 R-E-Z%-fA-H 35,345 693,567 19,002 55,107 (130) 66,981 869,872 5520 875,392
Changes in equity for 2022; ZECCEHGER:
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (6,558) (6,558) (226) (6,784)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  ERE 2T/ (XH)
for the year, net of tax (feRE) - - 12,148 - (762) - 11,38 - 11,38
Total comprehensive income/(expense)  ERZEMNE /(S ) £
for the year - - 12,148 - (762) (6,558) 4,828 (226) 4,602
Capital reduction in a subsidiary —ZHBLRIZEREIR
(note 420) (Bfst420y) - - - - - - - (4,410 (4,410
Shares issued upon loan capitalisation R EFUE AL 4T 2B lh
(note 32) (Hit3) 3117 1,676 - - - - 4793 - 4,793
317 1,676 - - - - 4793 (4.410) 383
At 31 December 2022 and RZBZZF+ZA=+-H
1 January 2023 R-B-=%#-8-H 38,462 695,243 31,150 55,107 (892) 60,423 879,493 834 880,377
Changes in equity for 2023: ZECCEHaER:
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (2,364) (2.364) - (2,364)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  EREM 2T/ (X H)
for the year, net of tax (eR%E) - - 1,843 - (5,794) - (3951 - (3,951
Total comprehensive income/(expense) A2 @M/ (3H)
for the year ag - - 1843 - (5,794) (2,364) (6,315) - (6,315
Disposal of a subsidiary (mote 19) LE-RMBAR (Hi19) - - - - - (80¢) (806) (884) (1,690
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZ%+ZB=+-H 38,462 695,243 32993 55,107 (6,686) 57,253 872,372 - 872,372
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=IAN ey =g —«
,Z\\, BIRE ==
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ—_T-_=F+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2023 2022
—gZ= ZEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt AR®TT AREEFTT
Operating activities EgEE
Cash generated from operations KEEBRFRS 36 24,434 205,049
Income tax paid B FEH (25) (59)
Net cash from operating activities EZEEZHFRSHR&SH 24,409 204,990
Investing activities BEED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 88 & %1% « Fi &= M & E (1,413) (6,975)
Deposit paid for acquisition of WEME BELEEZ
property, plant and equipment [EEDEE &R (2,665) (220)
Purchase of other financial asset BEERAFEFSAEMER
at fair value through other Wz Hth e mEE
comprehensive income (6,250) -
Purchases of other financial assets BEERATEFABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss Hi&ahEE (9,468) (20,000)
Deposit paid for acquisition WHEEMeREE
of other financial assets 2EE - (2,500)
Interest received =S 6,091 2,938
Placement of pledged deposits FARIRFHR (67,051) (53,578)
withdrawal of pledged deposits IREK IR TF 5K 43,578 1,640
Dividend income received B U B A 727 177
Proceeds from disposal of property, MEME  BE&EH
plant and equipment FriS A 27 2,385
Proceeds from disposal of other HEEAFEFTABREZ
financial assets at fair value HEfhemEEL
through profit or loss FriSs0E 15,000 92,250
Gross cash outflow from derivative MESMTEELEN
financial instruments RE M EsE (37,250) (9,340)
Gross cash inflow from derivative PESRMTEEEN
financial instruments RERABE 27,593 9,322
Repayment from non-controlling interest 2 B JE¥R i 35 2 3B 3K = 1,790
Withdrawal of time deposits IRHUE BT K 161,332 -
Placement of time deposits FAEBFR (273,979) (178,332)
Net cash flows used BREETBFRARERESRHE
in investing activities (143,728) (160,443)
RREYERERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash FIOWS (Continued)
SERETRER @)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ—_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

66

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 AR®TT ARBFT
Financing activities MR
Proceeds from new bank borrowings TG IRITIE KPS 3K IE 37 86,900 53,950
Repayments of bank borrowings EEBITEN 37 (53,950) (54,000)
Interest paid BAIFIE 37 (1,331) 918)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEAE 37 (97) (105)
Net cash outflow from disposal of a HE—FMBARZ
subsidiary Bemib FE (413) -
Capital reduction in a subsidiary —EM B A F 2 EAHR = (4,410)
Advance from a director REEEMNESX 5,692 4,936
Net cash from/(used in) METEFRE  (FRA)
financing activities RS 36,801 (547)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRBRLEFE/YD
and cash equivalents (WD), BmPHE (82,518) 44,000
cash and cash equivalents B—A—HHER&R
at 1 January ReEED 113,914 61,671
Effect of foreign exchange EXxgBnTE
rate changes 1,103 8,243
cash and cash equivalents B+-A=+—HMRER
at 31 December ReSEYD 32,499 113,914
Represented by: &
Bank balance and cash RITEBR LIRS 32,499 113,765
Cash and cash equivalents included BEGEEEPHE2R
in assets classified as held-for-sale REZEED - 149
32,499 113,914
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 17 October 2011 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 6 July 2012.
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Unit 1909, 19/F, 212 Texaco Road, Tsuen
Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
in (i) manufacturing and sales of wooden products; and (i)
manufacturing and sales of renewable energy products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is different from the Company’s
functional currency of Hong Kong Dollars ("HK$").
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RABEEBBEXIAAERAF ([H
R ER Em -AQAEMPEEFR
A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands - BB X EL XM B AT B L EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬁ% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ (uE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June Insurance Contracts
2020 and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance
for the current year and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. #i] REZETER ISR E %R

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("“IFRSS") (continuea)
New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

2.2

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 8
Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An
accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. The amendments to IAS
8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates, and changes in accounting policies and the
correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS
1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

([EHFR R 3R 5 22 R 1) 2 B A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=IAN
YN

BT 7% R MT AT ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 &#E R0 AN R EESIR)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. i R&EETER ISR E %R
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS
1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting
policy information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added
to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("“IFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSS in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture!

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale

and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Amendments to IAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements?

Amendments to I1AS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("“IFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSS in issue but not yet
effective (continuea)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying 1AS 32 Financial Instruments.
Presentation.

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("“IFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSS in issue but not yet
effective (continuea)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments,
together with the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with
early application permitted. If an entity applies the 2020
Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the
2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2023, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

B I RRM T (@

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(@)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZAREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Basis of preparation of the consolidated @ HEMBHRRREUEE #)

financial statements (continuea)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS
36 Impairment of ASséts.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZAREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFTBERER (2)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Basis of preparation of the consolidated @ #HEVBHRBREEH)
financial statements (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value BN B REME - AFEE
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based ERBEATEFTEZ8H AZER
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value BEREE R ABEBEY A TFES
measurements are observable and the significance of the ECEBERSEEUSEAE R £
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which THRREZH BT
are described as follows:
e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in e F—NHABBEEETENE
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that E B EATARSHEREE
the entity can access at the measurement date; SBENERMISZHE (K
KRR
e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices e ZF_RWHAHBENEEK
included within Level 1, that are observable for the BEEEIHEENATBEE 2
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and BABE(F—RABED
WMERRIN) K&
e Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset e ZE-HBWABBEEELE
or liability. BER A B A2k -
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGETBEEHR
Basis of consolidation mERE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

HAEVBBRREERNRBRARF]
MEKMERBZEH B2 M IR
R ARRBRATEREEESIHE:

s HEREHRHEAEN:

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from . EA2mgEHRaEmMAZA
its involvement with the investee; and B O B bnsk B RS
B &

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

BB ERR W (@)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function
of the impaired asset.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist
or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment 10ss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

BB ERR W (@)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs,

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
T A ISR R EE (8

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( B EEETIN  UAREST)

GEPKRRZEREERE
RETHEER (2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

BEREBRER (8)

(Continuea)
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEGHWE (&)
(Continued)
() Sale of goods () HEEm
The principal activities of the Group are AEENETEEBREERE

manufacturing and sales of outdoor wooden
products, retail sales of outdoor wooden products

EPIRE M TEPIAE
m(ERFRARIE)REER

(discontinued during the year) and manufacturing HE B ERIREM -
and sales of renewable energy products.
The Group’s revenue is derived from selling AEBHRARBHEE R

goods with revenue recognised at a point in time
when control of the goods has transferred to
the customer. This is generally when the goods
are delivered to the customer. There is limited
judgement needed in identifying the point control
passes: once physical delivery of the products to
the agreed location has occurred, the Group no
longer has physical possession, usually will have a
present right to payment (as a single payment on
delivery) and retains none of the significant risks
and rewards of the goods in question. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices
are usually payable within 90 —180 days.

HEARE Rt EER R
EEPHER - EBATSHED
TIEEP 2 W3R Hhx s
EYENAEER: —BF
EREBRINEHEMS K
SETHEL BB ER -
— AR 5 IR IR UOER R IE Y A
M (R —REMK) A
TREBEEHEERNERRR R

Elif-BEESE —BHENE
F - BR 83 % 790-1808 N £
fite

hRAEMERERAE

“EC=FFR

31



82

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nﬂ‘ ;ﬁﬁ%iﬁfgﬁﬁuffmg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HAEVBBRRZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS KEFBERER (#7)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continuea)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (#)
(Continued)
Revenue from other sources Ha SR WA
(i Other income (i) EmUgA

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,

MBWAR BT AR ER
M ZOx (GBI RS AT R R
BeRARE R TR F
s g IR (E R ) 2 g
FREZEHEENREFE

to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. EOHTER ) TR -
Dividend income is recognised when the B AP B 3R M R AT R A
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been ﬂﬁ&i Eﬁiﬁxgﬁ ﬁﬁé’]ﬁ%@ﬂ
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established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

HRRAXBAH M LHIERTHE
BaMEENAR AEEREE
BRETE M EERIE1RIBTHES
REHE BT RSEER (Em)
FEEREEE—HEERE S —
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For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continuea)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease components, and
accounts for the lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER @)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continuea)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBERER (&)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE(#&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEEFEREEA (&)
Right-of-Use assets CREEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEENK AR :

s HEREBENTKESD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continuea)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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HE ARV EE R E AR - RS 1
K- ASNESIER SR IER K% B
ERMEXBHGRE - ASNESIE
BARBEARNIEEEEBEEA
AEFEZBAE BNEREHH
BE AR ASNEDIEIRE SRR
ARHIEERIEB A TEH R

st
=]
>t

REEZEREBERAENHRES
BEHEMEAWENEZEIIRNE
A HAR N B R A BERR o

hRAEMERERAE

“EC=FFR

85



36

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

B I RRM T (@

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continuea)
Foreign currencies (Continuead)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in HK$ to the Group's presentation
currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying

EENZES

Wi 2RAETEABEREE (58
FEMLAREFREEHEAH
HEMGRHEEZEE) EREMN
ZHERKARTIGEAZRETEEZK
K BHEZFEEAM LD EEHR
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& R H) B A R o T2 45 E 18 SR AE
BREREBEEZXHMERBER
BMEZRBRA BEEAITE

assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for AL Z (B TR AR HIBR
capitalisation

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the BRKAREELEFE 2IEHR
period in which they are incurred. MR o

Government grants B B

Government grants are not recognised until there is BB~ TRA BEEEEER

reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income

775 4 46 32 <7 TOAE 6 B I 25 14
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AEAEEERIRAXHE[E
AppEANER BREBME A
BEINEMTARFHERHE
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in the consolidated statement of financial position and EEMERE A B
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

(Continuea)
Government grants (Continueqd)

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
revenue”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees and a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government for the
employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in Mainland China are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (#)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MENBBRZGEHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)
(Continued)
Taxation BiE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/T\

B I RRM T (@

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3.
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BiE ()

ERERBEENRAER SRS
HRGETUNES  WHIRETA
BEBA R MERT S M A YD 2
XA EERL-

BEREREEERE Tihz%“ BfE
FEREENHBABRBRERZ
%)fé%‘@ﬁii&%ﬁﬁﬂiﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁf%
EAMMTE (RBR)FTHE -

ERERAEBREEZFERR
BRRASEMEHTAREEH
R sEEBEERAGBR®T
BERHRZHBERR -

A EASERREREEENR
HEEERENHEERZHEL
MR AEEE R BEEREIRE
BREEMEREEELTHESR
f&e

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GEVBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued) BE (&)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are ABBEIRREHEAGENHE
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS R AEEHHEGERIERE
12 requirements to lease liabilities and the related assets Eo R EREBR g ERFE125
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset FTE o fin 1] REJE 1S FE AR B V5 14K 8H
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable AIHIMERERS AEBEREES
that taxable profit will be available against which the ERRBECHIBEE WA ERE
deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a AR EEEREERIBEE-

deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there fi B PIEOE N TT RE R E) B BN EA B

is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets HEENEHANBRIES & Mk

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to TR IBH AR F — S EE S AR

income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the JERBE BB < FTEHiMEE - Al

same taxation authority. FEXERIBEEMEEHIEBER
FHE HEH -

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. BVER MR FEFR TH AN 18 2 TR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

B I RRM T (@

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as "right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties
under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of investment properties over the shorter of (i) the
unexpired term of lease; and (i) their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 20 years after the date
of completion and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method.

3.

REVBBRR2EHREERE

RETHEER (2
b)) EREFBERER (£)

M- BERRE (F)

P& Th A B ORI i 5 T
FHIA O B B K AN R R B (B (B R
Refhat Al ERES FREER
WEHENEREMRET Mk
AHERES s FBUBLTIRES
EREDIFR

ME -BEREBEREERNLERK
EHARBTEEREEREE
EERENSRZIEER-ME-
B RFEEERRE HERRERE
EZERBESRBREZEELS
PRISRIAERHEMNZRETE I
RIEE IR o

BREME
BREMERFAERIAS KA
R/ REREEZDE (BEFERR
LB RMERYME) o

BREMEVTERAGE  BRE
MEEREHEAS R ERIRE

BREMERRERABEERTE
RAEMREHREBEIIR - TEZ
ERAENR TEREEAMIEIRE
YIRS ()R JEREOTEE « K (i)
HAFTAMERFH B TR
AR E204F - W E B E AT F
HEEER RBEREFE

hRAEMERERAE

“EC=FFR

93



94

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

B I RRM T (@

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MENBBRZGEHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

I\\/T\ ﬁﬁ% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ (uE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
asset

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GEVBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA(£E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEMNDBERBERITE (B)

asset (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if: fiE HE TIER A XESRE

ERFEEE:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of . BANEZZENAERTAH
selling in the near term; or RIEE 5 5k

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of o RUIRERNEXAEER—
identified financial instruments that the Group HEBAARARMEREH
manages together and has a recent actual pattern BERNEAzE#IeRITA
of short-term profit-taking; or Hez—8n K

e jtisa derivative that is not designated and effective e  HAFETERBMERLH
as a hedging instrument. TEAMTAET R

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a IEE S+ ik BT JE B ok oK @ R D & R B

financial asset that are required to be measured at the B AREBE S HUHMIE T A

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing RE KA SRR A FE AHAM

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting PHUNSTENSREERAIZ

mismatch. NFEFABETE

RREMERERA T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
asset (Continued)

(0)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at
FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continuea)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
asset (Continued)

(if)

(ii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will
continue to be held in the fair value reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other revenue” line
item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other net
gain/(loss)” line item.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

BB ERR W (@)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, other financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
derivatives financial instruments, time deposits, pledged
deposits and cash and cash equivalents), which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)
(Continuea)
Financial instruments (Continuec) EWMIA (&)
Financial assets (Continued) ZEEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 10ss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(0)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(0)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

3.

REVBBRR2EHREERE

RKEFTBERER (#)

b) EXRGFTBRER (&)
$WMITAE (&)
SHEE ()

ARBERY B RE

R BN

ﬂ/@afﬁai—r%ﬁ’\]ivﬂé?‘/ﬁz@ (%)

0]

(i)

EERRBE LA (&)

i b B A7 O & R a0 A
AREBHEESOMNFAH
HB3H eMEENEE
[k 2 B 146 iR AR 1R
M BIEAEERERER
AEBEERNBRERBR -

AEE T RS BRI
SAMRERE LA

TR BB ETRE
AR B R
S A R B R 0 B
F 5t

EHETEE
RABEERREEMS
1ief PR 780 % 3¢ 3 A S D 2R 2
B2z ERRBEBAZLAR
BRERASEEAZERAL
BUR (Tt R A S B #F
B2 EMERR)  RIAKHE
RREEENEM-

A L g R A E
R BRIELXEEEAER
AREENERBBRIE
MREEER SRIERT
Hig HAtE 890 R BB E A -

hRAEMERERAE

“EC=FFR

103



104

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEMBBRZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERXGEHBERER (#)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continuec) EWMIA (&)
Financial assets (Continued) ZEEE (&)

AR I B B B 7 o R R SR 955
TREFGENEREERE (&)
EEREZEREE
TREERE MRS HEN
(HZEeBMEEMTRARR
EREBRINEE)ELE
RHEREERE - REE
EREERENEERER
AL T A BEEUR:

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (iii)
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

BITARMERALRE
PANRCAGE

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or (a)
the borrower;

() a breach of contract, such as a default or past () EH WA RLEEE

due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

s

© BERANERAEER

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s & FA IR B 7 IR 2
financial difficulty, having granted to the R Sk A #I B R i A

borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liguidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in
the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or 10ss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

B I RRM T (@

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MENBBRZGEHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SWMITA(£&)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬁ% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ (uE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or l0ss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZAREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) EXRGEHBEER (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
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accumulated in the fair value reserve is not reclassified to NEEFEERT Z R aE S
profit or loss, and will continue to be held in the fair value BrgsfolsiEn EglE
reserve. RAFERETEE-

Financial liabilities and equity THEERED

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GEVBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)

(Continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA(£E)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) 2B ERED (&)

Financial liabilities TRAE

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at FrEsmMBBEEREAERNE

amortised cost using the effective interest method or at IR AR IE AT EFAE

FVTPL. mat e

Financial liabilities at FVTPL BERAFEGFABRZEREE

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the B A ER0)E R B mE £

financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an FIREANEBEHETKRER

acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 WS ARE  (NFFEE ES(iNEE

applies, (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at BEATEFAER RERaE

FVTPL. DI ARRATET ABRE-

A financial liability is held for trading if: MRLBATER e B ER

RFIEEE

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e WEEZFETIAREHA
repurchasing it in the near term; or 1 H B8 3k

e 0N initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of e  WIEERKEBENAEEHKF
identified financial instruments that the Group FEEMNTHNeMTASES
manages together and has a recent actual pattern W—# 5 BRABERFAE
of short-term profit-taking; or FEHERER 2

e it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a e BRUEIE BEAHHK
financial guarantee contract or a designated and EREAXEEEREHRT
effective hedging instrument. BERPTE T AR

RREMERERA T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

FREMBBRCEREERE
RETHEER (2

(o)

BEREFBRER (&)
SRMITA(£Z)
THBEERES (&)
BRATEHABBZS
()
BROEAHRKEH AT SHR
BHEmMSENSRE B
CREBTLCINBERRET A
BATESABRNSREE W
8.

mAE

e WMIEEERIBERLE
Alg BRI E R ER T —
Bk

s ZETRMEEBN—HEME
EXTHBABIMEN
Do ERASERANHER
EBRXARERBEUARNTER
HIETEEMFHER RS
BRZHENEERELE
B EREBR Mt 8

e HEXREBE HEIZAEBRA
ITETENEGRON—& D
i B B 75 o & 2 Bl SR 95%
RAKBBEEHERIEER
BRFEFABRSTE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MENBBRZGEHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)

(Continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of changes in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. For financial liabilities that contain embedded
derivatives, the changes in fair value of the embedded
derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to
be presented in other comprehensive income. Changes
in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit
risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss;
instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
debentures, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

ERMIE (&)

CHEERER (&)
BAFEFABZZEHAR
(#%)
HRIETAURAFEFELHSE
Bt ABENeRARE BZAR
MEERREHSIENERAE
AFEEHSHEERAEHEMEAS
Wik BRIEFERZE BB EZESHN
FEABTHEMEAKRERNE
EEBEENKIBERERTNE
FHER -HWRBEMRATETLAR
CREE THRETARLMEE K
HNESBER  TEERATELA
MATEZH -AeRmaENEE
REBmMEENAFEZSH AL
iR & WK MR T B ES A
B SR A BERIEEREFE AR
TS -

jll}

REHERAHENERAE

TRMAEABERERES REMBENRK
HEH ROTERLBEEREH
BABIRAN KRR B HK A E -

RIEEREHEE
AEBRAEEEETERE BUR
IR TERILERETREA
R ILERNEBMABENRAE
HEefkEHRENEZERIER
R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or 10ss
is recognised in profit or loss unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEMBBRZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERXGEHBERER (#)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continuec) EWMIA (&)
Derivative financial instruments PTEZHITA

TETEMNBRITETAARR
FIEMAFEEITER  LERS
HRIRERAFEETRENE B
HEENKERBREBRGEDE
R BRIFTET AR E /B RH
BHRTA EERBBERT HBR
FR HE SR B ] EROR 70 5 B R Y
e

BT EENTHEE
EHEEAKEEMARALET
SR MITH AR E RS
B EREEMERABEMRER
i HIFRAER MBI ER T
HATEXNFEER KFERKE
REENZEEAB-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Key source of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key source of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The impairment loss on trade receivables are measured using
ECL model on collective and individual basis which requires the
Group to use judgement and estimates in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the ECL model, based on the
number of days that an individual receivable is outstanding as
well as their current repayment ability, and taking into account
information obtained from external valuer specific to respective
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the debtors operate at the end of the reporting period.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to
make additional loss allowance for impairment loss on trade
receivables.

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the trade
receivable was approximately RMB48,821,000 (2022:
RMB52,479,000). During the year ended 31 December 2023,
a provision of impairment loss on trade receivables of
approximately RMB1,174,000 (2022 reversal of RMB5,752,000)
has been recognised.

The information about the ECL and the Group's trade
receivables are disclosed in note 22 and 41(b)(@), respectively.

B ET NIRRT

BAR (A ET M EAEAE = 3R

TF AR R E R G MR R E ERR
CRERCEEEELUES -2 9 0L
RART—ERBREEHEEREEER
BYEHEABENEARMG -

REZERRENRANFESR

B 5 e WO TR R (8 R 18 12 5= B8 N {8 Bl & %
EREMEEBRELFE E2RAE
B AR 45 M8 ) B ORI ) R BB RBUE R
REEZBHEEBEELNE ABRE
HH BT R il 5 DA BoA 1P & AT B0 5& SR e
WEBRIMEBEERMBESHEERSEZR
PRER AN EERAERS HIREEM
ENRERBEHNEER - ELREME
ATEB A REEMERELTARE
AR ERE HRKKIBENRERKR
BIMBR -

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H &5
W IE /) BR E B E 40 R A K 1548,821,000
T (ZF = =4 : AR¥52,479,0007T) °
HE-Z-=F+-A=+—HILFE"
ERE S ENFIERERERENAR
1,174,000 (ZEZZ—F BO AR
5,752,0007T ) ©

ERRBEEEENAKRER 5 RKIA
B 1= B 9 BITE T s22F041(b) (@) 2 58 °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

rE R MR (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(@ Revenue from contracts with customers
The principal activities of the Group are (i) the
manufacturing and sales of outdoor wooden products;
and (i) manufacturing and sales of renewable energy
products.

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope
of IFRS 15 is as follows:

5. WARDEBEIR

@)

P& W=
AEENEIZEBANEERBE
PONRE R R(VEERIEEBH4E
BEREE M ©

REIRE B REERFISHEER
MEPALDKEIT

2023 2022
—2_= —TCF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARBETTT

Sales of outdoor wooden products HE P INRELR 295,084 460,742
Sales of renewable energy products HEBERERER 2,446 4,295
297,530 465,037
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. KARSE2HK 2
(Continued)
(@) Revenue from contracts with customers @ BPetWs e
(Continuea)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with ()  KEEFEA N HIE
customers #
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by TRIEZZTEWEMS FT2E
primary geographical markets, major products and mo R A TR I i 23 R U ©

timing of revenue recognition.

2023
—m—=

—_— —

Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of

and sales of renewable
wooden Energy
products products Total
$ER SERHE
HEXREA BEFES &t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AER®TR AR®TR
Primary geographical FTEMEHH
markets*
The People’s Republic of China REARLME ([FE])

(the "PRC") (place of domicile) (fEFfHt) 47,179 2,446 49,625
Australasia SBA R A 213,193 - 213,193
North America JEEM 3,962 - 3,962
Europe B 20,908 = 20,908
Asia Pacific (exclusive of the PRC) 2 K& (TEIHEFH) 9,842 - 9,842

295,084 2,446 297,530
Major products TEER
Wooden products RE M 295,084 - 295,084
Renewable energy products BERRER - 2,446 -
295,084 2,446 297,530
Timing of revenue U A B B2 ES

recognition
At a point in time AR 295,084 2,446 297,530
* The geographical location of customers is based on the * BEPHOMIEME DERZINE

location at which the goods were delivered. YRR E i 7E

PRMEYIERERAT /I /I 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬁ% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ <,.E>

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEER #)
(Continued)
(@) Revenue from contracts with customers @ EBEFPEAHWE
(Continued)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with ()  FKEEFEA N FIEE
customers (Continuea) (&)
2022
—ET-_F
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden Energy
products products Total
EER EEREE
HEARZ R BERRESR =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
Primary geographical FEME TR
markets*
The People’s Republic of China REARLRE ([FE])
(the "PRC") (place of domicile) (fEFTiD) 81,192 4,295 85,487
Australasia BRI 328,919 - 328,919
North America JEEM 12,756 - 12,756
Europe BOM 34,037 - 34,037
Asia Pacific (exclusive of the PRC) 2 K& (T BIHEFH) 3,838 - 3,838
460,742 4,295 465,037
Major products TEESR
Wooden products RE G 460,742 - 460,742
Renewable energy products BERRESR - 4,295 4,295
460,742 4,295 465,037
Timing of revenue e A B B2 ES
recognition
At a point in time HERE 460,742 4,295 465,037
* The geographical location of customers is based on the * BEPZHMBUERBERMNE®
location at which the goods were delivered. FRAERLE M E °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEEHR #)
(Continued)
(@) Revenue from contracts with customers @ BP&aHWEs#)
(Continued)
(i) Performance obligations for contract with (i) FEFPERENEF

(i)

customers

Information about the Group's performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sales of outdoor wooden products and sales of
renewable energy products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the outdoor wooden products and
renewable energy products. The payment is
generally due within 90-180 days from delivery.
Payment in advance is normally required from its
customers.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The contract liabilities from manufacturing and
sales of wooden products mainly relate to receipt
in advance from customers for goods that have not
yet been transferred to the customers. Included
in the contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022
of RMB9,883,000 has been recognised as revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB5,940,000) due to the fulfilment of orders
received before 31 December 2022.

(i)

EEAEBENEXINERE
T

HEPIAEBMHEERE
BEIRE M

Eﬁf&#*ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ&
BEERERFCRETT I
— M AT R EF90-180K A & J
B BP—MABLMNR

DBEEFEFFEGENZE
B 5181

RERERBERERZAR
BEZERAKRDMELHE K
ERGEPNEY 2 BYGK-
HRBITR T+ =
A=+—HZa2mzET=E
WZEZZF+ZA=+—8H
BEEAENABERHNARKE
9,883,000 EERABE T
Z=F+ZA=t+—HLFE
BIRA(ZEZZF: AR
5,940,0007T ) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

BB ERR W (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(@)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(i)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group's existing
contracts is RMB7,675,000 (2022: RMB13,586,000).
This amount represents revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from completed purchase
orders from customers. The Group will recognise
the expected revenue in future when or as the
goods is transferred to customers, which is
expected to occur in the next 12 months.

(b) Segment reporting
In @ manner consistent with how the Group managed
its business and the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group” s most senior executive

mana

gement for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment, the Group has identified two
reportable segments, namely (i) manufacturing and sales
of wooden products and (i) manufacturing and sales of
renewable energy products.

Manufacturing and sales of wooden products:
manufacturing and sales of outdoor wooden
products to both domestic and overseas
customers, and trading of timber.

Manufacturing and sales of renewable energy
products: manufacturing and sales of biomass
pellet fuel to both domestic and overseas
customers.

5.

WARDEHER 2
@ BFP&#WKE
(i) ABEZFAFIFISEE
B S E (B)
R-Z-=f+-g=+—

H 2BEZA5EEREER
BRTHBRAORBHR 5 ER
4258 A AR #7,675,0000T (=
T & AR¥13,586,000
T0) o W& BN RTER R
TR BRI AT PO ERERT
B AEEBTAKBNESR
ERAEPREREBRNHK
A Z WA TE B R R1218 A
NEE Ao

Hi

D E 2R
REASEEBEEER —BHA
X RERERIBEERRRTER
EeeEEERBE2/RER—
VR AEEDREEMET 2
DEENVEEREERE R &
EREEREERER-

o
+

s HERHEAHESD: AEAN
EPEERBEPIIARERD
AMES -

s HERHEEBLEREEM &
EREEEME BRI TH
MINEF o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEE®H 2
(Continueq)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEZFR )
(i) Segment revenue and results () DHWBARESE

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Reportable segment revenue represents the
revenue derived from the Group's external
customers by manufacturing and sales of
wooden products and manufacturing and sales of
renewable energy products, respectively.

The measure used for reportable segment (loss)/
profit is “(loss)/profit for the year (excluding the
after tax effect of government subsidies)” of
manufacturing and sales of wooden products and
manufacturing and sales of renewable energy
products, respectively.

Segment assets exclude other financial assets,
deferred tax assets, derivative financial instruments,
pledged deposits, time deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative financial
instruments, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

BEEHBRBRNES
SEAR AEEBRE
BTH R KA ST
SRR

AIE2HDEBBRADRIEEER
HEARBBAREEREE S
EREREMM B AKBES AR
P RS E A

BAIZ2®OE (FBE) S5
RANAEEMREENEE
ANEI A R A E R AHE B A R
REGOIFR(BE) &
M (T BREBUFHE 2 TRIER
)]

ABEETREEMESHRE
E-BELHEEE TTEEM
TITH BEBRER TBER
BeRBELEFED REMAK
PEBHRFEERTEELE B
RZEEAEREBEEE
e

DEEBETIBEETESRT
B S RIRITER  EBAHIE
RERIEEEREMKD R
MERELLEAGR BRZSE
BEERERBEEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

120

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEER #)
(Continuea)
(b) Segment reporting (continuea) ) DEBZFR &)
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued) () DBRARESE (&)
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue AT BRI 2RO AEE
and results by reportable segments: WA RFEER DT
2023
ZE-=HF
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
EER
EER HEBE
HEXER RRER Wit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
Revenue derived from the Group's RERERINIEPHYA
external customers 295,084 2,446 297,530
Inter-segment revenue SERKA 3,826 2,857 6,683
Reportable segment revenue AERABKA 298,910 5,303 304,213
Reportable segment (loss)/profit for the year ERAZHH T (BE)/H57F
(excluding government subsidies, net of tax)) (TREBRREZRETE) (6,120) 1,066 (5,054)
Government subsidies, net of tax TUTHEEL (FiR) 3,966
Depreciation charge on leased properties HENMEZTE (61)
Unallocated other income AP BEAMBA 487
Unallocated finance cost FOBRERE (28)
Unallocated corporate expenses AAEEERT (1,674)
Loss for the year ENER (2,364)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. KARSE2HK 2
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEZFR )
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (i) SBRARESE(E)
2022
—T-—F
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
HER
KER HERLE
HEAREM RRER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETL ARBTT ARETL

Revenue derived from the Group's RERERNIE P HOYRA

external customers 460,742 4,295 465,037
Inter-segment revenue 2 EEYRA 5,149 2,900 8,049
Reportable segment revenue AE2RBKEA 465,891 7,195 473,086

Reportable segment (loss)/profit for the year FENA2HH T (HE),HH

(excluding government subsidies, net of tax)) (TRERRRELREYE) (11,548) 970 (10,578)
Government subsidies, net of tax TRFTHEEL (FiR) 5111
Depreciation charge on leased properties BEMEITE (112)
Unallocated other income RABEMBA 1
Unallocated finance cost RO BREKEK (147)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOEEERT (1,059)
Loss for the year FABH (6,784)

hRAEMERERAE /I 2"
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. KARDSE2HK 2)
(Continuea)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEBZFR &)
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (i) 2BRARESE(E)
2023
—EC-=
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
EER
EER HERE
HEXRA HRER #it
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR ARBTR ARBTR
Depreciation charge on property, nE BERREINE
plant and equipment (29,247) (507) (29,754)
Depreciation charge on land use rights BERNFREEEL
included in right-of-use assets THEREHE (1,566) - (1,566)
Depreciation charge on investment properties REMEZFE (1,714) = (1.714)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments TESBRIANTERE (8,932) - (8,932)
Fair value gain on other financial assets Hip e BEAEATERE 548 - 548
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment &N E FBE R REZERE (30) = (30)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RRBAR 838 - 838
2022
—T-CF
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
HER
KER HEBRE
HEREM B RE @ @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTTT ARBFTL
Depreciation charge on property, 0 BERERENE
plant and equipment (31,430) (507) (31,937)
Depreciation charge on land use rights BERFERAREEL
included in right-of-use assets THFERECHE (1,919 = (1,919)
Depreciation charge on investment properties RENEZNE (1,526) - (1,526)
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments THESBIAATERS 430 - 430
Fair value loss on other financial assets HiteBEEATERE (470) - (470)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEME  FE k2 WE 568 - 568
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEEHR #)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEZFR )
(i) Segment assets and liabilities (i) oWBEEREE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT
Segment assets SHMEE
Manufacturing and sales of EEREER R
wooden products 613,084 613,640
Manufacturing and sales of FEMEEBRBERERER
renewable energy products 838 1,129
Total reportable segment WU ERoWEE
assets 613,922 614,769
Assets classified as held-for-sale  HDEABEFHEZEE - 856
Corporate and other unallocated — ¥ REM KD EE
assets 440,819 400,966
Total assets EENAET 1,054,741 1,016,591
Segment liabilities AR
Manufacturing and sales of FERIEERER
wooden products 78,879 64,898
Manufacturing and sales of FEMEEBEERER
renewable energy products 338 598
Total reportable segment BAE2RoMAaR
liabilities 79,217 65,496
Liabilities relating to assets HAYMRHRAEREZEE
classified as held-for-sale el aE - 269
Corporate and other unallocated — ¥ REMKDEEEE
assets 103,152 70,449
Total liabilities AEAET 182,369 136,214
(iii) Geographical information (iii) i E R
Non-current assets B EE

7N 5 8 B 3B90% ) FE TR B & B
750 B o [ 1t - 3 4 3% FE 3F
MEEENE—THIHER -

Over 90% of the Group's non-current assets
are located in the PRC. Accordingly, no further
geographical information of non-current assets
were disclosed.

hRAEMERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEE®R 2
(Continuea)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) b)) PE=ZHm#)
(iv) Information about major customers (ivy ERETEEFHNER

EFBAEREBKRALE
10% KB EENMEEPINK

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of
the total revenue who are from the manufacturing

and sales of outdoor wooden products, are as R AR
follows:
2023 2022
=== T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TR ARETFIT
customer A EFEH N/AZ & R * 57,490
Customer B BEL 44,831 N/A 713 A *
Customer C PR 62,390 98,204
Customer D ®wPT 45,358 94,953
152,579 250,647
* The corresponding customer did not contribute more than * HEEFR EF RN &SRB
10% of the total revenue of the Group in previous year. BAREE A LEEI0%
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HMA
2023 2022
—E_=E —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AREEFT
Interest income on bank deposits IRITF A B UL A 16,194 7,817
Government subsidies (Note) BT L (K7at) 3,966 5,111
Dividend income from the equity BEBERAFETA
investment designated as fair value Hi2E ez RAEE
through other comprehensive BB (Ka17)
income (note 17) 727 177
Rental income el A 2,057 1,499
Others EAfth 1,831 1,222
24,775 15,826
Note  The Group received unconditional government subsidies of RMB3,966,000 Wi REE_Z_=F+-A=+—HILFE &

(2022: RMB5,111,000) during the year ended 31 December 2023 in respect
of its normal operating activities. There were no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attaching to these government grants.

EEFGH RS ETHREEGEBTHRA
R #63,966,0007C (= Z = — 4 : A R #5,111,000
TU) o 2 E BT AL IR R R RSB =
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R ERNTE (&

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

7. OTHER GAINS, NET 7. HftWz=FE
2023 2022
—EZ=HF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) bE N Wz, (B18) F58 10,296 (1,628)
Fair value (loss)/gain on derivative MTEemIARTE
financial instruments (B518) e (8,932) 430
Fair value gain/(loss) on other HEthemEERTE
financial assets Wz, (BE) 548 (470)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEDE BMEREREZ
plant and equipment (E518) ke (30) 568
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHEBRR 2z RS 838 -
Written off of other payables H b A5 FR MR - 4,910
Written off of other receivables H A JE Ui SR AR - (1,315)
Others Hit (552) (515)
2,168 1,980
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HBEMNAK
2023 2022
ZE-=F ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TR AREFT
Interest expense on bank borrowings HRITE A B F S 1,331 865
Interest expense on debentures (note 30) BEHF B (A7£30) - 95
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEBENFEMX
(note 29) (H:t29) 28 53
1,359 1,013
RREMERERA T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

BB ERR W (@)

9. LOSS BEFORE TAX
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging

9.

BRBLATE 1B
BEBATBREIR GIA) T EER

(crediting): s
(a) Staff costs (exclude directors’ @ BEIRA(TBREESH
remuneration) )
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETFIT
Salaries, wages and other benefits %‘?% T&E RHEAMEF 17,979 22,454
Contributions to defined contribution B FGRIRET &I K
retirement schemes 1,713 2,902
Equity-settled share award scheme VA IR 458 4 & 80 I 1) 22D
expenses IR = -
19,692 25,356
Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations RIBFBEMEBS LR RER

in the PRC, the Group's entities in the PRC participate
in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the local authorities
whereby the entities are required to make contributions
to the Schemes based on a percentage of the eligible
employees’ salaries during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022. Contributions to the Schemes vest
immediately. Under the Schemes, retirement benefits
of existing and retired employees are payable by the
relevant scheme administrators and the Group has no
further obligations beyond the annual contributions.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under its retirement
benefit scheme in the PRC and under the MPF Scheme
in Hong Kong which may be used to reduce the existing
level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2)
of Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

AEBEURTENERS ML
ERENNTEREIRIKEAEE
(T#%&t8)) Bt - EHRERAR
BE_ZT_=ZFR-_F__F+=
A=T—-RALSERAERREES
B — £ B 2 LAk At I (FH R
HaEPEFHERARRE-R
BEME RAERERKEENR
RiE 7 el ARRA T B E BB S
REERFIN AEEBE-FE
fFeo

HE_Z-=FR-_FT-__F+=
A=Z+—BLEE AE@BEFEH
E’JU?IWE?‘HJ%%J%DE;‘%E’J?ﬁ%éé?r
BT L W 5k BT A R
& mﬁﬁxﬁﬁa’f%tmiﬁ Bl Pt 851658
(2)B% BT sl /9 3R 5 4 SRK S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

9. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 9. BRBAIEE 2
(b) Other items b) EHAIEH
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBTIT

Depreciation charge (note 14) e (Hat14)
— Owned property, plant and —BEME WEM&FE
equipment WEXRE 29,754 31,937
- Right-of-use assets: —CREAE:
- Land use rights — b fE A 1,505 1,807
— Leased properties —HEWE 61 112
— Investment properties (note 15) —REWE (HiE15) 1,714 1,526
Total depreciation charge 4T 33,034 35,382
Cost of inventories recognised as WRAEAZ 2 HFERARN
expenses (note) (K1a2) 277,352 418,041
Research and development costs T8 A AN 8,086 14,671
Auditors’ remuneration ZE R & 757 777
Note: Cost of inventories includes RMB32,981,000 (2022: RMB37,632,000) W BEZZ-_=F+-A=+—HLFE"
for the year ended 31 December 2023 relating to staff costs and FERABIEARK32981,0007T (ZF
depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective total Z % ARM37,632,0007T) % K BT
amounts disclosed separately above or in note 9(a) for each of RARITE BESENE AR EX
these types of expenses. S AR B EZER L EEREN

BEBEA-

hRAEMERERAE /I 27
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BTSRRI EE (')

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

10. FEBiMA< (E%)

(@) Taxation represents: @ WA
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREEFIT
Current tax - Hong Kong BHRE-FEAERN
Profits Tax
Charged for the year F AR 361 -
Current tax - PRC Corporate BHRE-PELEMRER
income tax
Charged for the year F AR 31 27
Deferred tax expense BIERIARMX
Charged/(credited) for the year FAMB, (KR)
(note 20) (H1a%20) 74 (386)
Income tax expense/(credit) i8R~ (&) 466 (359)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continuec) 10. FR8BiMAx (&) (@

(b) Reconciliation between income tax b REABEFENMRER
expense/(credit) and loss before tax at F, (%) E kT AT E
applicable tax rates: HEHEER -

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR#®FT ARBETT

Loss before tax BR 5 A &S 18 (1,898) (7,143)
Tax at the statutory rate of 25% R E25%t B 2 IR (475) (1,786)
Tax concession (notes (j), (iv) & () MBESR (W0 (MEWV) (1,614) (872)
Tax effect of income non-taxable BARMB AN K2

for tax purpose (207) (161)
Tax effect of expenses non-deductible  FEH0E S Hi 89 5 75 52 28

for tax purpose 1,147 307
Tax effect of bonus deduction for T 32 5 2 B EHUR &Y

research and development expenses & 7% 52 2 (1,213) (3,668)
Tax effect of deductible temporary AR EEEN

difference Mg a (880) (3,922)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R FER 2 FiIBEE B R

ik 3,916 9,863

Effect of different tax rates of FHRMEEEERLEN

subsidiaries operating in MiE AR TR R

other jurisdictions TE (182) 76
Others Hitb (26) (196)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FRFFSFAS (#H%) 466 (359)

hRAEMERERAE /I 29
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁiﬂ% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ (n\5>

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B R5N XA R BEZR)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continuea)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax
expense/(credit) and loss before tax at
applicable tax rates: (continuea)

Notes:

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year
ended 31 December 2023 under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%.

No provision was made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group's PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Corporate Income
Tax ("CIT") at the statutory rate of 25% unless otherwise specified.

Fujian Zhangping Kimura Forestry Products Co., Ltd (“Zhangping
Kimura”) applied and was approved for the High and New
Technology Entities (“HNTE") qualification under the PRC Corporate
Income Tax Law and its relevant regulations during 2019, and
therefore is entitled to the preferential income tax rate of 15% for
a period of five years from 2019 to 2023.

According to the announcement of the State Administration
of Taxation on Issues Relating to Implementation of Inclusive
Income Tax Relief Policy for Small Low-profit Enterprises, the CIT
rate applicable to small-scale enterprises with law profitability
that meet certain conditions including the assessable profits
not more than RMB3,000,000, shall be reduced to 20%. Two of
the Company’s subsidiaries (2022: two) have been designated
as small-scale enterprises, pursuant to which, (i) the first
RMB1,000,000 of assessable profits (the “1st Assessable Profits”)
of these subsidiaries are effectively taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% on 25%
of the 1st Assessable Profits), and (i) the remaining assessable
profits not over RMB3,000,000 (the “Remaining Assessable Profits”)
are effectively taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% on 25% of the Remaining
Assessable Profits).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its relevant
regulations, dividends receivable by non-PRC resident corporate
investors from PRC resident enterprises are subject to withholding
income tax at 10% unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements,
for profits earned since 1 January 2008.

Since the Group can control the quantum and timing of
distribution of profits of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC,
deferred tax liabilities are only recognised to the extent that
such profits are expected to be distributed through dividend
payment by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in the foreseeable
future. As at 31 December 2023, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to
overseas holding company amounted to RMB225,380,000 (2022:
RMB277,171,000) and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities of
RMB22,538,000 (2022: RMB27,717,000) have not been recognised.

10. FIBHiEY (EK&) (@)

b)) HERABES “E’Jﬁﬁ 5t
¥/ (E%)BERBIRE
BREER : (&)

HisE -
HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILFE
BIEFEH MR SEHRE BTGB E
AEREERENE2E BB ITHETE
128.25% M B KT - BiB2A BB TN
i 5 $216.5%E B R0

BE-T-__F+-A=+—HILFE-
7N SR B 0 VS RN (E ] AR B -
B BB RIS B AT R B

i. ZJS’EIE’JEPIM‘HE/ Al B HR25% % T
RYMPBECEMRSR ([RERF
%FU) AEERPERI

ii. BREBETANMEBRAR(DEF
AR DERZZE-NFREFEPERR
BEOEREMBAR R ELEF RN
Mk ([BFMEMEE]) HRBER
BR-_F-NFE_F_=FHEFE
HEBRZA1RNEERSHRE -

iv. RAR (BR B 48 B B & e /) AL R
ELEEMSRASEREBREN
NE) FEETRE (BEERB G
F BB A R #3,000,0005T) 2 2 F g
NEIE 2 NI %MFHZJJ;%PE BB
KRG E20% o AR R E A WEHEQ
AI(ZZ==fF: FﬁF"i) BRIETE RN
TE B ZEWBARIBEARYE
1,000,0007T 2 F& &R Fiom FI ([ & #E &R
Tt A1l ) ¥ B PR A 5% (BN 1R25% i Bt
FERRB A F) 220% ) B (VR T T %
AR #3,000,0007T 2 FE =R F (8
TRERBUR ) AR B R %5% (BZ
25%84 T FERR Bt v F 2 20% ) 8

v. REHBIREFRETORRELBRER
FPEERACERAENTRERDE
RE-ZEZTNF—A—BRRRAEF
B FE MR BB R IR 1 0% Bt R AR TR AN -
HERR I RAI R R PR R 2 R S R R

A A AN 5 B ] DA 422 11 7S Sk B 2 P B A0 B
BRANBED RS EMER  HibE
ERAAEENTRENBARENRR
BVRSRBIBE N D BRI ATR T
BREEHREE-R-_F-_=F1+=
R=+—H @KREE+TBEHERQFR
SERFEEEIIMNER AR BENTR =
A ARM225,380,0007T (ZFE =4 :
AR #£277,171,0007T ) Ko 8 & iE AE 7 18
BEARM22538000 (Z T4
AE#27,717,0007T ) R4 HER o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 11. EEEH
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to Section 383(1) BB E B A BMEHIE383(1E kA Al (3
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BERMGERN) RO E2HRERT &
Ccompanies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EFHEMOT

Directors) Regulation is as follows:

2023
ol S}
salaries,
allowances Retirement share
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme award
fees in kind bonuses contributions scheme Total
Fie 2HR
EFng Enig BT BHHBER RORBHY @i

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTR  AR®TR  ARBTT ARRTRT  AR®TR  AE®TR

Executive directors BITER

Wu Zheyan REE 360 1,152 - 3 - 1,515

Xie Qingmei EilE 67 - - - - 67
427 1,152 - - - 1,582

Independent non-executive BIFHTES

directors

Prof. Jin Zhongwei PERYK 98 - - - - 98

Prof. SU Wengjiang BRI 98 - - - - 98

Tse Kwok Hing Henry HER 86 - - - - 86
282 - - - - 282
709 1,152 - 3 - 1,864
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬂvq% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ <n\§>

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continueq) 1. E2FM »)
2022
—EoCF
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme award
fees inkind bonuses  contributions scheme Total
He 2ER
Bzs ENfla WEEAL  RIGEER  RHERE b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT  ARETT AR%TR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR

Executive directors BITES

Wu Zheyan REE 360 1141 - 4 - 1,505

Xie Qingmel Bl 60 5 - - - 65
420 1,146 - 4 - 1,570

Independent non-executive  HAEHTES

directors

Lam Hin Chifnote 4) EBB (iia) 69 - - - - 9

Prof. Jin Zhongwei TEAYK % - - - - 9%

Prof. SU Wengjiang EY €t % - - - - 9%

Tse Kwok Hing Henry (note b) HEHE (frith) 2 - - - - 28
293 - - - - 293
713 1,146 - 4 - 1,863

Note (a):  Resigned on 1 September 2022 Hzt@ : W-TB-—FHAA—BEHE

Note (b): Appointed on 1 September 2022 Wiazb): M-ZZTZ—FhLA—BHEZT

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there REBEEZZ_=FR_F__F+_H

were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to the Directors = t—HIEFE AEEBERESHT

or any of the highest paid individuals set out in note 12 below SR #1257 8 7T B B B A =32 A5 sk

as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as JER AR RIB 1ERRSIBEMBAEE

compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement IR MBAEEENES SEABRE

under which a director waived or agreed to waive any B-REE_ZE_=FR-_T__F+=

remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2023 and A=+—RIFE EERERBEMNE

2022. PR Sk R B R E A o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12. EEFMAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, there were ﬁi4 E=Ft A=t —RILEEE-
one (2022: one) directors for the year ended 31 December LEEFMALTH —B (22 ZF:
2023, whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The —%)7%§$'?&%E’]%@H\E/\Fﬁ%iﬂﬁﬁ'g"
aggregate of emoluments in respect of the other four (2022: BRTEE (ZEZF  1E) AR B
four) individuals are as follows: BRI -
2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Salaries and other emoluments o K& E b 1,328 1,231
Discretionary bonuses R IEIEAL = -
Equity-settled share award scheme expenses A% g &5 & KR 17 22 &
FHEIFA X - -
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGETEIEFR = -
1,328 1,231
The emoluments of the four individuals (2022: four individuals) ME(ZZEZ—F :OZ) e ALK
with the highest emoluments are within the following bands: HUNF TS E :
2023 2022
—=E-= —EoF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 N
Nil to RMB1,000,000 =z A R#1,000,00070 4 4
HRHEYIEREIRAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR e TSR M & ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BRER
RRAEBE ARMLMEBRER L EEE
HETE AR AT U -
2023 2022
—E=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARETT

Loss [Fi]
Loss for the purpose of basic loss REBREREEMSH
per share &5 18 (2,364) (6,558)
Number of shares
EiHn# A
2023 2022
—E-=F —E ==
(Restated)
(g&&E5))
Number of shares B in
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AT ESREREE 2
for the purpose of basic loss per share LB AR N I 8L 92,137,051 87,234,989

The weighted average of 92,137,051 shares for the year ended
31 December 2023 are derived from 921,370,512 ordinary
shares in issue as at 1 January 2023 after taking into account
the effect of the share consolidation on 2 January 2024,
whereby every 10 existing ordinary shares in the issued and
unissued share capital of the Company were consolidated
into 1 consolidated share Comparative figures have been
retrospectively adjusted on the assumption that the above
share consolidation had been effective in prior year. Details are
set out in note 44.

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+t-—BIEE
B AN AE S 15 £192,137,051BE K B — =
—=F—F—HEB#17/M921,370,5128%
L@l Uitk T -_mWFEF—HZHRK
NeEMNEE Bl AR EBTR
%%éﬁﬁxm:mlﬂxiﬁﬁi mRE A0
BHREHRG -BRLEABRNDEHER
EFAB EEBEFTEBPHE-F1B
A4S -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR R IS IRAR M R ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

13. LOSS PER SHARE (continuec) 13.

The weighted average of 87,234,989 shares for the year ended
31 December 2022 (restated) are derived from 850,368,416
ordinary shares in issue as at 1 January 2022 after taking into
account the effect of the issuance of 71,002,000 shares issued
upon loan capitalisation during the year ended 31 December
2022 (note 32(a)).

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss figures are calculated as follows:

BREE 2
HE-_ZTZ-_—_F+-A=+—HLF
£ (& E 7)) H) b 1 15 2187,234,9890%
%Q?‘%::i—ﬂ—ﬁaﬁﬁm
850,368,416/ & By - Wit KB E =
—ZF+ZA=+— Eutiﬂﬁfiﬁ
{277 #971,002,0008% A% 17 #9228 (B 3
32@)) °

RRABHREANEBEERER R EREE
BETEERIAT8UE

BREFAENT

2023 2022
—m—= —m——

— T —— —_<——

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT ARETT

Loss for the vear attributable to owners BEE iﬂxﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfé
of the Company for the purpose EEMmE AR
of basic and diluted loss per share i‘%ﬁ/\ﬁ%fﬁimﬁ@ﬂé

(2,364) (6,558)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for both basic and diluted loss per share.

The basic and diluted loss per share are the same as the Group
had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

FRFB Y 9 B B8 _E SR 0 S AR B N R
BEROS BAR-

=t- H&ETIEE?‘T‘J/ i

+=A
Lidik - Bt SRERRESEEEMER -

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BTSRRI EE (')

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% -BERRE

Furniture,
Plant and fittings and Motor Right-of-use
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles  Subtotal assets Total
&
BF RERER KRERRE RE Mt ERERE #it
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTRE ARBTIT AR®TR ARRTRT ARWTRE ARRTRT ARWMTRE
COST 573
At 1 January 2022 R-Z2--%-B—-H 525,606 159,334 6,226 9915 701,081 83,359 784,440
Additions NE 4,104 1,658 55 2,857 8674 17 8,791
Disposals HE - (2,048) (122) - 2,170) (923) (3,093)
Transfer to investment properties (note 15)  BRZEREME (M#15) (4,104) - - - (4,104) - (4,104)
Exchange realignment EHAR - - - - - 1 1
At 31 December 2022 and RIBZZE+ZA=+-HR
1 January 2023 —8-=%-8-H 525,606 158,944 6,159 12,772 703,481 82,564 786,045
Additions WE - 564 N 978 1,633 - 1,633
Disposals HE - (48) - (1,093) (1,141) (123) (1,264)
Exchange realignment I 5 - - - - - 1 1
At 31 December 2023 RISZ=%+ZA=1+-H 525,606 159,460 6,250 12,657 703973 82,442 786,415
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RHMERBEER
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2022 R-Z2--%-B-H 240,871 89,187 5,391 6,948 342,397 42,543 384,940
Charge for the year ERZH 17,269 13584 9 985 31937 1919 33,8%
Elimination on disposals R E R 8 - (318) (39) - (353) (923) (1.276)
Exchange realignment 5 - - - - - 6 6
At 31 December 2022 and RIB-Z&+ZA=+-HR
1 January 2023 —Z2-=%-8-H 258,140 102,453 5,455 7933 373981 43,545 417,526
Charge for the year FRZIH 17,554 10,686 57 1457 29,754 1,566 31,320
Elimination on disposals R EREHE - (46) - (1,038) (1,084) (123) (1,207)
Exchange realignment EHAR - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZA=1+-H 275,694 113,093 55912 8,352 402,651 44,988 447,639
NET CARRYING AMOUNT RESE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=1+-H 249912 46,367 738 4,305 301,322 37,454 338,776
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Z%+-R=+-H 267,466 56,491 704 4839 329,500 39,019 368,519
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME-BERZE®

(Continued)

Buildings are held for own use and are situated in the PRC.
At 31 December 2023, buildings with net carrying amount of
RMB103,788,000 (2022: RMB108,225,000) were pledged to
banks for certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
27).

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

— Buildings The shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 20 years
after the date of completion

- Plant and machinery 10 years

- Furniture, fittings and 5years
equipment

- Motor vehicles 5 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

LRPENEFREFEER - RZF
Z=F+ZA=+—H EFEFERA
R #103,788,000t (— T = —4F: AR#
108,225,00070) 2 F E | T IR1T - {E
AREEERNE TRITREEEZER
(Mi5¥27) ©

FrED AR SRR E AR AEAFEY
X HBEMRRESEREE ZRAMBEEE
BEAE -REMBEIRFRMT

—&F AR M B R fh 5t
Al BB E
B (ARKRTAEE
NiEBiB20%)

— B R Es 105

—KM-KE 5%

e
- 5%

BEMAEAFHLERNKEER(WA)
BEHER — R

hRAEMERERAE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 &#E R0 AN R EESIR)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME-BERRZE®

(Continued)

The Group as lessee REEIEAFEMEA
Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and FERAEEE (EEEEYE BRERR
equipment) BR)
Leased Land use
properties rights Total
HEME ITHERE #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
As at 31 December 2023 WR_Z_=f+"-A=+—H
Carrying amount BREFE - 37,454 37,454
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE--_#+=-B=+—H
Carrying amount BREFAE 60 38,959 39,019
For the year ended BE_Z_=%+-RA=+—H
31 December 2023 IEEE
Depreciation charge e 61 1,505 1,566
Exchange realignment b 58 B (1 - (1
60 1,505 1,565
For the year ended BE_Z__+_-A=+—H
31 December 2022 ILEE
Depreciation charge e 112 1,807 1,919
Exchange realignment M W % ©) - ©)
107 1,807 1,914
2023 2022
—EZ=% T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFT
Total cash outflow for leases MEZRBE R 97 158
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEE LM - 17

At 31 December 2023, land use rights with an aggregate
carrying amount of RMB34,156,000 (2022: RMB7,257,000) were
pledged as securities for certain banking facilities granted to
the Group (note 27).

R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H FKELE
BAREE34156,000C (ZEZ—F: AR
#57,257,00070) M) Lo FAIEC ERE T
REBMETROBEEERMR (i
27) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME-BERZE®

(Continued)
The Group as lessee (continuea)

Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and
equipment) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Land use rights Over the lease term

Leased properties Over the lease term
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the buildings,
plant and land use rights based on higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of
the relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable amount
based on fair value less costs of disposal and no impairment
has been recognised for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

REBEAEBA (£)
ERAEEE (CRAENE BERR
BR) (4)
EREEER BB R ERES (1
BEEEBE) RERETE mT

T fE R RIEEA

HEMH REHA
WREBERGEEEENER EEE
ERKESKANRBREEENTTE I
EARBEENMG I ERFHTH-

WE - BE LR ERER S

REBBRBEATEREERARFEHE
BERReEMGFREY BERTHER
EHARESE - HE S _—FMN=F
o+ A=+ HULEFE HEEE
WEMEETEREATEREAEEER
BRI UR el & 8 - R FERIRL(E °

hRAEMERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

a2
N

BT 7% R MT AT ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWE
Construction
Buildings  in progress Total
’¥ EBIR @t
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
COST ﬁﬁzk
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-—%—H—H 48,315 4,611 52,926
Transfer from owner-occupied property (note 74)  mERBMEE A (#1£14) 4,104 - 4,104
Transfer from construction in progress MEZIRREA 4,611 (4,611) -
At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 RZEZZ§+ZA=1—H
k=—E-=Ff+-A=+—-H 57,030 - 57,030
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND RIAHERFESR
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2022 RZEZZ5—-H—-H 22,568 - 22,568
Charge for the year FRYH 1,526 - 1,526
At 31 December 2022 W-EB-_—F+-A=+—H 24,094 - 24,094
Charge for the year FRYH 1,714 - 1,714
At 31 December 2023 WZEZ=F+ZA=1—H 25,808 - 25,808
NET CARRYING AMOUNT IRERE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H 31,222 - 31,222
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F+-A=1+—H 32,936 - 32,936

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the term of lease

The Directors considered that certain owner-occupied
properties were leased out for earning rental income, therefore,
the properties were reclassified from property, plant and
equipment to investment properties during the year ended
31 December 2022. The Group's investment properties were
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any.

In addition, the Group incurred a construction cost of
approximately RMB4,611,000 for its investment properties
during the year ended 31 December 2021, which are
transferred to investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2022.

BB ENERERERATFRTE:

BEY) EHEMRA

EERAK ETERDECHAURRE
WA RBEE-_FT-_—_F+-A
=t-HALEFE ZEVERDE BE
MRRBEERODBRRREME - AEENK
BMETEKARREITE MOBE (10 F)
BB

N REBMPRBEE-_Z-_—F+=-A8
T HALFEAERENMEELER
BRAL ANR#4,611,00000 ERBE-T
T+ A+ HLEEEEALEY
%o
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea) 15. REWXE #)

Impairment assessment BB G

The recoverable amount is determined based on the fair AU Bl & B iE A FERE B R (BNE R
value less cost of disposal (i.e. the higher of fair value less FAER B B A AR (LARK AN X 47 8Y) B2 5 3
cost of disposal (by using the cost approach) and value in BEFREEEE - R_Z-_=FK=F
use). As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount ZZFFT A=+ —H REAUEHED
of investment properties does not exceed the recoverable REEETBREATEREEEKAE
amount based on fair value less cost of disposal and therefore, AU El SR8 - EEMFEE IR ERRE

no impairment has been recognised for both years.

16. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS FOR 16. WYX BERREWIEEH
ACQUISITIONS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND i
EQUIPMENT
The amount mainly represented the prepaid construction cost ZEREEEME LS TEN TR o
for plant and machinery. An analysis of non-current deposits of BT RRK ARSI T

construction cost is as follows:

2023 2022
—— = e —

— T m—— =

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTIT

Deposits for other constructions and HEMZEURYE BER
property, plant and equipment RENILS 2,665 220
2,665 220
RREMERERA T

“EC=FFR
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

17. Hth&@mEE

2023 2022
—E = —EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFT
Equity investments at fair value through BAVEGFAEMET
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") e (MeAFERFA
(note a) Ha2mEKa=]) [y
AR E (Kita) 3,378 1,445
Other financial assets at fair value RATER AER
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") (note b) (MBEAFEFAER])
WEMSFEE (#FD) 15,055 20,122
18,433 21,567
Less: Current portion Wk BNEREL (15,055) (20,122)
Non-current portion JERNEEE o 3,378 1,445

Notes.

@

The equity investments represent unlisted investments in 5% (2022:
5%) and 1.3% (2022: Nil) equity interests of two (2022: one) PRC local
banks in Zhangping City, Fujian Province, the PRC. On 30 November
2022, the Group entered into share transfer agreement to acquire 1.3%
equity interest in Fujian Zhangping Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. The
consideration is RMB8,750,000 of which RMB2,500,000 were paid during
year ended 31 December 2022. Detalils are set out in note 18.

On 16 January 2023, the remaining RMB6,250,000 has been settled and
the share transfer was completed. Therefore, the amount was recognised
as other financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income as the Group considered these investments
to be strategic in nature.

The dividend income received related to the equity investment for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was RMB727,000 (2022: RMB177,000) (note 6).

As at 31 December 2023, other financial assets represent investment
product of a PRC bank of RMB5,216,000 (2022: RMB20,122,000) and
Australian Dollar denominated structured product of a Hong Kong
investment bank of RMB9,839,000 (2022: Nil).

M-

ZRAKRERRPEREREITRE (2T
Z o )R BEARMBRIT% (ZE =

5%) 813% (Z2 - —F Em)REHNIELHR
B-RZZZZF+—A=1+H AEHFTIK
HHEZEHS XEREZTFENAERITRG
ABR A F.3%AAE - LB A A R%8,750,0007T *
Hep ARM2500000 R EE—T - —_F+=
RA=+—HIEFEXT - FIEHARMEE18 o

RZZE-=%—HA+X<B" TU%AE%éZSOOOO
TLEAE B EETK - B ZFRER
BV E AR 2EKE Zﬁﬁﬂémﬁ‘léﬂ%
AR A E Y A I 1 T B A FER AR
fEEmBENE RRALEARAZSERE
[ AR -

HE-_Z-_=#+_-_A=+—HLEZ BWK
B R AR E R B A B A R 727,0007T
(ZZ==%F: AR¥177,0007t) (MizE6) °

RZTEZ=F+=-A=+—HB Hthem#&
EhAANRES216000T (ZTE=—F: AR
20,122,0007T ) 6 — R P BRITIREERRAR
#£9,839,0007T (—Z T = —F: T)#) —EEH ER
BIRITHBRITAHEAE(LEM -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

18.

19.

NON-CURRENT DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION
OF OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

On 30 November 2022, the Group entered into share transfer
agreement with Zhangping Hong Sheng Minerals Co., Ltd., a
third party to the Group, to acquire 1.3% equity interest in Fujian
Zhangping Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. The consideration is
RMB8,750,000 of which RMB2,500,000 were paid 10 days after
signing of share transfer agreement.

On 16 January 2023, the share transfer was completed.
Therefore, the deposit was recognised as other financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Details are
set out in note 17.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
realigned its business strategies to close the business of
Zhangzhou Xingruixiang Supply Chain Management Co.,
Ltd. (“Xingruixiang”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. The principal activity of Xingruixiang is to sell the
wooden products to Zhangping Kimura, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

The Group entered into a disposal agreement to close its
business upon the completion of existing sales orders, which
are expected to be sold within twelve months. Certain assets
and liabilities have been classified as assets and liabilities
held-for-sale and are presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position (see below).

18.

19.

WEHM SR EE ZIEBNHIIZ
&

R-ZZE-_—F+—A=+H AEHESE
=HEVTEEBREARAREIRIEEE
E REEREFENBERITRNE
PR~ B11.3% A% 1 - ¥ & & A K %8,750,000
JT * E A A R #2,500,0007T 7 BY 2 5
FHETBI0B -

RZBZ=ZF—HA+/RB RNEETK -
Bt ZReBRRERAFEFAEGLE
il Ez AR EE -FIFSHNME
17 °

TERRBEHFEZEE

HE-ZT-_—F+-A=+—HIFE"
AEBRAREBRE BHAQARIELE
M@ A RDEM B IR HEREE AR AR
([HImeE ) ER - BIRFNEZEBR
MARA2E B R FEF AN HERE

]
AR °

AEBAY—HEEHH KNEREGHE
AIESTRRBMBARER BASET @
HARE - ETEEMRBEYEAFHA
FENBEEMEE LEKBPBIMRK
FEBIIR (R T e

hRAEMERERAE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

19. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE 19. PEAFERECEE »)

(Continuea)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Xingruixiang as at R-ZZEZ—F+_A=+—0 &&HEaH
31 December 2022, which have been presented separately in BARARPEBY OB EEENBE
the consolidated statement of financial position, are as follows: WEZEANET :
2022
—E-F
RMB'000
AR®ETT
Amount due from non-controlling interest FEUT FETE AR M 2 SO IR 711
Cash and cash equivalents BehkIReEED 145
Total assets classified as held-for-sale PEEREFECHEEE 856
Other payables and total liabilities associated HSESIFEHEEEERZ
with assets classified as held-for-sale HttEGRERERE (269)
On 3 November 2023, the disposal has been completed with RZEZ=F+—-—HA=H HEETK"
a gain on disposal of approximately RMB838,000, being the o W 4 A A R 838,000t ¢ B L I £
difference of Xingruixiang's fair value less costs to sell and its WMAFEREERABREN T ==
carrying amount as at 31 December 2022. On the same date, TZRA=Et—BEOEREAEZFANERE RN
the retained profits and non-controlling interest amounted to R B #ERERE RN KIEERER D RA
RMB806,000 and RMB884,000, respectively, were released. R #806,0007T f2 A K #884,0007T °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

20. DEFERRED TAXATION 20. EZEBE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement BUEFEVBRAEFREY] BTERER
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BHEEMBEDHEKE UTERAVBR
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred HEREIEERIEREN DT

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
—2_= S
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARBTT

Deferred tax assets EETRIBE E 3,193 1,378
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEAE (3,270) (2,404)
(77) (1,026)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets AT R ARERZ MR EEREZRT
recognised and movements thereon during the current and MEEBENEEREZS):
prior years:
Unrealised Unrealised Fair value
loss on (loss)/gain PRC adjustments
other  on derivative dividend Impairment of equity
financial financial withholding underECL  investments
assets  instruments tax model at Fvtocl others Total
BRATEMA
Rt e fiE &M RiER  EM2EKEN
REMKER  LAMKEH HERR  BHREL BERR
BR (BR) k& RN# BE WHATERE il @it
RVB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTL ARETL  ARBTRL ARETR ARBTRL ARETL ARMTR

At 1 January 2022 WZZ--5-F-H (426) (627) (1,707) 1,190 2 - (1,547)
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (ot 7) (3t \) /&% (M0 (564) 91 - - - m) 38
Credited to other comprehensive income SARMZARA - - - - 135 - 135
At 31 December 2022 and RZBZZFE+ZA=+-HR

1 January 2023 ZE2-Z§-f-AH (990) 334 (1,707) 1,190 158 (1) (1,026)
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (rote 7).~ (3t A) /#4183 (#it10) (799 (109) - 823 - 11 (78)
Credited to other comprehensive income STAREMZERA - - - - 1,023 - 1,023
At 31 December 2023 RIBZZ£+ZR=+-H (1,789) 225 (1,707) 2013 1,181 - 7

PRMEYIERERAT /I 45
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20. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB250,362,000 (2022:
RMB234,698,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately RMB250,362,000 (2022: RMB234,698,000) with
expiry dates as disclosed in the following table.

20. ELEHIE ()
RS EIR - R EE 4 A R 250,362,000
T (ZTZZF: ARM234,698,0007T) #
B) 3 A4 78 85 98 AT 4K 85 R s F o A AR 2R
B RE S Al BRI SRR R B AR
BRBRELEHEEE AEAMEERE
BIEHARE250,362,000T (Z T = =4 :
A R #234,698,0007T,) H) fE5 8 - E F HF A 40

TR
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBETT

2023 —E-=F
2024 —ZEPOF
2025 bkl ==
2026 —E-RF
2027 ZEEF
2028 —EZ)\F

= 20,520
81,827 81,827
92,900 92,900
39,451 39,451

15,664 -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

)

21. INVENTORIES 21. 78
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREF T

Raw materials AR 62,850 61,536

Work in progress TER 21,413 18,334

Finished goods BURK G 31,677 10,004
115,940 89,874

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. ESREHMEWRTRIE

2023 2022

D= i

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETIT

Trade receivables B 5 rWRIE 62,181 64,665
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEERE (13,360) (12,186)

48,821 52,479

Trade deposit for raw materials B EE SiEe 50,094 61,887

Interest receivables FEU A B, 10,103 4,878

Prepayments and other receivables TR BUIE N CE b Uk R IE 5,373 4,959
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,248) (1,248)

64,322 70,476

Total trade and other receivables HoRHEMEBKERIERETE 113,143 122,955
FRAEYERERA T
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22.

B I RRM T (@

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss allowances)
as of the end of reporting period, based on invoice date, is as
follows:

22. ESGRHMERIE 2

RBEHR BEHRERE (NHREERE
) iR DT (IREEBEDIR)T

2023 2022

—EZ= T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREF T
Within 1 month REDEEA 8,406 28,047
1 to 2 months 12218 A 17,334 13,746
2 t0 3 months 22 31E A 5,959 5,841
Over 3 months 3@ A LA E 17,122 4,845
48,821 52,479

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB97,242,000.

Trade receivables are normally due within 90 days to 180 days
(2022: 90 days to 180 days) from the date of billing.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB35,999,000 (2022: RMB29,947,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
RMB28,777,000 (2022: RMB8,133,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 41(b)().

RZZBE__F—A—H BUREF&EHE
Z I8 7 AR #97,242,0007T ©

B 5 EWGRIE— A B3R 0 #EFT90
AZ1808 (ZE - -4 :908 %1808 )X
ZI|HY o

RZZZ=F+=ZA=+—H 4A&H
EZRWAFBHEFREROLEAA
R#35,999,000L (ZZEZZF: AR
29,947,0007T) B 7 # & B @ B 1) fE W BR
e B BAERER R - A R #528,777,0007T
(ZZ = =4 AR¥8,133,0007T ) i HA90
KA ETREBEL -

B 5 M E b MR
F41(0)@) °

TR B R 4 5 1B SR Y
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23. DERIVATIVES FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23.

PTESRTIT A
2023
—E=F
Assets Liabilities
gE =1
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AR®TR

Foreign currency contracts HNEEE K9
(notes 41(b) & 41(c)) (Biat41(b)41()) 771 (22)
2022
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Foreign currency contracts INEES A
(notes 41(b) & 41(c)) (Btata1b)fea1c)) 42 (18)

The derivative financial instruments represented certain
foreign currency forward contracts entered with the financial
institutions, which are not designated for hedge purposes
and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes
in the fair value of non-hedging foreign currency forward
contracts were credited to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as at end of reporting period. All of the foreign currency
forward contracts are settled within one year.

TTEERMTARKESBBBETINET
SNERIIA A RF AN RIEERNE
BEy WIRAFEFABREE I
SNEEHANN D FEZBRRE R R
AREBAER BB ERSNTE—
FRBEE-

hRAEMERERAE
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24. PLEDGED DEPOSITS

25.

Pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rates range from
3.25% t0 6.20% (2022: 1.25% to 4.80%) and represent deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits
are set out in note 41(b)(@).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits
amounted to RMB160,581,000 (2022: RMB161,332,000) for the
purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash commitments,
which carry interest at market rates range from 1.25% to0 6.40%
(2022: 2.25% t0 5.63%). The remaining time deposits amounted
to RMB160,398,000 (2022: RMB47,000,000) carry fixed interest
rates range from 3.45% to 5.82% (2022: 3.55% to 4.00%) per

24, BEBER

25.

B ER 1T F LN F3.25%%6.20% (=
T = 1.25%%4.80% ) K E E A K&
8 EEAARITUARRAEBERRT
A& B 7R

EHEMRTES
41(0)(@) <

O R FY (4 FF B R AR

RERBAESEEY
ReRkBEcEEYER %ﬁﬁimﬁl
EHReABEMTENERHTRA
%160,581,000%(:%::&%&%
161,332,0007T) * ¥ 135 F F ) F1.25%
§640%<:§::$ 2.25%%5.63% ) &t
Lo B2 T E BT RA R 160,398,000 (=

%?::E : AR #47,000,0007T ) 2 E F

annum with maturity over one year and therefore classified as FF KA F3.45%%5.82% (=T = —4F:

non-current assets. 3.55%Z=4.00% ) 5T 2 - BAR B —F - E 1k
DERIERBEE-

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out IRITHE SRR E G FBEEHN M F410)@)

in note 41(b)().
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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ARE ISR MY EE (50

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

26.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES . EZREMENSFIE
2023 2022
—EZ=H 2=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFTT
Trade and bills payables (note i) B S ENRIEREMNEE
(H7ati) 32,505 18,531
Accrued staff costs sHEE IR A 9,138 9,037
Payables for acquisition of property, BB BEAEEZ
plant and equipment FE T 3RIE 1,223 1,538
Payables for transportation fee e B & A 287 3,003
Other payables and accruals Hab BN ERTE R 14,500 12,727
Provision for medical compensation (note i) — BB 2 B (AT aEi) 4,290 4,680
61,943 49,516
Less: Provision for medical compensation B RIERIEER () 2
classified as non-current portion BEmE o BE (3,900) (4,290)
Current portion BB &L 19 58,043 45,226

Notes:

M-

The balance comprises bills payables of RMB16,396,000 (2022: RMBNIil).

ii. The provision for medical compensation is mainly estimated based on the ii.
assumption including past experience of the medical expenses.

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

HEHRBEENREARK16,396,0007T (ZF

ZZFARBERT)

EEMEE
BAGEM -

ERSTERREBAENERERL

RBMERR REZEHIR EHEN
PIERENREOREDTAT :

2023 2022

—E-= —_ ===
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Within 1 month KEDEEA 9,810 14,486
1to 2 months 1Z221@ A 5,109 1,432
2 to 3 months 22 31E A 249 543
Over 3 months 3@ B LA E 17,337 2,070
32,505 18,531

RRHEYIERERAT

“EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB ERR W (@)

e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

27.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS, 27. GTEBITEF BEA
SECURED
2023 2022
= T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARBFT
Fixed-rate bank borrowings, secured TEBIRITIENR A 86,900 53,950
The carrying amounts of the LA EREEEERZ
above borrowings are repayable: ARMEME:
Within one year —FR 76,900 53,950
Within a period of more than one year FEE—F AT HEAM
but not exceeding two years 10,000 -
Carrying amounts of total bank borrowings — $R17{& 7k 44 %8 ~ BRI (E 86,900 53,950
Less: Amount due within one year shown & : BB EHE 3R 2
under current liabilities —F AR HFRIE (76,900) (53,950)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities  ZEREN & EIE T HII/R 2 5B 10,000 -

The Group entered into certain banking facilities with certain
PRC banks with an aggregate amount of RMB111,900,000
(2022: RMB195,050,000), of which, the bank borrowings of
RMB86,900,000 (2022: RMB53,950,000) have been utilised at

the end of reporting dates).

The secured banking facilities are secured by certain
of the Group's land use rights, buildings and pledge
deposits amounting to approximately RMB34,156,000

(2022: RMB7,257,000) (note 14),

RMB103,788,000 (2022:

RMB108,225,000) (note 14) and RMB77,051,000 (2022:

RMB53,578,000) (note 24), respectively.

AEBBEETREMRITEILE THRT
RIEHEE ©B+£%8AAR111,900,000
T(ZZF - —F: AR¥195,050,0007T)
HPRBEAEREEFERRITERA
R#86,900,000L (ZZEZ—F: AR¥
53,950,0007T ) °

EERENTREEEUNAEEE T L
MmEAE - BFREERTRS BB
R ANRM34,156,000T (=T = =
F: AR#7,257,0007t) (K&E14)
AR #103,788,0007T (=T = —4F : A
R #108,225,0007t) (M&F14) AR
#77,051,000c (ZZEZZF: AR
53,578,0007T) (FffsE24) o
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28.

ARE ISR MY EE (50

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

28. S EE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Contract liabilities AREE 7,675 13,586

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB9,477,000.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the contract liabilities
mainly included the receipt in advance from sales of wooden
products. The Group expects that the unsatisfied performance
obligations will be recognised within one year form the end of
the reporting date.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

When the Group receives a deposit before the delivery of
goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised exceeds the amount of
the deposit. The amount of the advance from customers, if any,
was negotiated on a case by case basis with customers.

RZZE-_—_F—A—H AHABAAR
#9,477,0007T °

RoBE =R T - —F+-A=1+—
H &0BEEZRBURAREMEENR-
REEEHRBITOBEAREKERE A
BREH—FNEFEHER -

HEERAANEESEBRTEN —RX
R -

EARBEXNEM ZAKREIZER 1%
ERRNENRERELEANAE B
REWABBIRE TR -FBREPREN
SR (WE)IREARBBERARFHE

i 5 °

2023 2022
—E-=f —EF-—

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTRT ARBTT

At 1 January Rn—H—H 13,586 9,477
Amounts included in contract liabilities that ~ RERER AV AAE L

was recognised as revenue during the year B ER IR FIE (9.883) (5,940)
Cash received from sales of wonder products FELART &€ R BITHIB L)
not previously recognized as revenue due ERMARERBRAZ
to unsatisfied performance REHEBEAREEMILE 2

Be 3,873 10,037

Exchange difference EHER 99 12

At 31 December Rt+—HA=+—~H 7,675 13,586

RREMERERA T

“EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

rE R MR (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HE&SE
The Group leases an office premise in Hong Kong and the AEBEEEHE-—BRIAE KXFEZ
movement in lease liabilities during the year is as follows: HEBBEEHBERNT:
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E -
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFT
Lease liabilities payable: ERBARARE:
Within one year —FNR - 69
Amount due for settlement within 12 months 7+ — &8 RE R+ 2 & 48
show under current liabilities (RRBEETT) = 69
The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 5%. HAREEA RS E T E A% -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

30. DEBENTURES 30. &%

2023 2022

—EZ=HF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBEFT
Balance at 1 January R—A— B8 & - 4,376
Interest expenses (rote 8) FERZ (H:28) = 95
Interest paid RN = -
Exchange difference EHER - 322

Settlement by share subscription D RE R AEE

(note 32(a)) (K12£32(a)) - (4,793)

Balance at 31 December

Rt A=+—HH4&

Current portion BHAER 5

The Group entered into agreements with two independent
third parties for issuing unsecured debentures with principal
amounting to HK$20,000,000 in previous year. Its outstanding
amount was approximately at HK$5,350,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB4,376,000) as at 31 December 2021. The
debentures bear interest at 3% per annum, unsecured and
repayable on 29 August 2022.

On 22 August 2022, the Group entered into subscription
agreements with two debenture holders which each
of the holders agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of
35,501,048 new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.0768
(approximately RMB0.0674 per share). The completion of each
of the share subscription took place on 9 September 2022 and
the outstanding debentures and related interest expense have
been fully settled.

RUARFE AEEEMEBIFE =7
7] 37 19 5% - LA 81T 7K & 48 %8 /320,000,000
BLHEERES R_T=-_—F+=A
=+—H 2R ZHEEX A5350,000%8
7T (A O ARKEA376,0007T) - EHILE
BE3%st B #IEE - AN T ==_F )\ A
—t+hABEE-

RZZEZ_—FNA -+ -H AEHER
HEFRBATLRERZ SHBAR
B LAREE(E0.0768% TR EE & #£35,501,048
B iR (4& AR A R¥E0.067470) - B 15
BRRBHYR_ZE__FHLANBTR
REBESFREBEMNEXHE2EEE-

hRAEMERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BTSRRI EE (')

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

31. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) A RELATED 31. Bl (EBER)BESE=E
PARTY/A DIRECTOR ;I
Amount due from a related company JFEUR B RS~ B FIR
2023 2022
—EZZHE B
RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of party HHr28 Relationship B {& AER®TR AREFT

Green Seas Capital Limited Green Seas Capital Limited A private company controlled
by Wu Zheyan, a director

of the Company 71 71
Less: allowance for creditlosses il - EE BB R E —RARGE (ADF—
BRI ZAEDF (2) v
69 69
The amount due from a related company is unsecured, JEWEE AR RBEAEER REREE
interest-free and repayable on demand. KIEE -
Amount due to a director JEEEFIE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETFIT
Due to a director I EEFHIE 10,572 4,783
The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free, and ENEEREAERR 2EHEEEX
repayable on demand. BE-

1 56 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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V% SRR BT R

IV N =
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uﬁ)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

32. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

32. EX-mERKRE

(@) Share capital @ M
Authorised and issued share capital EERBBITRA
2023 2022
ZEZZ —F-C
Number of Number of
Par Value shares Amount Par Value shares Amount
BiEE BiHBE & BiAEE BirgE Ex
HKS (‘000) HKS'000 HKS (000) HK$'000
BT T TER BT T FiEL
Authorised: EE:
Ordinary share L@k 0.05 2,000,000 100,000 0.05 2,000,000 100,000
2023 2022
—E-= —E-C
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
Bin& B &8 BinEE +8
('000) RMB'000 ('000) RMB'000
FiE ARWTRE T ARETR
Ordinary shares of BER (8A0.058T) »
HK$0.05 each, issued BETRERE:
and fully paid:
At 1 January n—A—H 921,370 38,462 850,368 35,345
Shares issued upon loan RERER BT 2R
capitalisation (note 30) (HE30) - - 71,002 3,117
At 31 December W+ZA=+—H 921,370 38,462 921,370 38,462
HREYIERERAE

“EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nﬂ‘ ;ﬁﬁ%iﬁfgﬁﬁuffmg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

32. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

)

(ii)

(i)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference
between the par value of the shares of the
Company and proceeds received from the issue of
the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company is distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company would be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
71,002,000 shares were issued upon the loan
capitalisation at the subscription price HK$0.0768
(approximately RMB0.0674). The difference between
the par value of the share and the proceeds were
amounted to RMB1,676,000.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
currency differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of the entities with
functional currency other than Renminbi. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 3(b).

Statutory reserve

Transfers from retained profits to PRC statutory
reserve are made in accordance with the relevant
PRC rules and regulations and the articles of
association of the Company’ s subsidiaries
established in the PRC and were approved by the
respective boards of directors.

32. EX-HERRE #)

FEEIEE M E W

@

(i)

(iii)

A0 18

Pt B A A B IR () H E
HEITAR R FTUER PR
IAZ [RH) Z 5 o

BIEFREHSRANE XA T
B aEBEANES A HSIK
FARATBMRE MEEEEZ
DR E B EiE - AR RIZARE
EN —REKBIES RN
(EUEE

HE-_Z-_—_F+=-A=+—
AIEFE REEEXRLER
REE0.0768BTL (A AR
#£0.06747T ) 8 1771,002,000/%
B -ROBERAEEESH
ZE A ANR1,676,0007T °

BE 5%

BE B B AEAAREAIMY
DEEEERESREBY R
RITELNMAINEEZE X
R B M E3O) T E e &
STBCREHE -

EERE
BREENERERBIEER
1 TR R AR B8 o B AR R B AR B

L‘MSZK“?EEP Eifpava:olity=
RAMAEBERMAET X
CEMARESSHAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

32. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iii) Statutory reserve (Continued)

The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of its after-tax profit, as
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting
rules and regulations, to statutory general reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend to
shareholders.

Statutory general reserve can be used to make
good prior years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into paid-up capital provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25%
of the registered capital.

(iv) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net changes in the fair value of
equity instruments designated as measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

(c) Distributable reserves

The aggregate amounts of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company were
RMB225,380,000 (2022: RMB213,842,000).

After the end of the reporting period, the Directors
proposed no final dividend (2022: Nil).

o)

©

32. EX-HERRE @)

EHEEEREN (#)

(iiiy EERME(E)
b B0 #0 B B 2 7178 8 HH10% 89
BREER (K REREE
SRR RBOIMET) E— KR
TG AEH AT
B AR H50%5 Lt o 88 = R 1
AR E D R AIHETT

—ROEE R AR ERE
FEEBER(ME)  ArEHmE
BREA EEHEIRERNG
ER SR S B AN H925% o

(iv) DFERE(TTHE)
RFEFE(TUEE) BE
WIRESLIE E BIR A FEFTA
Hth 2 Weas 2 B T APTER
MERTHURIEE B A FER
AHRMEEREZBRARTAYZ
RNFHERFES -

Al 5 k&
AAARRREFEBEADRZ #E
4858 A A R 1#225,380,0007T (=&
——f: AR#213,842,0007T) °

PREBEERE EFTERR
BRPBEB (T —F ).

hRAEMERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬂvq% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ (mg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 33. BRESTEIRR MBS

AWARD SCHEME
(@) Share option scheme (@) EEMEEETE

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders
on 15 June 2012, the Company has conditionally adopted
the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contributions the eligible participants had or may have
made to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to the
Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors),
the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries and
employees of the Group and any other persons (including
consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers, in its
absolute discretion, have contributed or will contribute
to the Group. The Directors were authorised to grant
options to subscribe for shares of the Company and to
allot, issue and deal with the ordinary shares pursuant to
the exercise of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and to take all such steps as may be necessary
and/or desirable to implement and give effect to the
Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and under any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue immediately
following completion of the Global Offering (as defined
in the Company's prospectus dated 25 June 2012),
being 100,000,000 shares, excluding any shares that
may be issued under the options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
(or any other share option schemes of the Company),
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

BEZERER_ZT—Z_FA
THEBRBANRRE ARAEAR
{6 R A — TE BB AR A 5T 281 (T BB AR 48
HEll) - ABEE R GEskA g
HASEELEROEERZEA
ToRBBRESE - EEGRRE
MEE(BRHATES FRTESE
RBIERITES) ARAMBER
AzER AEBEEERESEER
BWERRGE I AR EEIED
ERMERNEMAT (BREERE
FIkEER ) R BRI - EFERE
REBRENRBERRARD &
e BT REERBERETS
I ERERITEMBITHER
& - A B2 BB Y B AT AR AT & %
FE2ERMEAVLERKEETH
— 1B E R IR AR A B R
Hih AR RIBRESImA T
BRENEEROEE &£ F
BAEREEKEE (ERRAQA
B AT - ~A=ZTHA®W
RIRER) TR B BT B2
10% + B1100,000,000 gD © T8
FEAEMBEBRESTE (AR F
Efa] Bt B AR A T 81D B9 4R B R K
B RS AR AE T Rl BITRORR M) - R
ARIRBERERE EBITHER,
3 E AR BIT R 5A A AR EE R
Hhe
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 33. EBREERKRAOEBFE )

AWARD SCHEME (continueq)

(@) Share option scheme (continuea) (@) EERRERTE (@)

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting, the number of shares
that may be granted to an eligible participant under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) shall not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue of the Company within any 12-month period
Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is required to be approved
by our independent non-executive Directors. Unless
otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules, the number of shares
that may be granted to a substantial shareholder or any
independent non-executive Director or their respective
associates under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company (including
both exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed
0.1% of the shares in issue, having an aggregate value in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period.

BOFERRBRRRRERAG LS
TTHAE BRI ERBRAE S
ER A AR R R & A — %
AERZEERLNBROEE (B
BRETERRITERERE)  T5&E
B AN B AL ] — {218 A #E
EETERMNI% - EAMAESE K
RAERITBABERETEZRE (F
ER TR KIEECFAEENHE
A(EER EWRR X TR BRE
BB FFATEEORE R
ARBBEREBRRAE ESITHE
B/ ETHRASERE  GRIRE
Bt g REMEMARREK
BAEAR T EIERRIEFBL
FRATEFHEHZANBEANEK
BB (BREDITERRITEEKR
&) - NS E R —E1218 A #RE
BTN 10.1%3 & HEEE RS
BEEL-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nﬂ‘ ;ﬁﬁ%i&%EMﬁﬂffmg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 33. EBREEIRKROEBEE
AWARD SCHEME (continued)

(@) Share option scheme (continuea) (@) EERRERTE (@)

There is no minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised, and the period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion, however, no options
shall be exercised 10 years after they have been granted.
The subscription price of a share in respect of a particular
option shall be not less than the highest of (a) the official
closing price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange; (b) the average official closing
price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of
a share. The Share Option Scheme shall take effect from
the date it is adopted and shall remain effective within a
period of 10 years from that date.

From the date that the Share Option Scheme became
effective and unconditional and up to the date of this
annual report, no share options were granted under the
Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
ordinary shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 92,137,051 (2022: 92,137,051), representing
10% of the issued shares of the Company.

MEATEBREAEITEALERE
B & 52 EABR - M B AR AT AT A R
MEBEEG2EMBERTE A
ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁmﬁ%@$gﬁﬁ
ﬁ@ﬁi%%%mknm%1
BERTIESE: ﬂ%“%ta
ﬁ%%%ﬁ%aﬁh@%mﬁy
%%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%i%
BEHRERMBNE 7RG FHK
TE: RO G EE - IERER B
BHEFMBBHRERNHBEZA
RIOFHERN—E/ R -

B BB ET 8 A RN R R AR
BEEAFHAM HEREERE
FHEIR B AE

RAFHRBE BRESEETA
TR T RAR D B 2592,137,057
Y (==&~ —%:92137,0510%) - 14
RABEEITIRDEI10% o
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e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 33. EBREERKRAOEBFE )

AWARD SCHEME (continueq)

(b) Share award scheme () R EEEET 2l

The Company, pursuant to a resolution passed on
14 December 2020, adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of (i) to
align interests of eligible persons, being the employees,
directors, officers, consultants or advisors of any member
of the Group, with those of the Group through ownership
of ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
dividends and other distribution paid on Shares and/or
increase in value of the Shares; and (i) to encourage and
retain eligible persons to make contributions to the long-
term growth and profits of the Group.

The aggregate number of shares to be made pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme (the "Award Shares”) will not
exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares capital
as at the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme
(i.e. of 20% of 741,200,400 Shares). The aggregate
number of Award Shares which may be awarded to a
selected person under the Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 2% of the total number of issued Shares as at the
adoption date of the Share Award Scheme.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined
by the board of directors, the Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing
from the adoption date.

The Award Shares, once issued, will rank equal to all
other issued Shares at that time and are not subject to
any vesting condition. The selected persons will therefore
have the right to receive dividends, dispose of and/or
exercise the rights of the Award Shares as per his/her
own wishes once the Award Shares were issued.

ARERE-_ZFT-_ZTF+-AF+m
FEBHARE CRAKRNDER
sHal (TRt 2B ET31)) - B W92
EBARNARERE(RMDIDES
B-EREEAEED2EME NS
ER/HRHEBE SEEBRAL
(AREEERKENEER EF-
BMAR ERRAEAA) 2 FmE
AREE M — B0 R(iE B Mg &
BERALHBAHASEELER
WREAERZ RBER R HEN -

RAR A0 RE) AR L 2 PR A D
(IRBBRHDBEAKIBEB
Rk REFHEZRADHITR
10 48 21,220% + (B1741,200,4008% A%
17 #920% ) < AR 95 A% 00 SR EF B4 T
—HEFEAT 2 RBRMDBETE
BERRABREHITROBERZ
2% °

RFEREERERMNKLL TAIK
0 2R &S B3R B B RT +4F
HREAE-

BERO —R#T BEERSHA
Hi 2 BTk AEFMERMBA - IF
TEEFMEBIREAR - EEAL
B E AR R BEITR IZ
WENEE BMBRE  HER
TT1E SRR A AD RO AR RERE R
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 33. EBREEIRKROEBEE
AWARD SCHEME (continued)

(b) Share award scheme (continued) b) M1 iEEIETE (&)

On 10 May 2021, a total of 66,618,016 Award Shares
were issued to 13 eligible persons (the “2021 Selected
Persons”), in which, as to (i) 36,970,000 Award Shares
were issued on 10 May 2021 to the Company’s
employees pursuant to the general mandate; and (ii)
the remaining 29,648,016 Award shares were issued to
certain directors pursuant to the general mandate and as
further approved in the Extraordinary General Meeting on
31 May 2021 and issued on 7 June 2021. The 66,618,016
Award Shares represented approximately 8.50% of the
total number of issued Shares and approximately 7.83%
of the total number of Shares in issue as enlarged by
the issue and allotment of the Award Shares. The 2021
Selected Persons are (i) senior and middle management
of the Group; (i) staffs who served the Group for a long

period of time and (jii) connected persons.

31 December 2023 and 2022

No Award Share was granted during both years.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 39,072,064
(2022: 39,072,064) Award Shares available for awarding to
eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme, which
represented approximately 4.24% (2022 4.24%) of the
issued shares as at the end of respective reporting dates.

RZZTE-_—FHA+H 2A13%
ABBAL (2021 BT AL])ET
A +66,618,016/% 52 B i% 15 EEP'
36,970,0000% #ZE) R (iR B =T =
FRAATE—REEMBITTFEAR
A8 I R(i)er T #929,648,016/% 52
BRHOBE_SE-_—FHA=+—
HERITHREF RS ERER
T%*E'Eé:%:—if\ﬂtﬁlﬂ$
NEHTEFETT 66,618,016/
HENRDEERE EITRO BEHLD
8.50% K A% 2% 17 I Fic B AR B A% 1) HE K
1% 2 B B1TIR D #8 £497.83% ° 2021
BEALTBROASEENSH LA
BERBAE: (WRBAXNEERY
B T & (iEgE AL -

—_E_=ER-_E__%+4+_-A
=+—H

P fE] 4 9 B AR L R AR A o

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—8"
NN 39,072,064 (—FE——
39,072,064 ) % 52 B i 10 7] 1R 1% AR
DEBTERTAEEBRAL ER
EEBREEPERBDBITRNL
A24% (Z B = —F :4.24%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases, as lessor, certain of the Group's investment
properties, (note 15) in the PRC were leased out under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB2,057,000
(2022: RMB1,499,000). Details of rental income are set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease rental receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants are as follows:

3. REMEZRH
NEB(EAEBAARBLEEHRER S
PHAEMRTPENE TREME (i
15) - FHER —REKBFHRRE
S AEBRFRERZESHBAEA
R#2057,000 (—F - —%F: AR
1,499,0007T ) - T & W A FF 1B #0175 W
=MIFE6 -

RZEBE_=FF+_A=+—H AEEHIR
BHEBPFT AT A BEEEHLN KK

2
HiR R R TR 2T

2023 2022
—E= —EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT ARBFT
Within one year —F R 1,635 1,620
After one year but within two years —FREMRFA 1,268 1,281
After two years but within three years MEBRB=FR 845 1,280
3,748 4,181
35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EAREIE
2023 2022
ZE-=HF ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Capital expenditure in respect of fRE BTGRP B U
the acquisition of other financial Hive@MEEDAOER
assets contracted for but not provided RETRZEAMEZ W
in the consolidated financial (K1:18)
statements (note 18) - 6,250
RREMERERA T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
& BRI T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

e

36. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS BEFORE TAX TO 36. MRBIAIET BB & XK MEBE
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS EHEER
2023 2022
—EC-=H —E-—
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
k=3 AR®TT ARBFT
Loss before tax: BrEiRIEE - (1,898) (7,143)
Adjustments for: AT EIEELFHE:
Interest expense on bank borrowings BITERREFFEAL
and debentures 8 1,331 960
Interest expense on lease liabilities HESENHERE 8 28 53
Depreciation on property, M BEREENTE
plant and equipment ) 29,754 31,937
Depreciation on land use right BEEERAEEZED
included within right-of-use assets THFEREsTE ab) 1,505 1,807
Depreciation on leased properties BREEFREEERD
included within right-of-use assets HEMELTE ab) 61 112
Depreciation of investment properties REMENTE 00) 1,714 1,526
Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative TELBIAATEF
financial instruments, net Bia/ (%) 7 8,932 (430)
Fair value (gain)/loss on other : J‘@ REER
financial assets LHE (W), EiE 7 (548) 470
Interest income FEHA 6 (16,194) (7,817)
Dividend income g 24 6 (727) 177)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HENE BEREE
plant and equipment BB/ (M) 7 30 (568)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—REIBARZ W 7 (838) -
Written off of other payables Hoh & IR MR - (4,910)
Written off of other receivables Ho MR IR M AR - 1,315
Bad debts written off E2ERMER - 2,863
Provision for/(reversal of) expected BRI IEREREE
credit losses on trade receivables EiEEE/ (Q#) 1,174 (5,752)
Exchange difference BN ERE - 4,605
Operating cashflow before movements HEESEHAN
in working capital LERSRE 24,324 18,851
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEm,/ B (26,066) 43673
Decrease in trade and other receivables 2 5 R E R FIER A 18,686 115,659
Increase in amount due from a e LT B B 1\ R IR IE AN
related company - (12)
Increase in trade and other payables =L &Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ FRIBE N 13,408 22,756
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHBEECRD),/Emn (5,918) 4,122
Cash generated from operations REXBMERS 24,434 205,049
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

37.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in Group's liabilities arising

37. REEEMELRBENYK

TRAAAEEREEDEENAEBZ

ek

g
from financing activities. ke
Interest-
bearing bank Amount
bhorrowings, Lease due to
secured  Debentures liabilites a director Total
HERT
fE® EftES
HEH &% HEAR 3 b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETRT  ARETR
(note 27) (note 30) (note 29) (note 31)
(H13227) (Hit30) (H#29) (H1i31)
At 1 January 2022 R-EB-Z%-A-H 54,000 4,376 51 " 58,438
Cash flow: Reme:
- Repayment of lease liabilties ~ —EEREEE - - (158) - (198)
- Interest paid -BEHRFIE (865) - - - (865)
- Obtained new bank borrowings — —EREHR1TE 53,950 - - - 53,950
- Repayment of bank borrowings ~ — BB R1THE (54,000) - - - (54,000)
- Advance from a director -REEFNEX - - - 193 493
Non-cash flows: FREME:
- New lease —-HHE - - 117 - 17
- Interest expenses -MERY 865 95 53 - 1013
- Settlement by share subscription  —HRGBERREE - 4,79) - - 4,79)
~ Effects of foreign exchange -EiZE - 3 6 (164) 164
At31December2022and  R-ZS-ZF+-A=+-H
1 January 2023 “E-=%-B-H 53,950 - 69 4783 58,802
Cash flow: Rene:
~Repayment of lease liabilities -EEHEEE - - 97 - 97)
- Interest paid -2HHE (1,331) - - - (1.331)
- Obtained new bank borrowings — —EVEHR1TER 86,900 - - - 86,900
~Repayment of bank borrowings  — BB SR1TER (53,590) - - - (53950)
- Advance from a director -REEENEX - - - 5,692 5,692
Non-cash flows; FHERE:
- Interest expenses -FlBRAEY 1,331 - 2 - 1,359
~ Effects of foreign exchange i3 - - - 97 97
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=f+ZR=+-H 86,900 - - 10,572 97472

hRAEMERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 38. TEFBERSH
31 December 2023 —Z2_=%+"RHA=+—H
The addition of property, plant and equipment was amounted WEWE WE k&FEANE633,000

39.

to RMB1,633,000, of which RMB220,000 was settled via the

7T H ARM220,000E R T -

deposit paid as at 31 December 2022. Details are set out in TZRA=T—HAIXNMREEZ -FIER
Note 16. FHIEE16 ©

31 December 2022 —E-__F+Z-H=+—H

On 22 August 2022, the Group has settled all the outstanding RZEZZFNAZ+ZH AEEEB

debentures and related interest expenses via issuance of
71,002,096 Shares. Details are set out in note 30.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company's directors as

39.

i85 771,002,096 % & 17 7B 18 BT B A B &8
BHERAAEANEER - FIB N30 -

EXREBLT RS KRG

TEEEEABHMN
AEEEEEREARHM (DM
R E12DBIRBOENEARESERE

disclosed in note 11 and certain of the highest paid employees FTESHEENFIA)WNT
as disclosed in note 12, is as follows:
2023 2022
—E°= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
Short-term employee benefits MEEE R 2,395 2,344
Equity-settled share award scheme VAR #E 45 B 0 IR 10 22 R 51 &)
expenses = = -
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRET IR 3 4
2,398 2,348

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

EERIZTHAEBNFMATHEZES
Z2E[MARBAETSBHEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. EXEER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the REBEBTEHEERNURRAEENERK
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while AEERERE FANTEBREB(ESKR
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation EamrTFEmARRFRESE R KE
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy Ha RS A F I MmO o
remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which AEBNEARERIEFEL EPERE
includes the borrowings, lease liabilities and amount due to a DRI 27 29K E 2 EH-HE
director disclosed in notes 27, 29 and 31, respectively, net of BEEENEEHIE BRERERRESE
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of BMARAATHEE AEGREZ (BEE
the Company, comprising issued share capital, share premium, BATIRA R 5B - (RE & M) Je H b
retained profits and other reserves. &) -

RIS R A E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 &#E R0 AN R EESIR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 41. €T H
(@) Categories of financial instruments @ =mIEE7
2023 2022
—E=F —F-—
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Financial assets eMEE

Amortised costs: B

Trade and other receivables B 5 & B A W IR 63,034 66,263
Amount due from a related company JFE Y B Bt B R IE 69 69
Time deposits FE TR 320,979 208,332
Pledged deposits BEBFR 77,051 53,578
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 32,499 113,765

Financial assets at fair value through # 2 -FE:AEMEEH
other comprehensive income: WmZEMEE
Equity investments N 3,378 1,445

Financial assets at fair value through #2\-FEFFAEZRH

profit or loss: THEE:
Derivative financial instruments THESMTAE 771 42
Other financial assets HibghEE 15,055 20,122
Financial liabilities SRR E
Amortised costs: ALK
Trade and other payables Z 5 R H MR FKIE 47,475 35,133
Amount due to a director JEREERHIA 10,572 4,783
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured &t B3R 1TE 5 B HEIF 86,900 53,950
Financial liabilities at fair value HRFEFABEZLY

through profit or loss: THEE:
Derivative financial instruments PTHESBTA 22 18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. EMIT A w)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amount due from a related
company, time deposits, pledged deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, derivative financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss, other
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade and other payables, amount due to a director
and borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(@  Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group.

The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables, amount
due from a related party, time deposits, pledged
deposits and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risk associated with its financial
assets. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposure to these credit risks is monitored
on an ongoing basis.

(o)

T ElE R E IR B R MR

AEENTIEZERTIABTEES N
Hofth &R IR - MR BB A R ROR
EHERE EERER R LB
TEEY RAFEFAEMET
WaEEBEAKRE RAFEFAR
@M TEEMTE BRFEFA
BEamHEteREE BHNMAM
e FR BN EEFAERER &
ST AFHBRBEMNEIRE-
HZETRTAAMNEREBRED
SRk (EERRENERR)  (F
ERBRERBES R TXHEHT
EEEZSFRROERER - EEE
EEFERZFRR AR R
A RO IREUE & 15

miEE R

@ I(FEERIBEFFIG
FERBEERAREZXSY
FREBTENEIMSAE
BRZMIGEROER

AEENEERRIZERAR
B 5 R H A8 WA - B YRR
B sR E I E AR 2R
Tr R RATAE B o AN SR B0 4R
FEEMERREMIEEE
A S B H 2 B A A MR R R
EERR-EEEHNETREE
BE UTHERZEELEER
B Ey ik O o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

BB ERR W (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Crediit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Time deposits/Pledged deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on time deposits, pledged deposits
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for time deposits,
pledged deposits and bank balances by reference
to information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on
time deposits, pledged deposits and bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no
loss allowance was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the
management makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed
the ECL for deposits are insignificant and thus
no loss allowance is recognised. In respect of
other receivables, impairment loss amounted to
RMB1,248,000 was made for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

41. €T H (&)
S REREIE B E NRBER

(o)

(%)

miEmE (&)

@

1EE R R E G (E)
TR 75 BRI R
7TAZER
FHFR - EEIRFERMETT
BHRNEERRER BAX
%ﬂiml%ﬁ%%%&%
WEEEMANEERITHIR
T REE2EIHBEETR
BREAGHEEEETRER
MELOBEERMELNBLRERE
BOHTHER BEBER
MIBITH AT 71218 A8 H
EEEB-BEFHBELREX.
EHEFER B EBEFERMET
HEeRm12E BB EE BB
REEWIRERN HILEE
ERBRER-

B R R e E
HREMERZ MRS B
EBREELEE T BAEL
BURAEBEZFBAELE
BEMTEEMTEMES HEAM
f% SRR & K A U B 1T
THEBIH - EBRERAE
L HEAVBRREEER
g BEEEN NEBEBRIK
12EAEREEBETIE TR
HEEFH - BE_T_=FK_
T oF+ZA=+—HIF
B ASEEFERESEHREE
BETEXN B TERIBR
B -PHMERRERS
HEZZT-_=FKk=-FT-—
+-A=+—HIEFEBEIR
B E5 18 A R #51,248,0007T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e SRR M EE (')

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Credlit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Amount due from a related party

The Group assessed the loss allowance for amount
due from a related party on 12-month ECL basis.
In determining the ECL, the Group has taken into
account the historical default experience and
forward-looking information as appropriate. There
had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments. For the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, ECL for amount due from a related
party, amounted to RMB2,000 was made.

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, the Group usually
requires upfront payment for sales of goods to new
customers. For export sales, the Group generally
requests settlement by letters of credit issued by
financial institutions or by wire transfer for certain
customers with good trading history. Individual
credit evaluations are performed on all new
customers requiring credit over a certain amount
and are also performed on existing customers on
a periodic basis. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and may take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. The Group offers
90 days of credit to export sales customers with
good trading history and offers 180 days of credit
to the existing domestic sales customers. Generally,
debtors with significant overdue balances are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

41. @I R (%)

(o)

TREAREERRERBER
(%)
HIBEE ()

@ (=EmRRBE G (&)

/E//f/?fj A IE

ZK%@%%%H%EHH?EE?TE
AT 4 UL BB 07 SR V1R
REF-RETHRHBEEBR
R AEECEEERELRE
B M ATEIEE R - B WA
R BE N
AEBEDEEREMNE ﬁf‘ﬁﬂ’]

BREREER

—BERELEOX -BE—

ZZFRZFTZ=F+=AR
=t+—HIFE BHEKEE
FIAHRTEBEEEEA

E#2,0007T °

B SEWTHA
B8 5 FE WK

(BESREN

AMEER

B 5= B & - bt

BRI X T 8E

RIFES

Hio— M=
& AE kB REWGK
BAREES
THEE-—RmE
WS R FRGIEKRER-

BimE AEHE
BEESHEFPREEEYNX
B AHENE

REERTEEFAS KB
HEE (BE T
EELRENEPME ) EHE -

AEBEMEERETEER
EomEFP e ETENER
AHE ME R B R ELT
BEEE 9=
REPBENIEIX MR IA
HEEE
BEPREERUAREPEEM
EHMGERRE AEERA
EEMEOEERP
BRHORMEERRERER
MNEEFFPRHIBRMEE
EHEERS
TEH) FIT
ik S ERE—
AR E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬂvq% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ (mg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 41. EMIT A @)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b SREREEBERBUR
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continuea) WA (&)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) @ 1EEERREEFG (&)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At 31 December 2023, 40.9%
(2022: 26.0%), of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest trade receivable balance
and 76.6% (2022: 68.7%), was due from the five
largest trade receivable balances.

The Group applies the simplified and general
approach to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected loss provision for trade
receivables.

BZEWHE (E)
AEBEFMEENEERR -
FTEXERPMEBFEAM
FE MAIEREEPILE
MITESIMEMBER Bt
EAEEEHENEFPNE
REBRK HEESESEHH
FEERB-R_ZE_=4+=
A=+—RH B5EKIER
BHREL09% (ZT=ZZF:
260%) BERAEE & KT
P EWGRIE  176.6% (=%
ZZF:68.7%) Bl E KX
B R EWGRIE -

AEEERGER —RITER
B % B 75 R 5 2 R SR O P AR
EMRREEBRERE
HEAMEREZEYFENE
MR B RERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Credlit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables, other receivables and amount due
from a related company:

@) Trade receivables

As part of the Group's credit risk
management, the Group uses debtors’ aging
to assess the impairment for its customers
because these customers consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the
customers” abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The
following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed on a collective basis by
using provision matrix within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired). Debtors with significant
increase in credit risk with gross carrying
amounts of RMB756,000 as at 31 December
2022 were assessed individually.

41. BT H#®)
b =rREkkEEREBEEEEK

(%)

TiEEM (F)

@) (SEmEBERAETG ()
TEREFIEBAEEANE 5 E
ISR T L s MK OE % E
— AR D A FUE MR B AR
REHEEERZEN

@) EHZEKE
EAEAEEEERRE
B —an REEEE
B ABRE RAT i H
EPMRBE BAREL
EEPRIEAEARH
AR B EHNNER
EERBRRTEPR
BeRBRZANMER
HAFRIEMRE o TRIR
HEBRE ZEWHKIERE
EREBONER &
L i U FRIE 2 1 B E 1
BEEEEBEEERE (K
BEEFERE)AEA
BB EET A
T _—_F+_H4
—t—HBEREMAEAA
R #756,0007C ) 1= B &
B BB E G A (E 75 A
TEE AT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 &#E R0 AN R EESIR)

41. @I R (%)
cRtEREEBEEZ MR

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuec)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continued) gk (&)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) @ 1EEERREEFG (&)

@) BZENNE (&)
As at 31 December 2023
R-E_=%+-RA=+—H

@) Trade receivables (Continued)

176

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount  allowance
AHGEE (%) EEERS BERER
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AR®TR
Trade receivables BARBRE
(not credit impaired) (FEERE)
Current BNEA 1.69% 26,182 (442)
Less than 1 month past due BWEDRAE A 2.99% 6,144 (184)
1t0 3 months past due HHZE3ME A 8.06% 1,079 (87)
More than 3 months but less E1HA3ME A DA
than 12 months past due BOR12(E A 42.99% 28,178 (12,115)
More than 12 months past due B2 AL 88.96% 598 (532)
62,181 (13,360)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. EMIT A w)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
@) Trade receivables (Continued)

b) T rEREERFENMBER
(%)

miEER (&)
@ 1FEREREREG (&)
@) BZEKNE (&)
As at 31 December 2022
R-ZZE__F+-A=t+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance
RHEEX %) HREERAR EERE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETR

Trade receivables BAEGRE
(not credit impaired) (FEEERE)
Current BE 1.88% 32,025 601
Less than 1 month past due BEDRE A 23.14% 20,966 4,852)
110 3 months past due #H1Z=3(E A 20.18% 848 (172)
More than 3 months but less BH3MEA N £
than 12 months past due BLR12(E A 54.44% 9,361 (5,096)
More than 12 months past due @12 A AL 100% 709 (709)
63,909 (11,430)
Trade receivables with significant ~ {EERERBEZEIE N
increase in credit risk 2 S WA - 756 (756)
64,665 (12,186)
RREYERERAT

“EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 &#E R0 AN R EESIR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuec) 41. €T H#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b =FEREIEBZREEK
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continued) WA (&)
(@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuecd) @ (EERREREEF G (&)
(@)ii) Other receivables and amount due from a (@) F b fEY I R FEH—
related company BT I Fl sk E

As at 31 December 2023
R-E_=f+-A=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount  allowance

RUBHRE (%) BEERH ERER
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARWTR

Other receivables Hth R IE
12m ECL 12EAEHEEEE 23.29% 5,358 (1,248)
Amount due from Bl —EmRE AR
a related company R
12m ECL 12MEAEHEEEE 2.82% 71 (2)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. BT H#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b 2@EREEBZREEK
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continued) miEER (&)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuea) @ (EERERREEF G (&)
@)(ij) Other receivables and amount due from a @iy E A Y K TE R fEH —
related company (Continuea) I EGH 22 Bl 5 (4E)

As at 31 December 2022
R-Z-—F#+-_A=1+—-H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance
EHEBEX (% HREELSR EEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREBTRT

Other receivables Rt =IE
12m ECL PREAEHEEEE 12.38% 10,079 (1,248)
Amount due from Bl —HREAR
a related company RE
12m ECL P2EAEHERER 2.82% 71 (2)

hRAEMERERAE /I 79

“EC=FFR



180

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

BB ERR W (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Crediit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on historical debts
recovery rates over the past 3 years. The rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

In measuring the expected credit losses, the
trade receivables have been assessed on a
collective basis as they possess shared credit risk
characteristics. They have been grouped based on
the days past due.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised)
when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Failure to make payments within 180 days
from the invoice date and failure to engage with
the Group on alternative payment arrangement
amongst other are considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

Receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Debt financial assets other than trade receivables
determine the ECL based on the 12-months ECLS.
The expected loss rates are simply based on the
historical debts recovery rate and adjusted by
forward looking factors including future economy
conditions.

41. €T H (&)
S REREIE B E NRBER

(o)

(%)

miEmE (&)

@

=B mR R B E L (&)
BEHEBREERBE=FHHN
JEE b 48 75 [0 Mk oK o 5% [ Ui R AR
A8 BE LA S R R 52 BRI S HA
RSB AR - B AT AR A R AR
& B Y R WORTE R R A O AR OB
RAEIE

R ERMEEEER B5
U FIERAE LB EER
BRBMC RESEEELETT
BN ARE 7§82 FS i
B

HETHD

B 5 REGRN LS RS
] 4 13 5 LA 8 (B EROH g
R) e ReEBE #EEHHE180H
PSR B R ) A 5% B AR DA B
A R Z B R AN AR R EE
B IETE MR B FRIA R FE AR

B 4 0 7 5L ) P 90
# RIS ER ORENAR
EF-

Bk B 5 1 YOIE DA S OB 7
TREERE12MEA WIEEE
ERERERMEREER &
HRfR L0 RAE E PO R L EH5 O
I 5B BB AR AR KA EAR
AR AT R RETHAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Credlit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment allowance. The
Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose it to credit risk.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for trade
receivables/other receivables/amount due from a
related party.

41. @I R (%)

TREAREERZERRR

(%)

miEmEE (&)

@ 1EEmERgETG (&)
RmiEERBRIEGEPBARR
KA E MR ER RO

BE

MEENKEE A5HE

b R Bt H T R 5015 & R R AR i
ETHELR

#hE 5 UK, R
T8,/ JE W RE B 75 BR IR R TR 0 IS
BREYRNTERAR.

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired) 12m ECL
2HRY
BEHEEBE
(FEEHERE) 12BA RMEHEE
Due from
Trade a related Other
receivables company  receivables Total
HOBERE BEREBAT HAEERE @
RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARETT  ARBTRL ARBFT ARBTFT
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—F—HA—H 17,938 2 1,248 19,188
Reversal of impairment losses  FRGREEBE 2B F8
during the year, net (5,752) - - (5,752)
At 31 December 2022 RISEZZE+ZA=+—-H 12,186 2 1,248 13,436
Provision for impairment losses 4 AR{E 1B & s 35
during the year, net 1,174 - - 1,174
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=¥+-A=+-H 13,360 2 1,248 14,610

hRAEMERERAE /I 8"
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

BB ERR W (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

®)

Crediit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In determining the impairment losses for trade
receivables, amount due from a related company
and other receivables, the Group has made
individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade receivables, amount due from a related
company and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience and forward-
looking information.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and
derivative instruments. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

41. €T H (&)
S REREIE B E NRBER

(o)

(%)

miEmE (&)

@

®)

1EE R R E G (E)
TEHEEE S EMHIE Bl —
i A B 8 ) K T8 R L i JE WK
BERREBREE  AfBEIRE
RSP B8R AR B AR
EEEAEE SR IE &
U — R R A R kB R Ho A g
WK TE R AT YL ] \iz&f??ﬂ%
EREN

BB E AR
AEBHBEATERERER
BESFXR ﬁ&ﬁ%fm’m\‘%*ﬁ%@
DR T NERAEE G
E%ﬁﬂ’]ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬁéi%é%ﬁ
WIS 7T R B ARG B R
‘%ﬂﬁﬁiﬁhﬂﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂu@béﬁ
TP

TRAMKEE SR EERIT
ATAEMFIGRE QIR - ARK
BB B A RE 1 Z K T
EFHHPNeRMABERTRR
ﬁiﬁs%_fﬁ*” Hegms BH
ITIBEBRITR R 0y AT Bt
ZZM‘J'E:E?E%—?E%?M%?XE’J%E
TEFBREERFTHRKHER
WeBMIENTESRBEMNE
HI AR ERER A R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. BT H#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b 2@EREEBZREEK
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continued) migEkE (&)
(b)  Liguidity risk (Continuea) b) FTEEzERE (&)
2023
8%
More than ~ More than Total
Weighted Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but contractual Carrying
average 1 year or less than lessthan  undiscounted  amount at
interestrate  on demand 2 years 5 years cash flow 31 December

®+ZA

—FhE  BE-FE bk THRMR  =+—BM

miEgFyFIE BEX PRZE BOREF  RERERE IRE{E
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTR  AE®TR  ARWTR ARRTR  AE%TR

Trade and other payables B REMERFE - 47,475 - - 47,475 47,475
Amount due to a director ERESHE - 10,572 - - 10,572 10,572
Interest-bearing bank borrowings i BE{TER 2.95% 78,662 10,204 - 88,866 86,900
136,709 10,204 = 146,913 144,947
2022
ot St 3
More than More than Total
Weighted Within 1 year but 2 years hut contractual Carrying
average 1 year or less than less than undiscounted amount at
interest rate on demand 2years 5years cash flow 31 December
®’+ZA
—ERE HB-£E BE—F HEEN:E) =t—Hf
METHH = REX PRZF BIRRF ReMERE RHEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETRL  ARETR

Trade and other payables BHREMERTE - 35133 - - 35,133 35133
Amount due to a director ERESHE - 4,783 - - 4,783 4783
Lease liabilities BEAE 5% 72 - - 72 69
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  FHEBTER 146% 54,342 - - 54,342 53,950

94,330 - - 94,330 93935

hRAEMERERAE /I 83
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

BB ERR W (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

©

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to pledged deposits (see note 24),
and time deposits (see note 25), fixed-rate bank
borrowings (see note 27) and lease liabilities
(see note 29). The Group's interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (a) below.

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group's total borrowings at 31

41. @I R (%)

) TrELEREIREEFRER

(%)

miEEE (&)
© FEmE
AEEEEERCDEIRFEX

( 5B 5E24)

EHER (R

i£25) - EBRITHE R (R M

27)

MHEEEE (K29 /M
NFEF R -

ERERA

AR EMEHERFN T X

@ -

YiES 9
TRHAIWNR-ZZ=_Z=ZF
r—ZE=-—_F+—-A4

December 2023 and 2022 =+ —HBASEEERE
R E AR -
2023 2022
2= —Eo-E
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
ERfE &# ERAE X
%  RMB'000 % RMB'000
AR®FE ARETIL
Fixed rate borrowings: ERER:
Lease liabilities HERRE - - 5% 69
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured =t B R1TE - AHEIR 2.95% 86,900 1.46% 53950
Total borrowings e @z 86,900 54,019
Sensitivity analysis b EEST
At 31 December 2023 and 2022 the Group’s RZE_=Zph_ZT -
total borrowings are fixed rate borrowings F+—-_A=+—H 'K
therefore sensitivity analysis is considered not SEMNERBEREE
necessary. MEBF B EEE
THEE D -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continuead)

@

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in USD, AUD and NZD, currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate.

During the years presented, the Group entered
into foreign currency forward contracts with
major state-owned banks in the PRC mainly to
acquire RMB to mitigate against currency risk
on receivables, payables and cash balances
denominated in USD, AUD and NZD. All of the
forward exchange contracts have maturities of less
than one year.

The aggregate contract sums of the foreign
currency forward contracts outstanding as at
31 December 2023, denominated in foreign
currency, were US$6,000,000 (2022: US$1,000,000)
and AUD3,000,000 (2022: AUD2,000,000). At
31 December 2023, these foreign currency
forward contracts with their fair values were
recognised as derivative financial instruments
(assets) of RMB771,000 (2022: RMB42,000) and
derivative financial instruments (liabilities) of
RMB22,000 (2022: RMB18,000) (note 23). The
changes in fair value of the foreign currency
forward contracts of approximately RMB749,000
(2022: gain of RMB24,000) were recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2023.

41. €T H (&)
tREAREEAZEBER

(o)

(%)

iR (&)

@

B R
AEEHHNEERR 2
RAEREEIAINEEIR
A EE (KT BRTRkHAE
M)t EMNHEERRE (B
ERWHIE  BNFRBEER S
R MOTENERRER -

FIRERER RNEEEGEHY
R FRTFILINEERA
HEAANRBARRIKAZET
YR T N ¥ 74 B TTRT (B B R UK
B ENFREMEEESRNE
B R FrBEEBNES LN
FHERE R —FUAR-

RZEZ=F+=_HA=+—
H REIE®IINERE D
NN ENENBER
6,000,000 T (Z T ==
1,000,000% 7t ) }.3,000,000
SR T (= F = — 4 :2,000,000
Bi) W-ZZE-—=F+=-A
=+ —H ZEINEERHEL
WATFERTESMITA(E
E)AR771,0005t (=
—ZF: AR¥42,0007T) &
MESMIA(BB)ARE
22,000 (ZE=Z=F: AR
#18,0007T ) #E 7R ([ 5£23) ©
HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—
Hﬁifg SN R B A AR
NFEZEHARE749,000
T —F:REARE
SRE

T (=
24,0007T) kR A 18 2%
bR mRERPER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

BB ERR W (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

()

41. @I R (%)

b) S rEREERFENMBEER

(#&)
gk (&)
Currency risk (Continued) @ EEELRE (&)
The realised fair value loss on settlement of the FRNHINERBEVEESD
foreign currency forward contracts during the year BHAFTEBBHAARE
amounted to approximately RMB9,681,000 (2022: 9,681,000 (ZZF = —F: |
gain of RMB406,000). = A R #406,0007T) °
Exposure to currency risk ) HEERE
Except for the foreign currency forward Br T A ERR R HNEE R
contracts as mentioned above, the following Ha# TERFWNASE
table details the Group’s exposure at 31 ER T =—=F+=A
December 2023 to currency risk arising from =+—HBEESBUEE
recognised assets or liabilities denominated BN EEBGHER
in a currency other than the functional HEMNEEREELA
currency of the entity to which they relate. f& M 2= £ i%?“%%HBA
For presentation purposes, the amounts BITEZ - E R
of the exposure are shown in Renminbi, AR R 1%)3% s
translated using the spot rate at the end of HRERENFRRE -
reporting period. Differences resulting from M AN R AN T
the translation of the financial statements of REEBIERNEBYMT
the entities with functional currency other WMEABRERAEENEZE
than RMB into the Group’'s presentation Bl E W E A R AR
currency are excluded. Hhe
2023
—E”=
usb AUD NzD
E 3/ AT MERT
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR®TR AR%TR
Assets BE 98,787 227,707 37,223
Liabilities afE (3,903) (10,076) -
Gross exposure arising from BER ﬁ?&’é &
recognised assets and liabilities ~ E4£HE K& 94,884 217,631 37,223
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

@)

0

(in)

41. @I R (%)

b) = rEREERFENMEER

(%)

miEmE ()
@ EFmEE(E)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued) ()  EmEE ()
2022
usb AUD NZD
ETT BT AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARETR
Assets BE 81,265 121,217 30,457
Liabilities BB (1,228) (14,676) -
Gross exposure arising from BRALE &f% fi
recognised assets and liabilities ~ E4 KA 80,037 106,541 30,451
Sensitivity analysis (i) HEESH
The following table details the Group's TREFRTAEEH A

sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase and
decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2022: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis also
includes intra-group balances where the
denomination of the intra-group balances
is in a currency other than the functional
currency of the lender or the borrower. A
positive number below indicates an increase
in post-tax loss and other equity where RMB
strengthen 5% (2022: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on

R S ABEINES% (=
T ZF 5% )R A
BREE 5% (T ==
F5%)REMEEE
B A B RS SN NE R
S AR E K
REBEHIINEEEXRS
12 7] B L 9 FT1E - B
BUESITEBEREN
HINEBEEEKIER -
WHEREHRARELIR
BAER% (ZFE -
F:5%)RHNETE R E
b §RRE 2T IR B &
SEENGEH MEBER
i*ﬁ%tk%?‘i‘k%?x}\ﬁ’]
T aE B M LAY B #E 5T
B LTEHEXRTRTAR
BEMBBEESAESYS
(ZZ - —F:5%) )R/
B BB E A ERIE N
MEAREHBBREY
BE% (==

the loss and other comprehensive income 5% ) K E BB HE M
and the amounts below would be negative. 4R /\Hézﬁ—{l? 4R B8
REOgE UTeEE

BAH-
RIS R A E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
rE SRR M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 &#E R0 AN R EESIR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €T H#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b =FEREIEBZREEK
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continued) gk (&)
(@  Currency risk (Continued) @ EEELRE (&)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i) BEEDN (&)
2023 2022
- < Janl - T HF
Decrease/ Decrease/
(increase) (increase)
in loss after in loss after
Increase/ tax and Increase/ tax and
(Decrease) increase/ (Decrease) increase/
in foreign (decrease) in foreign (decrease)
exchange in retained exchange in retained
rates profits rates profits
friREER PR e B
FB/(L3H#) T8,/ (EF)

SMEEE  REFHEN SN B = R ARE 4 F
7 (FR) L#*/(TB) LA/ (TE) £/ (TR)

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Usb E 5% 3,558 5% 3,001
(5)% (3,558) (5)% (3,001)

AUD BT 5% 8,161 5% 3,995
(5)% (8,161) (5)% (3,995)

NZD AR 5% 1,396 5% 1,142
(5)% (1,396) (5)% (1,142)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

©

commodity price risk

(i)

The major raw materials used in the
production of the Group’s products include
fir and pinewood. The Group is exposed
to fluctuations in the prices of these raw
materials which are influenced by the
global market as well as regional supply
and demand conditions. Fluctuations in
the prices of raw materials could adversely
affect the Group's financial performance. The
Group historically has not entered into any
commodity derivative instruments to hedge
the potential commodity price changes. The
Group monitors its commodity price risk by
widening its supply base and performs bulk
purchase when the price of raw materials is
low.

The Group invested in commodity during the
year and is exposed to fluctuations in the
prices of commodity which are influenced by
the gold market. Prices of gold are affected
by a wide range of global and domestic
political and economic factors which are
beyond the control of the Group. A decrease
in such prices could adversely affect the
Group's financial performance. The Group will
keep monitor to its commodity investment.

41. @I R (%)

b) T rEREERFENMBER

(%)

miEmEE (&)
€ B EEER

(i)

AREERNEEEMFT
REIERMHBELAXK
R AR o 7R & B H B 7%
E R FHE R E A
oMz EEMBEE
BR2HRM G L& IE
ERAROFZE R
FHE 8 B9 R B 7 BE ¥ K
SENMBRAELED
Mgg KEETEET
YEMEAITETAY
HEEEMmERES-
AEEEBMAHER
i & R BRI
RETHERBN TR
EERmERAR-

AEBRFARERE
e URIWEET S
FENERERRDY
Z2-F2ERIEHRK
BABA REERRY
& RNEBEEXREH X
FEBTHRAEHAE
B & B 75 2% 3R A AT R
FE-ARBBBERE
ERmRE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

BB ERR W (@)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

©

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating
the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to
the extent it is available. For instruments with significant
unobservable inputs under Level 3, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation technigues
and inputs to the model.

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

©

41. @I R (%)

TRMIAZ AV EFE
BN B REN B A AERE A
DEMTAZAFEFE -HEHE
R ER AEHERESHRE
NERMSABERE -HNAR
FZMTEXRTABEBAENT
B AEEBFE=TAERMGE
ADETT (B - B IR B B & & 4% HM 3P
HEMEZSE REILEE NG
BT AR R B ) A BRI ©

() BAFEFENEBMIA
RFEERHE
TREJIAEE ST ARR
& HAME A R B i R I A AT
EHNRFE W BERBEERI

B & ER B35 - A FEE
BEBEN=BL2FERE-B

NEESEDENER TR
E & BT AR A BUR
ARt RERERET

s FEMMEE:EZERR
—&w AR (AR E
ERRBEEHEEBR
BT 5 2 R T B,
B)FFENAFE

. F_REE-FRAE=
R ABE (BlRaEE
HE R ERE A
HE)ELTAFEAEKX
A B R A BB 2
WAFE T EEE
ABEAETSHEEY
EIPN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 41. BT H#®)
(c) Fair value measurement of financial © =MITAEZRFEFE
instruments (continuec) (%)
(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value () BRLAFEFENESEMIA
(Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (Continuead) RNFEZRGE (E)
o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using . FE=RHEE-HEFAEK
significant unobservable inputs A RE ASETE
B AFE

31 December 2023
—®-=§+zA=+-H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8 %@  ¥=4 it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARMTRL AEMTE ARMTR

Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRZY

through profit or loss SREE

- Derivative financial instruments (ote 23 —$T4 & BT A (#1:#23) - 771 - 771

- Other financial assets (note 17) ~HEteREE (H#17) - 15,055 - 15,055
Financial assets at fair value through BATESALZMZE

other comprehensive income hEmeRmEE

- Unlisted equity investments (rote 17) —ELMRARE (§13£17) - - 3,378 3,378

- 15,826 3,378 19,204

Financial liabilities at fair value BATERARRZ

through profit or loss SRAE

- Derivative financial instruments (ote 23 —$T4E & BT A (#123) - 22 - 22

FRIAEYIZERBERAT

“EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬂvq% i&% IZﬁL FI_II_ (mg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €T H ()
(c) Fair value measurement of financial © &MITEZAFERE
instruments (continuea) (%)
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value () BRATEFENEERMIA
(Continued) (#&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

RNFEZRGE (E)
31 December 2022

“Z--F+ZA=+-H
Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—i E-® Bt mat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®TT ARETT ARETR
Financial assets at fair value BRTEFABRL
through profit or loss SREE
- Derivative financial instruments (rote 23)  —1T4£& B T & (#1523) - 82 - 12
~ Other financial assets (note 17) —-EtweREE (H#17) - 20,122 - 20,122
Financial assets at fair value through BATESALZMZE
other comprehensive income hEneREE
- Unlisted equity investments (mote 17) —ELMRARE (f1:£17) - - 1,445 1,445
- 20,164 1,445 21,609
Financial liabilities at fair value BATEFAEREZ
through profit or loss SRAE
- Derivative financial instruments (mote 23)  — 114 & BT E (f717#23) - 18 - 18

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group's policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

HEZZ-_=FK-FT -

+ZA=+—BItFE F—
MEF_HTAMITEEY
TEEAFE =B E = e
e REBENBE AN R FE
EROE MRS B E R
BHERRHEREMER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

41. @I R (%)

: . : AT | =
(c) Fair value measurement of financial  =RMIAEZRFEFE
INnstruments (continued) (#%&)
(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value () RATEFENERMIA
(Continued) (#&)
Valuation technigues and inputs used in Level 2 fair FE_RNFlEFTE ARG
value meastirements BT R 8 A E 15
Fair value as at 31 December Fair value
Financial assets/financial liabilities Assets/(liabilities) hierarchy  Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)
R+ZAZ+—-HZLFE KEEER
SMAESHAR RE/(AR) HE HERRREIEHARE
2023 2022
—EC=H —E--F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AE%TR AREFT
Derivative financial instruments 771/(22) 42/(18) Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated
fTEeRmIE £ based on forward exchange rates (from observable
forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period) and contracted forward rates, discounted at
arate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
HRRERE - RRASMERBRBER (RIE
BREBRM A BRRBER) NG ORAERGE
TiERBTRARSEHFEERBOLL ZETHR
Other financial assets
HitemEE
- Investment products in PRC bank 15,055 20,122 Level 2 With reference to the net assets value of such investment
- RPBERTZREER E -t products as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

announced by the PRC bank.
ZEHARTAMNASREERR_T_=4F
RZFZZHTZA-+ - BWAESE-

hRAEMERERAE

“EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B I RRM T (@

/\\/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments (continuea)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value

(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair

value measurements

Unlisted equity investments

The fair value of the Group's unlisted equity
securities at 31 December 2023 and 2022 has been
arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out by
an independent professional valuer not connected
with the Group. The unlisted equity securities are
categorised into level 3 of fair value measurement.

Fair value as at 31 December

41. @I R (%)

Fair value

©

Valuation technique(s)

TRTAZAFEFE
(4)
() BAFEFENSMIA
(#)
AT EE A
BRI RBAL
3 L IRARE

REBEFLEIRAFFN-Z
—=FR=-ZFE-_=_F+=A
=+ —BHRAFEDREEAR
EEmEEN B EE(EE
REITH (A E - %tﬁﬂﬁzﬁ*ﬁ
FoBERATEFER=

significant

Financial assets/financial liabilities Assets/(liabilities) hierarchy  and key input(s) unobservable input(s)
R+ZB=+—-RZLhE LFEER
SMEE SRR HE/(AR) HE HERTREERANRE EXTARRGARE
2023 2022
ZBZ= —To-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR AREFT
Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
BOTEGARMEZEREZ SREE
- Unlisted equity investment 3,378 1,445 Level 3 Using the price/book ratios of Discount for lack of

—FEMRARE

F=R

comparable listed companies
adjusted for lack of
marketability discount.
FERA ETARM TR R
B EEETRETRR

marketability of 30%
(2022: 30%).
Bz B 2 E30%
(ZZ=ZF:30%) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €T H ()
(¢) Fair value measurement of financial  =RMIAEZRFEFE

instruments (continued) (#)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value () RATEFENERMIA
(Continued) (#)
Valuation technigues and inputs used in Level 3 fair FE=RFlEFTE @A
value meastirements (Continuea) BRI AEE ()
Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at ERERTAIHEE AR
fair value based on significant unobservable inputs (B=)B2FEIENS
(Level 3) are as follows: BT EMEROT

Financial assets at FVTOCI
BROTEIAEM
2EHBBZEMEE
2023 2022
ZE-=F ==
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT

Unlisted equity securities: FELTRAFES
At 1 January m—A—H 1,445 2,342
Purchased e 8,750 -
Total losses: e M
—in other comprehensive —REMEEKES
income, net of tax (fOBRFRIE) (6,817) (897)
At 31 December R+-—B=+—H 3,378 1,445
(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) RERLAFEIENEHEER
not carried at fair value BENATE
The carrying values of the Group’s financial 7 52 B AR AN S B 8 AR AR B BR
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are Wem TAREERKESN
not materially different from their fair values as at T_=FRZZF-_F+ZA
31 December 2023 and 2022. =t+—HBOAFETEERE

HBo

hRAEMERERAE

“EC=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

B I RRM T (@

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42.

OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries are set out below. The class of shares
held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

RAEEMBAR Z2EHR

BB ARNNFERIINT 5 2

BN P RE B BB D

NIRRT AR o

Place of Particulars of Attributable equity interest
incorporation/ issued and paid up/ held by the Company Principal activities
Name of company establishment registered capital FOTRBEERE and place of operation
B BETRBERS/ Direct Indirect
LRER B BREFDOEE HE & TERBREENR
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-c& -—T--f ZBI=§f -T--F
Green Oceans Investment Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands 10 shares of USD1 each 100% 100% - - Investment holding in the BVI
(the "BVI')
Green Oceans Investment Holdings Limited RERAES 10RBRIETHRI 100% 100% - - REBRZHSRERR
([EBR%ES])
King Wood (Hong Kong) Holding Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HKD1 each - - 100% 100%  Sales of outdoor wooden
products in Hong Kong
A (B8 BRERAR i 10,0008k B R 178 TTAIR 1D - - 100% 100% REBHEPIRER
Fujian Zhangping Kimura Forestry Products Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
("Zhangping Kimura") fnotes () and (i) RMB660,000,000 outdoor wooden products
inthe PRC
RREETANKEERAA HE AR AR %660,000,0007T - - 100% 100% RAEEEREEPIRER
(DEFAML) (H2OZ0))
Merry Garden (Xiamen) Household Co, Ltd. The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Dormant
(notes (i) and (i) RMB5,000,000
ZEBRE (BN XRARAE (MR 6)) HE & A AR 5,000,0007T - - 100% 100% EEEH
Zhangping Merry Garden Import and Export Co. Ltd. ~ The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Sales of outdoor wooden
("MG Import and Export") (notes (i) and (i) RMB30,000,000 products in the PRC
ETTEEZEELOERAF HE A A R 30,000,000 - - 100% 100% R EHEPIMER
(ZBRERLO]) (H20RM)
Merry Garden Holdings Limited (note (i) Hong Kong 1 share of HKD1 each - - 100% 100% Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REXERRERAR (M) EE BIRIETHRS - - 100% 100% REBRERR
Zhangping Merry Garden Biomass Energy The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
Development Ltd. (motes (i) and (ii}) RMB20,000,000 renewable energy products
inthe PRC
STTEBRALNELRFAE HE AR AR 20,000,000 7T - - 100% 100% REBEEERHEFEER
BRAR (MRM) Em
Zhangping Ruisheng Wood Structure The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
Materials Co., Ltd (motes (i) and (i) RMB3,000,000 wooden products in the PRC
ETRARERURBRAF (WEEiR ) HE AR AR 3,000,000 1T - - 100% 100% RAEEEREEARR

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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e ISR MIRE (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ARIXEMEB AR ZER (&)

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Particulars of Attributable equity interest
incorporation/ issued and paid up/ held by the Company Principal activities
Name of company establishment registered capital & 1 F B 5 0 4 B and place of operation
ML/ BRTREEES/ Direct Indirect
LRER B BREXOEE HE & TERBREENR
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-=f -T--% ZBZ= —BCoCE
Unicreed Holdings Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of - - 100% 100% Investment holding in
HKD5,653.39 each Hong Kong
BRAEIREERAT ik 10,0008 - - 100% 100% HEEREER
BR5,653.39% TR
Unicreed Industry & Trade Co, Ltd. The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
(notes () ana (i) USD7,850,000 outdoor wooden products
inthe PRC
BNRATIEERAR (MR I)) A A 47,850,005 T = - 100% 100% RPEEEREEPIRER
Xingruixiang (motes (i) & (1) The PRC Registered capital of = - N/A 51% Manufacturing and sales of
RMB1,000,000 wooden products in the PRC
BRHE (MR PE FHE AR AR #1,000,0007 = - TER 51% RPEEEREEARS
Modern Pacific Properties Pty Limited (7ot (1) Australia 100 shares of AUD 1 each - - 100% - Investment holding in Australia
Modern Pacific Properties Pty Limited (#7324)) M 100R G RIRTHR A - - 100% - RRMREER
Notes: Kt
(i) These entities are wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in the [0} ZEBERARPBEK IO BERE-

(iv)

PRC.

These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC and
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Zhangping Kimura.

The English translation of the company names is for reference only. The
official names of these companies are in Chinese.

This entity is a limited liability company established in Hong Kong and is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of King Wood (Hong Kong) Holding Limited.

This entity was established in the PRC with limited liability during the year
ended 31 December 2021, in which, 51% of equity interest was held by
the Group. On 16 March 2022, the authorised share capital of Xingruixiang
has reduced from RMB30,000,000 to RMB1,000,000. The total issued and
share capital has reduced from RMB10,000,000 to RMB1,000,000. On 3
November 2023, Xingruixiang was closed upon the completion of the
disposal agreement.

This entity is a limited liability company established in Australia and is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of King Wood (Hong Kong) Holding Limited.

(iii)

(iv)

ZEERA/NTEKZAER DA KEFAN
WEEMBAR-

ZERBARBBRILNERDIBRAN (FE)
BERERARNZEMNBAR-

ZEREREE_T_—F+-_A=+—8BL
FERPEKR Y AEREERA AEHF
BEFNRHRE- T —F= A+
B35 £ 4 F IR AN B A R #30,000,0007T 5 2 &=
AR #1,000,0007T - BB ITIRABE R AR
10,000,0007¢ & 4 & A R #1,000,0007T 1A = F
Z=F+—A=R HEBHETHE  BIRFD
e

ZERAVBMKILNERD T RAN (FE)
BERERARNZEMNBAR-

hRAEMERERAE

TECCEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN RESTR)

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 43. A EEBEMBEMRR KK HE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ARBTT ARETFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W B N - 61
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR M= 42 40,488 40,488
40,488 40,549
Current assets nEEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE - Ee Kk
receivables Eﬁﬁﬁ‘%ﬂﬁklﬁ 14 72
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE U B B A 711,798 702,180
Amount due from a related company JE I F%Hﬁﬁ@ Iéi 18 18
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFE f,“*f% 314 548
712,144 702,818
Current liabilities mEAEE
Other payables H b~ 5B 1,184 654
Lease liability HEBE - 69
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE /e 5,538 5,303
Amount due to a director JERESFIA 4 4
6,726 6,030
Net current assets nNEERE 705,418 696,788
Net assets BERE 745,906 737,337
Equity ga
Share capital f& A< 32(a) 38,462 38,462
Reserves ] 32(b) 707,444 698,875
Total equity Baen 745,906 737,337

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

28 March 2024.

Wu Zheyan
REE
Director

EFE

RZEBE-_NME=A=-_+/\BESEeHE

KR AE T3 -

Xie Qingmei
WiBxE
Director

EF
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

43.

ARIEEBMBRRRE#EE &)

share share  Exchange Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve losses equity
2.3 BipEE BB R 6 i RiER gasLa
RVIB'000 RVIB'000 RVIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFLT ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 W-2-"%—A—H 35,345 694,994 7,714 (63,119) 674,934
Loss for the year FRER - - - (882) (882)
Other comprehensive income FREM2ENG
for the year - - 58,492 - 58,492
Total comprehensive income FR2ENE (XL 88
(expense) for the year - - 58,492 (882 57,610
Shares issued upon loan REFERMLET 2R
capitalisation (note 30) (Hi230) 3117 1,676 - - 4,793
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZE+ZA=+-H
and 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-_=%—-H—-H 38,462 696,670 66,206 (64,001) 737,337
Loss for the year FNEE - - - (1,075) (1,075)
Other comprehensive income FREM2ENG
for the year - - 9,644 - 9,644
Total comprehensive income FR2ENE (XL BE
(expense) for the year - - 9,644 (1,075) 8,569
At 31 December 2023 R-E_=f+-RA=+-H 38,462 696,670 75,850 (65,076) 745,906
FRIAEYIZERBERAT

“EC=FFR
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 &#E R0 AN R EESIR)

44. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 44. BEHWMREBIE

On 28 December 2023, the Company approved the share RZZEZ=F+=—A=+N B A27RN
consolidation at the extraordinary general meeting, which BRERENRKEHERD EH ZRHEH
is on the basis that every 10 existing ordinary shares in BEERBARTE BT RRFEITRAS
the issued and unissued share capital of the Company be WEI0RIRE EBRE I R1RE BHAR D -
consolidated into 1 consolidated share. with effect from 2 —E-NFE—-AZHR XARBET
January 2024, the existing ordinary shares in the issued and Ko 2R %47 % 78 7R #92,000,000,0000% 35 5 &
unissued share capital of the Company of 2,000,000,000 have #BA% B & B /200,000,000 & HF X 15 © £
been consolidated into 200,000,000 consolidated shares. MERHEHNFERERAAGIASRAZT
Details of the above share consolidation are set out in the ZE=EFF+ZANBRZEZ=F+=A
announcements of the Company dated 8 December 2023 and ZHNABBAMA -

28 December 2023.
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